

THESS



LING P.IIc? 12

This is to certify that the

dissertation entitled

PLANNING AN ADAPTIVE PRODUCTION RESEARCH PROGRAM FOR SMALL FARMERS: A CASE STUDY OF FARMING SYSTEMS RESEARCH IN KIRINYAGA DISTRICT, KENYA

presented by

Steven Charles Franzel

has been accepted towards fulfillment of the requirements for

Ph.D. degree in Agricultural Economics

Major professor

1983 Date 4

MSU is an Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity Institution

0-12771



.

PLANNING AN ADAPTIVE PRODUCTION RESEARCH PROGRAM FOR SMALL FARMERS: A CASE STUDY OF FARMING SYSTEMS RESEARCH IN KIRINYAGA DISTRICT, KENYA

X258-

By

Steven Charles Franzel

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department of Agricultural Economics

1983



.

FC

This

Internatio

experiment

address se

includes ti

recormenda

farmers; (2

and (3) a f

author in m

•

The tw

farmers and

and "levera

increasing

An experimen

priorities d

1. Imp exp cod 2. Red cul tre

Two met

^{obtain} norma

ABSTRACT

PLANNING AN ADAPTIVE PRODUCTION RESEARCH PROGRAM FOR SMALL FARMERS: A CASE STUDY OF FARMING SYSTEMS RESEARCH IN KIRINYAGA DISTRICT, KENYA

By

Steven Charles Franzel

This thesis uses the farming systems research (FSR) methods of the International Maize and Wheat and Improvement Center (CIMMYT) to plan an experimental program for farmers in Hiddle Kirinyaga, Kenya, and to address several methodological issues concerning FSR. The approach includes three stages: (1) interviews with extension agents to identify recommendation domains (RD's), i.e., fairly homogenous groups of farmers; (2) an informal survey in which researchers interview farmers; and (3) a formal sample survey. An agronomist collaborated with the author in mounting the research.

The two RD's identified in Middle Kirinyaga were high income farmers and low income farmers. Farmers' circumstances are described and "leverage points" are identified, which represent opportunities for increasing productivity in ways acceptable to and feasible for farmers. An experimental program is presented; the two most important research priorities are:

- 1. Improving soil fertility and structure through on-farm experiments to test the effectiveness of readily available coffee husks as manure.
- 2. Reducing the draught power bottleneck by selecting bean cultivars with superior ability to withstand dry planting, treating seeds against ant damage, and deeper planting.

Two methodological issues are addressed. The first is how to obtain normative and prescriptive information, i.e., information on

farmers'

hierarchic

informal a

found usef

in a syste

understand

The se

different

identi fi ca t

formal surv

tentatively

Next,

its results

tributed re

and constra

mal survey.

^{Survey} can 5

mental progr

farmers' values and decisions. Two techniques, repertory grid (RG) and hierarchical decision tree models (HDM), are incorporated into the informal and formal surveys and are evaluated. The techniques were found useful for assembling data concerning preferences and decisions in a systematic fashion and for assisting the researcher to develop an understanding of farmer decision-making.

The second methodological issue concerns the quality of data at different stages of the investigation. First, data from the RDidentification exercise are evaluated in comparison to those of the formal survey. The exercise is found to be reasonably effective for tentatively classifying farmers into RD's.

Next, the utility of the formal survey is evaluated by comparing its results with those of the informal survey. The formal survey contributed relatively little to the understanding of farmers' practices and constraints or to the experimental program developed in the informal survey. These findings support the hypothesis that the informal survey can be an effective and sufficient method for planning experimental programs for farmers.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to express my thanks to the individuals and institutions which provided me with support and counsel throughout my graduate program.

First, I would like to thank Professor Carl Eicher, chairman of my guidance committee during most of my program, for his invaluable advice and interest in my development. I would also like to gratefully acknowledge the guidance and help of Professor Eric Crawford, my thesis supervisor and major professor. Sincere appreciation goes to Dr. Michael Collinson of the International Maize and Wheat Improvement Centre's (CI:MNYT) Eastern Africa Economics Program for his assistance and support in the design and execution of my dissertation project.

I am grateful for the financial and personal support offered to me by the Department of Agricultural Economics, Michigan State University, during my graduate studies. A commendation is due to Professor Lester Manderscheid for his assistance in making many important decisions throughout my program and to Drs. Derek Byerlee and Peter Matlon who supervised my Masters work. Professors Glenn Johnson, Harold Riley, Russ Freed, and Carl Leidholm offered helpful counsel and comments on my dissertation.

Appreciation also goes to the CIMMYT Economics Program, which provided me with generous assistance for carrying out my fieldwork and for supporting me during part of my write-up phase. During the field phase of this project, assistance came from several additional sources. First, I thank all the farmers who willingly sacrificed their time to participate

4.4

in this 1 assistan (SRC) of Research strative formerly in moun Appreci ⊡y four Middle useful 15. Ju 14 Puter Paul 4 grate Serta

thank

[م:00

in this research project. I am also grateful for the cooperation and assistance of a number of institutions: Scientific Research Division (SRD) of the Ministry of Agriculture of Kenya, the Kenya Agricultural Research Institute, and the District Agricultural and District Administrative Offices of Kirinyaga. I also thank Mr. Njogu Njeru, formerly Senior Maize Research Officer, SRD, who collaborated with me in mounting the informal survey and drawing up the experimental program. Appreciation also goes to my research assistant, Mr. Simon Muthangia, my four enumerators, and to the sub-chiefs and extension agents of Middle Kirinyaga, whose cooperation was invaluable. Others who provided useful assistance include Mr. Fred Chege, Dr. H. A. van Rheenan, Ms. Juliet Gathee, and Dr. Christina Gladwin.

My thanks also go to the staff of the Agricultural Economics Computer Service at Hichigan State University, particularly Susan Chu and Paul Wolberg, for their assistance in helping analyze my data. I am also grateful to Cindy Spiegel for typing the draft and tables for this dissertation and to Lois Pierson for typing the final draft. Finally, thanks go to my family and friends for their support, and assistance in completing my graduate program.

iii

List of T List of F List of Ma CHAPTER 1: 1.1. 1.2. 1.3. 1.4. 1.5. CHAPTER 2: 2.1. 2.2. 2.3. 2.4. 2.5. 2.6.

2.7.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

_

	Pa	ge
List of Tab	oles	x
List of Fig	gures	ii
List of Map	os	ii
CHAPTER 1:	BACKGROUND AND OBJECTIVES	1
1.1.	Background to the Methodological Objectives	1
1.2.	Statement of the Methodological Objectives	11
1.3.	Background to the Problem-Solving Objectives	13
1.4.	Statement of the Problem-Solving Objectives	14
1.5.	Overview of the Thesis	15
CHAPTER 2:	RESEARCH DESIGN	18
2.1.	The Planning Stage of FSR	19
2.2.	Analytical Approach	24
2.3.	Theoretical Contributions from Managerial Decision Theory	26
2.4.	Some Practical Considerations in Selecting Methods for Data Collection	29
2.5.	A Review of Approaches to Modeling Farmer Decision-Making	32
2.6.	Issues Concerning the CIMMYT Diagnostic Survey	37
	2.6.1. Collecting Information on Farmers' Values and Decisions	39
	2.6.2. The Utility of an RD-Identification Exercise and a Formal Survey	41
	Utility of the RD-Identification Exercise	41
	Utility of the Formal Survey	42
	2.6.3. Holism	44
2.7.	The Repertory Grid (RG) Technique and Hierarchical Decision-Tree Models (HDM)	45
	2.7.1. The Repertory Grid Technique	45
	2.7.2. Hierarchical Decision-Tree Models	48
2.8.	Summary of Methods	53

.

CHAPTER J		
3. 1.		
3.2.		
3. 3.		
3.4.		
_		
CHAPTER 4:		
••••		
4.2		
4. 3.		
4.4.		

Page

•

CHAPTER 3:	DATA COLLECTION PROCEDURES					
3.1.	Selection of Middle Kirinyaga as Study Area					
3.2.	Identifying Recommendation Domains					
3.3.	The Informal Survey					
	3.3.1. Who to Interview 63					
	3.3.2. Interview Guidelines 64					
	3.3.3. Sampling Nethods and Reporting of Results 65					
3.4.	The Formal Survey					
	3.4.1. Stratification and Sample Size 66					
	3.4.2. Selection of Sample Farmers and Organi- zation of Fieldwork					
	Accommodating Logistical Constraints 67					
	Classifying Farmers into Income Strata . 68					
	Irregularities in the Sample Frame 71					
	3.4.3. Execution and Analysis					
CHAPTER 4:	DESCRIPTION OF FARMING SYSTEMS IN THE STUDY AREA 73					
4.1.	Physical and Socio-Economics Features					
	4.1.1. Physical Features					
	4.1.2. Population and Settlement					
	4.1.3. Transportation and Marketing 80					
	4.1.4. Cooperatives, Credit, and Government Agricultural Institutions					
4.2.	Farmer Objectives and Sources of Income 83					
4.3.	Management of the Farming System					
	4.3.1. Enterprise Pattern and Land Use					
	Long Rains Crops					
	Short Rains Crops					
	4.3.2. Livestock					
	4.3.3. Crop Calendar and Management of Food Supplies					
4.4.	Resource Use and System Constraints					
	4.4.1. Land					
	Land Tenure, the Land Market and Land Constraints					
	Soil Fertility and Structure 102					

.

4.1 CHAPTER 5.1

5.2

-

5.3.

CHAPTER 6 6.1. 6.2.

Page

	4.4.2.	Labor	103
		Labor Use, Peak Season Labor and the Labor Market	103
		Labor: A Constraint to Developing the System?	107
	4.4.3.	Cash	109
	4.4.4.	Access to Draught Power	114
4.5.	Leverage	e Points in Middle Kirinyaga	117
CHAPTER 5:	ANALYSI	IS OF SELECTED MAIZE AND BEAN PRACTICES	120
5.1.	Long Rai	ins Management	121
	5.1.1.	Maize Variety Choice	121
		Grow Katumani for Early Maize	127
		Grow Katumani for Storage and Sale	130
		Grow Hybrid 511/512 for Main Stock of Maize	135
	5.1.2.	Bean Variety Choice	139
	5.1.3.	Method and Timing of Land Preparation and	1/13
		Plant Population	143
	5.1.4.	Maintenance of Soil Fertility and Structure .	158
	5.1.5.	Other Production Practices and Use of Purchased Inputs	161
		Weeding	161
		Pest Control	162
		Use of Purchased Inputs	162
	5.1.6.	Harvesting and Production	164
5.2.	Short Ra	ains Management	167
	5.2.1.	Maize Varieties	167
	5.2.2.	Time and Method of Planting	167
	5.2.3.	Use of Purchased Inputs	168
5.3.	Farming Chapters	Systems in Transition: A Summary of s 4 and 5	168
CHAPTER 6:	PRIORIT	TIES FOR ADAPTIVE PRODUCTION RESEARCH	174
6.1.	On-Farm	and On-Station Experimentation	175
6.2.	Outline	of Research Priorities	177

Page

6.3.	Improve	Soil Fertility and Structure	•	•	178
	6.3.1.	Use of Coffee By-Products as Manure for Maize and Beans	•	•	179
		Proposed Experiment for Low Income Farmers	•	•	181
		Proposed Experiment for High Income Farmers	•	•	182
	6.3.2.	Training Farmers on Conservation and Use of Livestock Manure	•	•	182
	6.3.3.	Training Farmers on Correct Method of Fertilizer Application	•	•	183
6.4.	Ease the Earlier	e Draught-Power Bottleneck to Permit Planting	•	•	183
	6.4.1.	Make Dry Planting More Attractive to Farmers	•	•	183
		Proposed Research/Extension Demon- stration	•	•	185
	6.4.2.	Develop Infrequent-Tillage and No-Tillage Systems	•	•	186
		Proposed Experiment for Low Income Farmers	•	•	186
	6.4.3.	Encourage Farmers to Stagger Plow/Plant Their Fields	•	•	187
	6.4.4.	Increase the Rate of Work and Efficiency of Ox-Plow Teams	•	•	187
6.5.	Improved	1 Maize Varieties	•	•	187
	6.5.1.	Main Stock Maize Variety for Low Income Farmers	•	•	188
		Proposed Variety Experiments for Low Income Farmers	•		189
	6.5.2.	Varieties for Early Maize	•	•	189
		Proposed Experiment: Farmer Evaluation of Dryland Composite	•		190
6.6.	Improved	d Bean Cultivars	•	•	190
	6.6.1.	Selecting a Cultivar Which Can be Planted		_	191
		Proposed Experimentation	•	•	192
	662	Selecting a Palatable Variety with High	•	•	
	V. V. L.	Returns to Seed CostLow Income Farmers	•	•	193

6 б

CHAPTE 7

CHAPT

.

Page

6.7.	Improved Storage Management for Maize 1					
6.8.	Sunflower Research					
CHAPTER 7:	EVALUATION OF METHODS					
7.1.	Evaluation of Repertory Grid and Hierarchical Decision Modeling	199				
	7.1.1. Repertory Grid	199				
	7.1.2. Hierarchical Decision Modeling	202				
	Limitations of HDM	207				
	7.1.3. Use of RG and HDM in the CIMMYT Diagnostic Survey	210				
7.2.	Quality of Information Gathered at Different Stages of the Investigation	211				
	7.2.1. Effectiveness of the Exercise for Identi- fying Recommendation Domains	212				
	Evaluation of Data Describing RD's	216				
	Accuracy of RD Identification	227				
	7.2.2. Evaluating the Utility of Carrying Out the Formal Survey	230				
	Evaluation of Data from the Informal Survey	232				
	Contribution of the Formal Survey to the Experimental Program	239				
	Principal Constraints	240				
	Principal Research Priorities	242				
	Non-Experimental Variables	245				
	Experimental Program	245				
CHAPTER 8:	SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS					
8.1.	Introduction	252				
8.2.	Developing an Adaptive Production Research Program .	256				
8.3.	Selected Issues in the Evaluation of Methods	259				
	8.3.1. Repertory Grid and Hierarchical Decision- Tree Modeling	259				
	8.3.2. Quality of Data at Different Stages of the Investigation	261				
8.4.	Suggestions for Further Research	263				
	8.4.1. Research on Measuring Effectiveness	264				
	8.4.2. Research on Improving Performance	265				

APPENDIC

-

APPENDIX

APPENDIX

BIBLICGR

Page

.

APPENDICES

.

APPENDIX A:	QUESTIONNAIRE FOR IDENTIFYING RECOMMENDATION DOMAINS IN MIDDLE KIRINYAGA	267
APPENDIX B:	INFORMAL SURVEY GUIDELINES	270
BIBLIOGRAPHY	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	273

٢

<u>Table</u>	
2.1	Sa
3.1	C :
3 1	C
3.2	Sà
4.1	Ra
4.2	Ca
4.3	Sc
4.4	La
4.5	Pr
4 6	
4.7	L1 Cr
4.8	For
4.9	So
	•
4.10	Fa
4.11	Ho
4.12	Fà
4.13	USE

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
2.1	Sample Repertory Grid of Important Attributes of Bean Cultivars	46
3.1	Comparison of Two Methods for Classifying Farmers into Income Groups: Classifications Based on Infor- mation Supplied by Assistant Chief and Classifica- tions Based on Evaluation of Survey Questionnaires, Niddle Kirinyaga, 1981	70
3.2	Sample Status of Farmers Interviewed in Formal Survey, Hiddle Kirinyaga, 1981	71
4.1	Rainfall Requirements for Maize and Probabilities of Receiving Lower Amounts of Rainfall, Middle Kirinyaga, 1953-81	77
4.2	Cash Income Levels of Households in Middle Kirinyaga, July, 1980 to June, 1981	84
4.3	Sources of Income for Farmers in Middle Kirinyaga, July, 1980 to June, 1981	86
4.4	Land Use and Average Farm Size in Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	89
4.5	Principal Crop Combinations in the Short Rains and Long Rains Seasons, Hiddle Kirinyaga, 1981	90
4.6	Livestock Ownership and Uses, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	93
4.7	Cropping Calendar for Maize and Beans, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	95
4.8	Food Availability Calendar for Hiddle Kirinyaga Farms, 1981	96
4.9	Sources of Cash for Purchasing Maize when Supplies of Home Stocks Were Last Exhausted, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	98
4.10	Farmers Who Have Bought and Sold Land, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	101
4.11	Household Composition and Workers Available for Farm Work per Household, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	104
4.12	Farmers' Opinions on Their Busiest Months and Activities During Their Busiest Months, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	105
4.13	Use and Cost of Hired Labor Among Farmers in Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	106

Page

1				
1				
Table				
10016				
4.14				
4 15 1				
4.13				
A 16 L				
4.10				
A 17 C				
4.17				
4.18 D				
5.1				
5.2 P				
г .				
5.3 F				
5.4				
5.4 F				
5 5				
J.5 B				
56 -				
9.0 R				
57 -				
•./ F				
5 0				
••• R				
5 0				
2.9 T.				
5 1-				
3.10 F;				
Γ.				
3.11 Me				

5.12 Far

<u>Table</u>

4.14	Farm Expenditures of High and Low IncoLos,Middle Kirinyaga, September, 1980-Aug1981	110
4.15	Most Difficult Months of the Year for Cash, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	111
4.16	How Farmers Would Spend an Extra 200 Shs. if They Received It at Planting Time (March), Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	113
4.17	Ownership of Oxen and Ox Plows, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981 .	116
4.18	Desired Time of Plowing/Planting Compared to Actual Time of Plowing/Planting for Farmers not Owning Oxen, Middle Kirinyaga, Long Rains Season, 1981	116
5.1 .	Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	123
5.2	Repertory Grid Showing Farmers' Ratings of Selected Maize Varieties Across Criteria They Consider Important, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	124
5.3	Farmers' Decisions on Whether or Not to Grow Katumani for Early Maize and for Main Stock: Reasons for Rejecting and Accepting, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	128
5.4	Farmers' Decision on Whether or Not to Grow Hybrid 511/512 for Main Stock of Maize, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	137
5.5	Bean Cultivars in Middle Kirinyaga, 1981: Seed Characteristics, Percentages of Farmers Growing, and Area Grown	140
5.6	Repertory Grid Showing Farmer Ratings of Selected Bean Cultivars Across Criteria They Consider Important, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	142
5.7	Farmers' Opinions on the Best Time to Plant Maize and Beans, Middle Kirinyaga	144
5.8	Repertory Grid Showing Perceived Hazards of Planting Maize and Beans at Various Times, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	145
5.9	Timing and Area of Maize and Bean Plantings, Middle Kirinyaga, Long Rains Season, 1981	148
5.10	Farmer's Success at Plowing/Planting at the Time They Desired, Middle Kirinyaga, Long Rains Season, 1981	151
5.11	Method of Plowing/Planting for Farmers Not Owning Oxen Who Were Unable to Secure Oxen at the Time They Needed Them, Long Rains Season, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	153
5.12	Farmers Planting Without Preparing Their Fields, Long Rains Season, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	155

Page

Table
5.13
5.14
5.15
5.16
5.17
5.1
6.2
7.1
7.2
7.3
7.4
7 -
7.5
7.6
7.7
7 ი
, s [
7.g _L .

<u>Table</u>

5.13	Plant Population for Maize and Beans, Long Rains Season, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	157
5.14	Fertilizer and Manure Use on Maize and Beans, Long Rains Season, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	159
5.15	Farmer's Use of Purchased Crop Inputs for the Long Rains Season, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	163
5.16	Production, Yields per Hectare, and Sales of Maize and Beans, Middle Kirinyaga, 1980-81	166
5.17	Farmer Practices in Cultivating Maize and Beans, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	171
6.1	Estimated Cost and Returns to Alternative Measures for Increasing Soil Fertility, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	180
6.2	Seed Cost per Hectare of Selected Bean Cultivars, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	194
7.1	Comparison of Estimates of Parameters at Different Stages of Investigation, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	217
7.2	Evaluation of Data from RD-Identification Exercise by Comparing Them with Data from Formal Survey, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	221
7.3	Accuracy of Estimates of Parameters in RD- Identification Exercise and Principal Sources of Inaccuracy, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	224
7.4	Evaluation of Data from Informal Survey Report by Comparing Them with Data from Formal Survey, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	233
7.5	Accuracy of Estimates from Informal Survey, Compared to Formal Survey, and Principal Sources of Inaccuracy, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	237
7.6	Researchers' Perceptions of the Most Important Con- straints Facing Farmers, from the Informal Survey and from the Formal Survey, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	241
7.7	Researchers' Perceptions of the Most Important Research Priorities for Farmers in Middle Kirinyaga: After the Informal Survey and After the Formal Survey, 1981	243
7.8	Levels of Non-Experimental Variables in Maize/Bean Experiments Based on Informal and Formal Surveys, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	246
7.9	List of Proposed Experiments and Demonstrations Formulated after the Informal and Formal Surveys, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	247

Page

12

Figure 1.1 C. 2.1 S. 2.2 H² 4.1 A, 4.2 A. 4.3 _{Ma} 5.1 Dec 5.2 Dec 5.3 Dec 5.4 Dec

<u>Мар</u> 1,

Mid

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Page
1.1	Overview of an Integrated Research Program	7
2.1	Schematic Representation of Some Determinants of the Farming System	20
2.2	Hierarchical Decision Tree Model: Decision to Grow Variety "a" (Model is Hypothetical)	50
4.1	Average Rainfall in Middle Kirinyaga, 1953-81 (mm. per ten-day period)	75
4.2	Average Monthly Rainfall and Probabilities of Receiving Lower Amounts of Rainfall, Middle Kirinyaga, 1953-81	76
4.3	Maize and Bean Price Trends in Middle Kirinyaga, 1979-81	81
5.1	Decision Tree on Whether to Plant Katumani Variety for Early Maize	129
5.2	Decision Tree on Whether to Grow Katumani to Store for Later Sales and Consumption	131
5.3	Decision Tree on Whether or Not to Grow Hybrid 511/512 .	136
5.4	Decision Tree on the Time and Method of Land Prepara- tion and Planting	149

LIST OF MAPS

<u>Map</u>																				<u>P</u>	age
1	Middle Kirinyaga	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		59

This

solving.

niques, t

decision-

solving of

to plan ar

the first

methodolo;

^{nique} for

gical obje

^{objective}.

Kirinyaga

^{objectives}

1

Ruraj ingly awar ^{ru}ral deve

^{capital} in

^{a mo}re ega ^{emphasis} o

CHAPTER 1

BACKGROUND AND OBJECTIVES

This study has two types of objectives: methodological and problemsolving. The methodological objectives concern the use of three techniques, the CIMMYT diagnostic survey, repertory grid, and hierarchial decision-tree modeling, for analyzing a farm system. The problemsolving objective involves using farming systems research (FSR) methods to plan an adaptive production research program for small farmers. In the first section of this chapter, we present the background to the methodological objectives, highlighting the emergence of FSR as a technique for planning farmer technologies. A statement of the methodological objective follows. Next, background to the problem-solving objective, planning an adaptive production research program in Middle Kirinyaga, Kenya, is presented. Finally, the specific problem-solving objectives are stated.

1.1. Background to the Methodological Objectives

Rural development planners in the Third World are becoming increasingly aware that information about small farmers is crucial for planning rural development programs. The widespread failure of large scale, capital intensive agricultural projects and the increasing concern for a more egalitarian distribution of benefits have led to increasing emphasis on small farmer oriented programs (Lele, 1975). The development

1

and exte importar None research are not c diffusion gap betwe planners ages which is failure themselves vice, whic ^{to} the far farmers wh ^{the} use of Howeve station rec ^{orities}, re ^{envi}ronment ^{dations} are ^{is aim}ed at ^{oriented} ap vant to far reconnendat those of th ^{results} of are usually and extension of new technologies for small farmers is often seen as an important and effective measure for enhancing rural welfare.

Nonetheless, there is a growing perception among policymakers and research administrators that national agricultural research institutions are not contributing as well as they could be to the development and diffusion of new technologies for small farmers. Often there is a wide gap between what researchers recommend and what farmers practice. When planners seek to impose on the farmer new production systems and packages which have proven to be effective on research stations, the result is failure. The usual scapegoats for these failures are: the farmers themselves, who are alleged to be lazy or irrational; the extension service, which is blamed for not transmitting the research station's message to the farmers; the delivery system, which fails to deliver inputs to farmers when required; or policy distortions, which make unprofitable the use of purchased inputs and the cultivation of crops for the market.

However, many studies point to another cause of low adoption rates-station recommendations which are irrelevant to the farm family's priorities, resource constraints, and physical, cultural, and economic environment (Winkelmann, 1977). In many countries, extension recommendations are developed by researchers on experiment stations whose work is aimed at maximizing yields per unit of land area. This yieldoriented approach often brings forth recommendations which are irrelevant to farmer circumstances, for two main reasons. First, the recommendations are developed under physical conditions different than those of the farmers, since they are generally formulated based on the results of experiments mounted on research station plots. These plots are usually plowed by tractors, kept weed-free, sprayed, and fertilized

2

so as to Hence, than cou the actual mental cr Seco much diff inputs ha those leve nize this recommend to adopt utility as ing situat the farmer that small supply of . regard as e account bot omic circur ^{deciding} wh ^{operate} a s ^{diverge} fro ^{resources} t Performance Farmin ^{research} to

^{physi}cal and
so as to ensure a significant response from the experimental variable. Hence, (1) responses to experimental variables are generally much higher than could be expected on farmers' fields and (2) it is unlikely that the actual response functions would have the same shape as the experimental ones.

Second, researchers' criteria for evaluating new technologies are much different than those of farmers (Collinson, 1980). As long as inputs have costs, it is never in the best interests of farmers to adopt those levels of inputs which maximize yields. Many researchers recognize this fact and use the point of maximum profit for making their recommendations. Unfortunately, the problem of what is best for farmers to adopt is much more complicated than this; farmers seek to maximize utility as well as profit. Thus, economic optimality for a given farming situation depends on the objectives, resources, and priorities of the farmers concerned. Farm management studies in Africa have shown that small farmers operate their farms so as to (1) provide a reliable supply of food for their families, and (2) provide cash for what they regard as essential purchases (Eicher and Baker, 1982). They take into account both natural (temperature, rainfall, soils, etc.) and socioeconomic circumstances (prices, riskiness, sociol acceptability, etc.) in deciding what enterprises and management practices to adopt. Farmers operate a system made up of many enterprises, and are often forced to diverge from the ideal management of one enterprise in order to devote resources to another enterprise, in the interests of overall system performance.

Farming systems research offers an alternative approach in adaptive research to the conventional yield-oriented perspective, common among physical and biological scientists. FSR begins with the farmer's own

situatic

technolc

view the

on how t

socio-ec

approach

generall.

and socia

In F

system ar

focus on

family fac

1976). Tr

which are

stances, n

^{ent} one.

logies whi

^{enhancing}

be accepta

promote de

Generally,

l It i no anteced runners of the United programs w ticed. Fo considerab of housenc previous bo previous ho fore be val situation, rather than a pre-defined package of high yielding technologies. FSR researchers purport to be holistic, that is, they view the whole farm as a system of interdependent components and focus on how these components interact in their physical, biological and socio-economic setting (Shaner, Philipp and Schmehl, 1982). The approach is most effective if it is multi-disciplinary; hence, FSR is generally mounted by teams of scientists from both the agricultural and social sciences.¹

In FSR, insights into how current practices fit into the farm system are used as a basis for proposing improvements. Researchers focus on identifying and overcoming critical constraints which the farm family faces so that they can better meet their priorities (Norman, 1976). The immediate goal is to offer a few technological improvements which are compatible with the farm household's activities and circumstances, not to replace the current farm system with a radically different one. Emphasis is given to identifying and developing new technologies which (1) have potential for increasing productivity and, hence, enhancing the farm family's ability to meet its own objectives, (2) will be acceptable to farmers and feasible for them to adopt, and (3) will promote developments which are consistent with national policy objectives. Generally, FSR also includes the mounting of experiments on farmers'

¹It is incorrect to consider FSR as a completely new approch with no antecedents. Johnson (1981) and Ramaratnam (1981) discuss the forerunners of FSR in farm management and farm home development programs in the United States in post-World War II years. In fact, some of these programs were considerably more holistic than is FSR, as currently practiced. For example, the Kentucky Farm and Home Development Program gave considerable attention to institutional and human change, the production of household goods and services, and firm/household interrelationships. These topics are frequently neglected in most current FSR. A review of previous holistic approaches to farm research and extension would therefore be valuable for current FSR practitioners.

fields, the far iments a In instituti FSR is iprioritie ning and farmers. Farm of instit 1980), Hon several ma internatio mounting F tural rese The I ^{been} active ^{nologies} fo farming sys productivit the short t laesea the applica The marketi match the pu the target o

2 Cliaiyy proce fields, in conjunction with on-station research. In on-farm experiments, the farmer and extension staff join the researcher in managing the experiments and evaluating the results.

In summary, FSR is an important tool for agricultural research institutions to use for increasing the effectiveness of their programs.¹ FSR is important both for identifying the broad, long-term research priorities of disciplinary and commodity programs as well as for planning and executing adaptive research to formulate recommendations for farmers.

Farming systems research programs are being undertaken by a variety of institutions throughout the world. Guatemala (Gostyla and Whyte, 1980), Honduras (Whyte, 1981) and Zambia (Collinson, 1982) are among several national programs utilizing the FSR approach. Moreover, many international agricultural research centers and bilateral donors are mounting FSR programs and promoting the use of FSR by national agricultural research institutions.

The International Maize and Wheat Improvement Centre (CIMMYT) has been active in developing FSR concepts and procedures for planning technologies for farmers.² CIMMYT promotes "on-farm research" with a farming systems perspective (OFR-FSP) which aims to generate higherproductivity technology for specific groups of farmers, especially in the short term. The program uses on-farm research methods, such as

¹Researchers in marketing management would view FSR as an example of the application of "the marketing concept" to a non-profit organization. The marketing concept states that the function of an organization is to match the production and services it offers to the needs and wants of the target consumers it serves (Kotler, 1980).

²CIMMYT's procedures receive special emphasis in this thesis since CIMMYT procedures were used in carrying out the research.

farm farm 1982 gram resea field the r strat stati planr the r that farm is mu and t have those count CIMMY

increi very from They farme ably

farm surveys and on-farm experiments, and is conceptually based on a farming systems perspective (Byerlee, Harrington, and Winkelmann, 1982).¹ Figure 1.1 presents CIMMYT's view of an integrated research program and the role of on-farm research in the program. The on-farm research team plans new technologies, mounts experiments on farmers' fields, formulates recommendations, assesses farmers' experiences with the recommendations and promotes improved technologies through demonstrations. Moreover, the on-farm research team identifies problems for station researchers and policy-making bodies to address.

The planning stage, in which researchers obtain information for planning experiments to test new technologies, is the stage addressed by the research reported in this thesis. FSR practitioners tend to agree that the overall objective of FSR is to develop an understanding of the farm system in order to plan improvements in the system. However, there is much disagreement concerning methods of data collection and analysis, and the use of the results for planning experiments. CIMMYT economists have developed FSR methods and procedures which differ considerably from those used in farm management research carried out in most Third World countries (Byerlee, Collinson, et al., 1980). The approach, called the CIMMYT Diagnostic Survey in this thesis, includes the following steps:

 Identification of recommendation domains (RD's) or farmer target groups. An RD is a group of farmers with a similar

¹The authors claim that a new acronym is required because of the increasing amount of confusion over the use of the term FSR. FSR is a very general term, they argue, and FSR programs have objectives, ranging from solving a specific problem to increasing the body of knowledge. They define OFR/FSP as a subset of FSR which emphasizes on-farm research methods to generate technology to increase productivity for a specified farmer group. In this study FSR and OFR/FSP will be used interchangeably to refer to the subset of FSR described above.

Choice of farmers a prior fies

POLICY CONTEX National Supply o

2

identifica d'paicy i

Sou



Figure 1.1 Overview of an Integrated Research Program

Source: International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center, Economics Staff, 1981.

farming system; that is, farmers in the group operate their farms in a similar manner under fairly homogenous ecoclimatic and socioeconomic conditions. Thus, they have similar problems and similar development opportunities and it is likely that a given recommendation will be more or less applicable to all farmers in the RD. An exercise to identify RD's in a given area is useful for establishing the numbers and main characteristics of the different farmer groups. Policy makers can then decide which groups merit the attention of the research services.

- 2. Informal Survey. In an informal survey, a multi-disciplinary team of researchers using detailed but essentially unstructured guidelines holds informal interviews with farmers. The objectives are to develop an understanding of the farming systems, identify priority research topics, pre-screen possible new technologies for their introduction into the system, and plan the formal survey which follows.
- 3. Formal Survey. In a formal survey, a questionnaire is administered by enumerators to a random sample of farmers to verify the findings obtained in the informal survey and to measure important parameters in the system. Generally, the information is collected in a single visit to each sample farm.
- 4. Planning on-farm experiments. The purpose of the survey work is to plan on-farm experiments for farmers in the RD.

The

in five

mentati

mation

farmers

Thus, m

the sho

Se

Jeorgee

cipal i

Th

approact

as data

ticular

is place

of inpu

Fg

"Cge] t

adminis in Sener African Research



Experiments are mounted under farmers' conditions and farmers participate in the planning, monitoring and evaluation of the results.

The CINMYT Diagnostic Survey differs from most other FSR procedures¹ in five principal ways. First, objectives are focused on field experimentation. The purpose is to provide production researchers with information to help them plan technologies which will be acceptable to farmers and feasible for them to adopt in their <u>existing</u> environment. Thus, many institutional and policy variables are treated as fixed in the short run.

Second, the primary data collection instrument in the CIMMYT approach is the informal survey whereas the formal survey is the principal instrument in most other approaches.

Third, the CIMMYT approach gives more weight than many other FSR approaches to the collection of normative and prescriptive data,² such as data on farmers' attitudes, opinions, and reasons for employing particular practices. Less emphasis, relative to other FSR approaches, is placed on collecting quantitative, non-normative data such as levels of inputs and outputs.

Fourth, the CIMMYT approach does not use quantitative methods to model the farm system. Rather, an informal technique based on

¹ Other FSR approaches include those of American universities administering FSR projects in Africa, e.g., Michigan State University in Senegal, Purdue in Upper Volta; Winrock Foundation in Kenya; West African Rice Development Association; and the International Center for Research in the Semi-Arid Tropics.

²Normative information is information about the goodness or badness of a condition, situation or thing. Prescriptive information concerns the rightness or wrongness of goals or acts and are always based on both normative and non-normative (or positive) information (Johnson and Zerby, 1973).

develo interv analyz ! turnar "compl data c planni sequen and fo ranges enter a and a s C Other F conside ^{thus}, p these t through require ^{and} fina ^{these} co ^{Survey}, three me ^{in govern}] Taking de the farme

developing an understanding of the farmer's perspective¹ through intensive interviewing and observations provides the "model" which is used to analyze the farm system and test the impact of proposed changes.

The fifth distinguishing feature of the CIMMYT procedures is that turnaround time is more rapid than in most other FSR approaches. A "complete" inventory of resources and input and output flows, based on data collection of one year or more, is not regarded as essential for planning experimentation for farmers. Rather, the CIMMYT procedures are sequential--at each stage the understanding attained is used to guide and focus data collection during the subsequent stage. Turnaround time ranges from three to six months, measured from the time researchers enter an area to the time detailed experimental plans are formulated and a survey report is issued.

CIMMYT's approach to FSR is considerably less holistic than certain other FSR and farm management approaches, because of several practical considerations. First, CIMMYT's mandate is limited to maize and wheat; thus, proposed improvements in CIMMYT surveys are generally limited to these two crops and related operations. Second, CIMMYT seeks to work through national agricultural research organizations; therefore, they require an approach which is flexible enough to accommodate the manpower and financial constraints which these organizations face. Unfortunately, these constraints often limit the holistic nature of the diagnostic survey, as when multi-disciplinary teams are reduced to only two or three members. Third, the approach generally avoids proposing changes in government policy, e.g., credit, land tenure, prices. There are two

¹Of course, several members of the household may be involved in making decisions on the farm. Thus, it is often incorrect to refer to the farmer in the singular, or as "he".

reasons influer ested i technol policie Tł means a CIEVT ologies our exp fully e ences o The evaluate ™cdels, and anal sions. ment in p non-monet ^{plines} in informal the farmin ^{and} for p ^{One} possib ^{poration} o reasons for this: (1) agricultural researchers generally have little influence over such policies and (2) most governments are more interested in obtaining assistance to promote the development of agricultural technologies than assistance to promote changes in their agricultural policies.

The procedures developed by the CIMMYT Economics Program are by no means a rigid recipe for mounting FSR. For example, the preface to the CIMMYT manual, "Planning Technologies Appropriate to Farmers: Methodologies and Procedures", states that CIMMYT's approach "has evolved from our experiences with farmers and researchers in many countries. We fully expect that these guidelines will be improved through the experiences of other researchers" (Byerlee, Collinson, et al., 1980).

1.2. Statement of the Methodological Objectives

The primary methodological objective of this study is to use and evaluate two methods, repertory grids and hierarchical decision-tree models, as supplements to the CIMMYT diagnostic survey for collecting and analyzing normative and prescriptive information about farmer decisions. The field of agricultural economics in general, and farm management in particular, has relatively little experience in collecing non-monetary normative and prescriptive data, compared to other disciplines in the social sciences. Collinson (1981a) argues that the CIMMYT informal survey is "almost an anthropological approach to understanding the farming system", referring to the need for examining farmers' values and for probing into the complex reasons underlying farmer practices. One possible area of improvement in the CIMMYT approach is the incorporation of tools from other disciplines for more systematic collection

and ana first i from re e.g., tions (decisi decisi the tw and re Ī inform sequer tifyin (1) to in the to loc, Colling [the R diagnos the cha the er This th the exe l I seek to use of ferent an expe stage.

and analysis of normative and prescriptive information. Repertory grid, first used by clinical psychologists, is a method for (1) eliciting from respondents the criteria they use in differentiating among items, e.g., alternative technologies, and (2) recording respondents' evaluations of how each item performs on each criterion. Hierarchical decision-tree models, used primarily by anthropologists, depict the decision process people use when considering alternative actions. Thus the two approaches assist the researcher in understanding the preferences and reasoning underlying the decisions farmers make.

Two secondary methodological objectives concern the quality of information gathered at different stages of the diagnostic survey sequence.¹ First, we test the effectiveness of the exercise for identifying recommendation domains. This exercise has two purposes: (1) to delimit RD's and (2) to provide some preliminary data on RD's in the study area. The method, a single-page questionnaire administered to local leaders, is admittedly open to a broad range of error. Collinson (1982) states that "it is important to emphasize that these [the RD's specified by the exercise] are preliminary groupings. As the diagnostic sequence is implemented within these identified target groups, the characteristics of each domain will be more fully understood." If the errors are significant, the exercise can be wasteful and misleading. This thesis will evaluate the quality of the information obtained in the exercise by comparing the information with that of the formal survey.

¹This is an important issue because national research institutions seek to lower the cost of diagnostic studies in terms of cash, time, and use of scarce skilled manpower. Evaluating the quality of data at different stages of the investigation and the impact of the differences on an experimental program can guide us in assessing the importance of each stage.

Possi stage be pr its r mary infor cons J findi the f. Tount Surveg syster ferin to mos the B. Countr \$ crops reflec from t achiev concer

Possible biases leading to incorrect information at the preliminary stage will therefore be identified and ex-ante corrective measures will be proposed.

Second, we evaluate the utility of the formal survey, by comparing its results with the informal survey results. As stated above, the primary purpose of the formal survey is to verify the findings of the informal survey. However, the formal survey is too expensive and timeconsuming an exercise if it serves only to confirm informal survey findings. This thesis will examine the changes in the understanding of the farm systems and in experimental content which occur as a result of mounting the formal survey. We will then conclude whether a formal survey was indeed necessary and identify characteristics of a farm system which make the formal survey more or less necessary under differing circumstances.

1.3. Background to the Problem-Solving Objectives

Kenya's agricultural research system is relatively strong, compared to most African countries. In 1978, there were 255 Kenyan staff above the B.S. level and 96 expatriates on research stations throughout the country (Jamieson, 1979).

Since independence, there has been a shift of resources from cash crops to food crops, and from high potential areas to marginal areas, reflecting the government's efforts to change certain policies inherited from the colonial era. The research system has made some significant achievements in developing technologies for small farmers, most notably concerning pyrethrum and maize development (Heyer and Waweru, 1976).

Hc technolo (Kariung plan not tion and reorient straints Wit Pasture usefulne Sci pro dia env tar Thi approach tional y of this farmers ^{ob}jectiv 1. 2.

However, non-adoption and partial adoption of recommended technologies in Kenya is widespread and has been well-documented (Kariungi, 1977; Gerhart, 1975). The 1979-83 five-year development plan notes the lack of new technologies available for immediate adoption and the irrelevance of many research packages. The plan calls for reorienting research and extension towards alleviating production constraints in smallholder farming systems (Government of Kenya, 1979a).

With these policy objectives in mind, the Committee on Maize and Pasture Research of the Hinistry of Agriculture recognized the potential usefulness of the farming systems approach and recommended that:

KARI/SRD [Kenya Agricultural Research Institute/ Scientific Research Division] should lay more emphasis on problem identification of the zonal and farm level through diagnostic studies which take account of the physical environment and social and cultural attributes of the target population (Government of Kenya, 1980).

1.4. Statement of the Problem-Solving Objectives

This thesis holds that FSR is a more effective and efficient approach for developing small-farmer technologies than is the conventional yield-oriented approach. The general problem-solving objective of this thesis is to plan an adaptive production research program for farmers in Middle Kirinyaga. More specifically, the problem-solving objectives are to:

- 1. Describe farming systems in the study area.
- Identify priority research areas for planning technologies appropriate for farmers. These are points of the system where changes can increase productivity and where such changes can be readily acceptable and feasible for farmers.

Cà 2 Wj Of fc

nc

do

۲

þ

fa

ta

ià

- 3. Examine selected farmer decisions related to the priority research topics. These decisions are selected because an understanding of the issues involved will assist researchers in proposing new technologies and formulating recommendations for farmers.
- 4. Plan an adaptive production research program to develop technologies for farmers in the study area. Recommendations will also be made for planning technical research on research stations and for mounting extension programs in the area.

As stated above, this thesis addresses only one stage in the technology development process, the planning stage. Therefore, the thesis does not purport to solve any farmer problems, per se. Rather, our problem-solving objective is to help researchers solve their problem of planning biological and physical research to aid Middle Kirinyaga farmers. The researchers' problem is seen as one of making experimentation more effective in developing technologies for small farmers.

1.5. Overview of the Thesis

Chapter 1 presents the objectives of the thesis--both methodological and problem-solving--and the background to these objectives. Chapter 2 discusses the research design of this thesis. The chapter begins with a discussion of the objectives and attributes of the planning stage of FSR, highlighting the importance of understanding farmer decisions for planning new technologies. Theoretical contributions from managerial decision theory are presented which provide a framework for

explori an appr standi meetin Finall sented C thesis the de are di fic pr presen 1 Kiriny and so source manage In Cha area's strate they fa Ch thesis, for Mid ^{ties} are ^{which} ex research exploring farmer decisions. Some practical considerations in selecting an approach and methods are also examined. Next, approaches to understanding farmer decision-making are reviewed and their relevance to meeting the objectives of the planning stage of FSR are assessed. Finally the approach and specific methods used in this thesis are presented and discussed.

Chapter 3 presents the procedures for collecting data in this thesis. First the selection of Middle Kirinyaga as the study area and the delineation of recommendation domains in and around the study area are discussed. Next sampling methods, fieldwork procedures, and specific problems in mounting the informal survey and the formal survey are presented.

The survey results, a description of farming systems in Middle Kirinyaga, are presented in Chapters 4 and 5. In Chapter 4, natural and socio-economic features are described and farmer objectives and sources of income are examined. This is followed by discussion of the management of the farm system, resource use, and system constraints. In Chapter 5, we analyze selected farmer practices, focusing on the area's two principal crops, maize and beans. The chapter highlights strategies farmers use for meeting their objectives in the circumstances they face.

Chapter 6, which addresses the problem-solving objective of this thesis, presents an adaptive production research program appropriate for Middle Kirinyaga farmers. Criteria for selecting research priorities are discussed in the light of farmer practices, the context in which experiments will be mounted. Detailed discussions of two priority research areas and three areas of lesser priority are discussed for

maize sectio addres C Two me archic evalua chapte throug include reperto recome the re

C:

Gestion

maize and beans. Comments are also offered on other crops. This section also presents some problem areas for the extension service to address in Middle Kirinyaga.

Chapter 7 addresses the methodological objectives of this thesis. Two methods from outside the field of Agricultural Economics--hierarchical decision modeling and repertory grid from Psychology--are evaluated as supplements to the CIMMYT diagnostic survey approach. This chapter also examines how the quality of data changes as one proceeds through the stages of the diagnostic survey sequence. The chapter includes proposals on the use of hierarchial decision-making and repertory grid in the CIMMYT approach, survey methods for identifying recommendation domains, and the use of the formal survey for verifying the results of the informal survey.

Chapter 8 summarizes the principal findings of the thesis. Suggestions for further research are also presented.

Ŧ

this the small -

ning s

approac

of unde

retical

farmer

work fo

practic

lined,

Th

program

approact

cogniti,

^{Obj}ectiv

tic surv

and repe

^{selected}

ajso higi

^{this} thes

CHAPTER 2

RESEARCH DESIGN

This chapter presents the approach taken and the methods used in this thesis for planning an adaptive production research program for small farmers. First, the objectives and main attributes of the planning stage of FSR are presented. Next, we discuss the analytical approach used to diagnose farmer problems, highlighting the importance of understanding farmer management strategies and decisions. The theoretical contributions of managerial decision theory for understanding farmer decision-making are examined; these serve as a conceptual framework for empirical studies examining farmer decisions. Also, some practical considerations in selecting an approach and methods are outlined, based on principles of the economics of information.

The methods selected for planning an adaptive agricultural research program are presented in the last section of this chapter. Three approaches to understanding farmer decision-making are reviewed. The cognitive, anthropological approach is identified as best suited to the objectives of this study. Specific methods include the CIMMAYT diagnostic survey for obtaining an overall understanding of the farming system and repertory grid and hierarchial decision-tree modeling for examining selected farmer decisions in greater depth. In this last section, we also highlight the principal methodological issues to be addressed in this thesis.

stage persp use t Under serve poter butes stag rese door prin 1980 1982 stre the p syste ing n farme farm 1 farm p infl_{ue} ^{tation}

2.1. The Planning Stage of FSR

As stated in the previous chapter, the objectives of the planning stage of an integrated on-farm research program with a farming systems perspective are to develop an understanding of the farming system and to use that understanding to plan improvements appropriate for farmers. Understanding how the farming system functions--what farmers do and why-serves as a basis for identifying problems of farmers and evaluating the potential success of possible solutions.

There is a broad consensus among FSR practitioners on the attributes of FSR and in particular, the characteristics of the planning stage. While many of these attributes may also be found in other research programs, their combination distinguishes FSR from other approaches. These attributes, summarized below, are discussed in the principal works on FSR: Technical Advisory Committee, 1978; Norman, 1980; Gilbert, Norman and Winch, 1981; and Shaner, Philipp and Schmehl, 1982.

1. <u>Farmer-Based</u>. One of the principal functions of FSR is to strengthen the links between farmers and researchers. A presumption of the FSR approach is that it is difficult to introduce improvements to a system which is not well understood. Therefore, as a basis for developing new technologies, it is necessary to develop an understanding of the farmer's aspirations, environment, resources, constraints, and practices.

2. <u>Holistic</u>. Farming systems researchers begin by considering the farm family's activities--including crop, livestock, household, and offfarm processes--as a whole and analyzing the various elements which influence the farming system. Figure 2.1 presents a schematic representation of some possible determinants of a farming system. The figure

Figure 2.1 Schematic Representation of Some Determinants of the Farming System 11.1.1.1

Elements



highlights the importance of the human element, including both exogenous factors such as community structures, and endogenous factors such as the farming household's decisions. Moreover, the figure depicts the household as both a production and a consumption unit with interactions between the two.

Researchers use a holistic approach to focus on system interactions-the impact that particular elements of a system have on each other. For example, maize stover may be an important input into livestock production, and farmer practices concerning maize production may be influenced by the objective to produce stover as well as grain for human consumption. Another important type of system interaction is the production compromise; farmers are often prevented from managing a particular enterprise in what would be an ideal manner for it alone because they wish to allocate scarce resources over a wide range of enterprises or activities.

In actual practice, many FSR programs are not very holistic due to practical considerations. For example, in countries where skilled researchers are scarce, FSR teams may include only two persons. The team is likely to neglect many factors outside of its expertise which influence the farming system.

In using a holistic approach, FSR practitioners consider a fairly substantial array of possible improvements for any given group of farmers. This does not imply that all parameters are variables, or that all variables require the same degree of attention. Rather, it is likely that FSR researchers will quickly focus on particular commodities or operations because making improvements in that area will benefit the farmer. However, they must consider explicitly how the facet under study relates to other system components.

Many FSR programs fail to consider a broad range of improvements for the same reasons they lack holism. For example, a shortage of skilled manpower and the compartmentalization of research departments often limit the scope of improvements considered in FSR programs. Moreover, some claim that it is more efficient to limit FSR's focus in the short run to production improvements; policy, institutional and off-farm improvements may be incorporated into the approach at a later date when FSR has gained more experience and credibility.

3. Multi-disciplinary and Inter-disciplinary. Because of its holistic approach, FSR is multi-disciplinary. Specialists provide expertise from their respective disciplines on: (1) how the farm system functions, (2) what its key problems are, and (3) how to solve them. Most FSR researchers highlight the interaction between technical scientists and social scientists as critical to success. The technical scientist examines the biological and physical environment and evaluates farmer management of an enterprise in light of what ideal management should be. The social scientist examines the socio-economic environment, endogenous factors, and system interactions to explain why the farmer makes the decisions he does. Working together on a commonly defined research agenda, they prescreen possible solutions to farmer problems which will raise productivity and be both feasible and acceptable to Thus, FSR requires "a multi-disciplinary team working in the farmer. an inter-disciplinary manner", that is, specialists from several different disciplines working together using mutually understandable language to solve a particular problem (Gilbert, Norman and Winch, 1980).

•
t e t

WF fà

4. <u>Farmer-group Specific</u>. Because of prohibitive costs, it is impossible to plan research for individual farmers in developing countries. Planning research for large regions, or even nationwide, is also impractical since such research glosses over important variations between and within areas. Farmers with similar farming systems have similar problems and opportunities; thus they require a common experimental program and set of recommendations. Therefore, a preliminary step in an FSR program should be to identify fairly homogenous farmer groups, or recommendation domains (RD's). The criterion for including farmers in a single group is whether a single set of recommendations would be generally appropriate for all members of the group. Farmer-group specificity should not be confused with area-specificity; it is farmers and not fields which make decisions on technologies. Thus, farmers of different RD's may be interspersed in a given area.

5. <u>Flexible in Accommodating Technical and Non-Technical</u> <u>Improvements</u>. FSR has been applied almost exclusively for identifying improved techniques in crop production. However, the approach can and is being used to identify other kinds of improvements--in infrastructure, policy, land tenure, etc.--needed for rural development.

6. <u>Consistent with Societal Objectives</u>. FSR is used to enhance the welfare of farmers within the guidelines of national policies and the long-term interests of society. On occasion, short-run measures to enhance farmer welfare may conflict with these policies and interests.

For example, hillside farmers may be guided by profit considerations to plant annual cash crops, causing severe soil erosion, at a time when national policy is seeking to minimize soil erosion. Because farming system researchers draw upon the objectives and considerations

of both farmers and policy makers, they are able to identify solutions which will serve the interests of both groups. For example, in the above case, FSR researchers may seek to introduce relay and mixed cropping patterns which are profitable to farmers and conserve the nation's soil resources as well.

2.2. Analytical Approach

In the planning stage of FSR, researchers examine how the farmer allocates his scarce resources of land, labor and capital among competing enterprises to best meet his objectives. Key farmer problems are identified and technological alternatives are proposed. The following analytical approach was used in this thesis to develop an understanding of the farming system and to identify system improvements. The steps overlap significantly and are not necessarily undertaken in sequence.

1. <u>Describe the Farmer's Environment and Environmental Constraints</u>. An understanding of the environment and how it shapes the farmer's activities is essential for understanding the system and evaluating the appropriateness of proposed improvements. The aspects of the farmer's environment are: natural (e.g., rainfall, soils, topography), institutional (e.g., transportation, government programs), and social (e.g., ethnic group, societal values, family structure). In most cases, FSR does not seek changes in the environment but rather changes which the farmer can make given his environment.

<u>Examine Farmer Objectives and Priorities</u>. Collinson (1981)
lists the objectives of small farmers as:

(a) meeting the social and cultural obligations of the community;

(b) providing a stable, reliable supply of food for the family;

(c) providing cash for basic needs;

(d) providing extra cash.

An understanding of the farmer's objectives and the relative weighting of each objective is required so that researchers can propose improvements which help him meet his objectives or, at least, are not inconsistent with them.

Specifically, researchers must assess farmer preferences concerning aspects of production and consumption alternatives (e.g., risk-yield tradeoffs, differing maturity length of varieties, storage decisions, and tradeoffs between farm investment and consumption). Researchers obtain information about farmers' preferences through interviews and inferences concerning enterprises farmers pursue, the choice of period to perform operations in enterprises, and when and how products from the enterprise are used.

3. Evaluate Resource Use and Constraints. The farmer has limited amounts of land, labor and capital resources at his disposal; how he allocates and uses them are key elements to understanding how the system functions. Comparing resource use to resource availability helps the researcher identify farmers' resource constraints and priorities. The researchers understand how a single enterprise should ideally be managed in order to maximize returns to that enterprise. They then examine how enterprises and consumption opportunities compete for resources in order to explain the compromises made by farmers combining enterprises.

4. <u>Examine Farmer Management Strategies</u>. The analysis of farmer management strategies pulls together the information thus far collected-how farmers seek to allocate their resources to best achieve their

05 (1 . W pe he tr be tł 05 16 th 0f Mi 4 an].g≀ f01 objectives given the environmental constraints they face. Collinson (1981b) states that farmer management strategies are

... devices for reconciling the satisfaction of a variety of priorities with resource limitations and uncertain production circumstances. Identifying farmers' management strategies, understanding how they satisfy farmers' priorities and how they compromise production methods is a prerequisite for evaluating new techniques proposed for the system.

5. Identify Leverage Points and Propose System Improvements When proposing improvements, the researcher must adopt the farmer's perspective on the problem and help the farmer improve on the strategy he is already following. Leverage points are points in the system where there is scope for increasing productivity in ways that are likely to be acceptable and feasible for the farmer. Possible leverage points in the crop sub-system include the method and timing of a cultivation operation and the type of inputs, varieties and enterprises. At leverage points, a problem exists <u>and</u> there are potential solutions to the problem, e.g., by using a new input, changing the timing or method of an operation, or introducing a new enterprise.

This analytical approach is used to examine farming systems in Middle Kirinyaga in this study. The results are presented in Chapters 4 and 5. Proposals for system improvements are discussed in Chapter 6.

2.3. Theoretical Contributions from Managerial Decision Theory

FSR and the analytical approach used in this thesis both highlight an understanding of farmers' decisions. Several sets of concepts from managerial decision theory (Johnson, 1961) provide a useful perspective for examining farmer decision-making processes. These sets of concepts are (1) information classifications for decision-making, (2) steps in the decision process, and (3) knowledge situations.

The first set of concepts presented here is useful for classifying information people use in making decisions. Three information areas may each be broken down into two information types: (1) normative information--information on values, i.e., goodness or badness and (2) positive information--non-normative information, i.e., information on what is or what will be. Further, each information type may be broken down by tense--information on the past, present or future. Thus, information used in making decisions can be categorized in a $3 \times 2 \times 3$ matrix.

The decision maker draws upon information from this matrix to make prescriptions on the rightness or wrongness of an action or goal. A right action or goal is the "best" action or goal, best meaning "that indicated by the value beliefs involved in view of what the factual beliefs involved indicate is possible" (Johnson, 1961). Prescriptions are always a function of both normative and positive information.

The set of concepts on how decision makers perceive reality implies a rational model of decision-making but does not rule out irrational or inconsistent concepts, goals and actions. Moreover, no restrictions are placed on how beliefs about normative and positive information are formed. The model is useful because it instructs us that we must collect both normative and positive information if we are to develop an understanding of farmer decisions. It also shows us that information on farmer prescriptions is useful for understanding how the farmer uses normative and positive information to formulate opinions on the rightness or wrongness of an action. Of course, whether or not the farmer

٧

i ាត

takes the action that he prescribes is a function of his intentions and many other factors in the farmer's environment--constraints he faces, his own personal initiative, and chance circumstances.

The breakdown of the decision process into steps is a second development in managerial decision theory for examining farmer decisions. The steps include problem definition, observation, analysis, decision, action, and acceptance of responsibility. Indeed, the very process of generating recommendations for farmers is an attempt to reduce the cost to the farmer of several of these steps, especially problem identification, observation and analysis (Harrington, 1980).

A third useful concept in managerial decision theory is that of knowledge situations. Managers acquire information to arrive at decisions, as stated previously. Increments of information have increasing marginal cost and decreasing marginal value; thus some point exists at which marginal costs and returns are equal. The following five states of knowledge explain alternative situations managers face in making decisions:

1. <u>Certainty</u>: The manager considers his present knowledge adequate for making a decision. He has no interest in acquiring further information.

2. <u>Risk</u>: The manager regards present knowledge as adequate for making a decision and the cost of additional knowledge is equal to its value.

3. <u>Learning</u>: The manager feels that he does not yet have enough information to make a decision. The value of learning additional information exceeds the cost of obtaining that information.

inf
tic
tak
siti
for
acqu
in a
farm
farme
This
state
actio
state
techn
taint
Howeve
proble
States
and st
2
Re
pl _{annin} ,

4. <u>Inaction</u>: The manager feels that he does not have enough information to make a decision and that the cost of additional information exceeds the value of that information. Therefore, no action is taken.

5. <u>Forced Action</u>: The manager would be in some other knowledge situation if it were not for some outside force which made it necessary for him to reach a decision.

The recognition of knowledge states requires us to include the acquisition of information in our model of decision-making. For example, in a case where farmers know about a maize variety and 20 percent of the farmers are using the variety, we might conclude that 20 percent of the farmers have decided to use the variety and 80 percent have rejected it. This analysis may be correct, but some users may be in the certainty state, others may be in the risk state, and still others in the forced action state. Those not using the variety could be in any of the five states. Which states farmers are in will have important bearing on our technology planning. For example, if most non-users are in the certainty or risk states, the variety is not appropriate for these farmers. However, if most non-users are in the learning or inaction stage, the problem may be an extension problem. Thus, the concept of knowledge states enriches our understanding of the reasons behind farmer decisions and strategies.

2.4. <u>Some Practical Considerations in Selecting Methods</u> for Data Collection

Research institutions generally face a number of constraints in planning experimentation--most notably, lack of trained manpower, budget

limitations, and the time period available to report survey results. Therefore, it is necessary to design a program of data collection to accommodate these constraints. Clearly, the planning team must seek to collect the minimum amount of data needed to plan experimentation which will likely provide benefits to the client population. Further, the data must be collected and analyzed in the most efficient manner possible, minimizing the use of trained manpower, budget costs, and time. Ideally, researchers continue collecting data until the marginal returns of collecting additional data are equal to the marginal cost.

A holistic, multidisciplinary FSR approach appears to be inconsistent with efforts to minimize costs and accommodate manpower and financial constraints. However, empirical findings on how farmers adopt changes limits the scope of the objectives of an FSR program, and thus its costs (Byerlee, Harrington and Winkelmann, 1982). Small farmers, characterized by capital scarcity, risk aversion and possessing a healthy degree of skepticism, generally change in relatively small steps, adopting one or a few relatively minor changes at a time, rather than seeking to transform their system of farming all in one step (Mann, 1977; C. Gladwin, 1979; Gerhart, 1975).¹ Therefore, the objective of the FSR approach in the short run should be to develop a few system improvements which require relatively small degrees of change on the part of the farmer. To accomplish this, researchers should use data collection procedures which help them to efficiently identify a few worthwhile changes and develop a sufficient understanding about the farming system and

¹This is not to denigrate the "package" concept in technology diffusion. Indeed, the issue of package recommendations versus the single recommendation approach is a red herring; the issue is the degree of change implied by a single recommendation or set of recommendations, not the number of changes (Collinson, Personal Communication).

famer atti

experimenta

A seq.

at each sta

efficient t

set on stoc

sequential

ing system a

each stage,

and evaluate

at each stag

lish hypothe

and eliminat

^{exercise}, re

^{against} the

and Winkelma

Two oth

FSR planning

disciplinary

to all team

^{objectives} o

^{comprenensi:}

Which result

^{resul}ts.

farmer attitudes concerning the changes to plan appropriate experimentation.

A sequential approach to collecting data, in which data collection at each stage is increasingly focused on priority problems, is more efficient than setting out from the start to collect a complete data set on stocks and flows of inputs and outputs. Researchers using a sequential procedure begin by developing a broad overview of the farming system and then focus on a few variables at leverage points. At each stage, an iterative procedure is followed: researchers collect and evaluate data to decide what additional data are required. Thus, at each stage, data are used to refine one's understanding and establish hypotheses which in turn are used to further focus data collection and eliminate issues and topics which are not relevant. Throughout the exercise, researchers are weighing the value of additional information against the costs of obtaining that information (Byerlee, Harrington and Winkelmann, 1982).

Two other practical considerations are also important in selecting FSR planning methods. First, the methods should be conducive to multidisciplinary team work, that is, they should be readily comprehensible to all team members so that each can play a role in contributing to the objectives of the FSR exercise. Second, the methods should be readily comprehensible to policy makers; if they can understand the process by which results were obtained they will have greater confidence in those results.

2.5. <u>A P</u>

Thus ·

an analyti:

some theore

standing of

we review t

approach s_

present spe

developing

system impro

Broadl,

farmer decis

oping count-

sented below

1. Hul

^{common}ly use

^{these} studie:

acteristics d

^{to extension,}

regression.

and adoption

^{inhibit} adopt

^{Gerhart's} sti

¹⁹⁷⁵⁾ and cor:

Scientists fra nications--usa

2.5. A Review of Approaches to Modeling Farmer Decision-Making

Thus far, we have described the principal aspects of FSR, presented an analytical approach for identifying system improvements, and discussed some theoretical and practical considerations for developing an understanding of farmer decisions and the farming system. In this section, we review broad approaches to modeling farmer decisions and select an approach suitable to meet our objectives. In the following sections, we present specific issues we will address in using this approach for developing our understanding of the farming systems and identifying system improvements.

Broadly, there are three different approaches to understanding farmer decisions which are found in farm management literature on developing countries. The three approaches and examples from each are presented below.

1. <u>Multivariate analysis approach</u>. Adoption and diffusion studies commonly use multivariate analysis to examine farmers' decisions. In these studies researchers correlate the outcome of a decision to characteristics of individual or groups of adopters (e.g., age, zone, access to extension, characteristics of village leaders), usually using multiple regression. Exploring the association between specific characteristics and adoption is useful for identifying the factors which promote and inhibit adoption. Examples of multivariate analysis studies include Gerhart's study of hybrid maize adoption in Western Kenya (Gerhart, 1975) and comparative diffusion research by Rogers, et al. (1970). Scientists from a variety of disciplines--geography, economics, communications--use multivariate analysis for explaining farmer decisions.

2.

a choic

of const

which ar vioral m

of new t

fy and e

Behavior

methods

analysis

simulatio

3.

assume th

best star

informa]

farmers u

pursue.

tive info

cognitive

¹⁹⁷²), hie

grid (Balc

heavily on

For t

^{and manager}

^{duction} res

^{approa}ch, i

2. <u>Behavioral Approach</u>. Researchers using this approach establish a choice criterion, such as maximization of profit subject to a number of constraints, and test the hypothesis that farmers make decisions which are consistent with the outcomes of these models. Further, behavioral models are also used to identify constraints, evaluate the impact of new technologies and policy changes on the farming system, and identify and evaluate farmer management strategies (Eicher and Baker, 1982). Behavioral models are used most often by economists and particular methods include response functions (Wolgin, 1975), utility function analysis (Walker, 1980), linear programming (Heyer, 1972) and systems simulation (Crawford, 1982).

3. <u>Cognitive Anthropological Approach</u>. Advocates of this method assume that the farmer's own perspective of the world around him is the best starting point for model building (H. Gladwin, 1979). Intensive, informal interviews are used to develop an understanding of the criteria farmers use in making decisions and the management strategies they pursue. Greater emphasis is given to collecting normative and prescriptive information than in the other two approaches. Examples of the cognitive anthropological approach include participant observation (Hill, 1972), hierarchial decision modeling (C. Gladwin, 1976) and repertory grid (Baldwin, 1977). The CIMMYT diagnostic survey procedures also rely heavily on this approach.

For the purpose of developing an understanding of farmer decisions and management strategies and using this information for planning production research, the third approach, the cognitive anthropological approach, is the most useful.

161 overall pinpoint does or relation Kenya. that ava regressi istics w cannot g cular de educatic adoption adoption inabilit exposure ^{between} equation ^{wh}ich po actual c Reg ^{when} ind ^{such} as , to some v ^{mill}et) v ^{importanc} as Gerhar

Multivariate analysis studies are important for gaining a broad overall view of adoption patterns. Furthermore, they often are able to pinpoint strong associations which may be used to understand why adoption does or does not take place. For example, Gerhart found a strong correlation between climatic zone and adoption of hybrid maize in Western Kenya. Using supplementary rainfall and experimental data he showed that available hybrids were simply not suitable for certain areas. But regression studies investigate association of farm and farmer characteristics with adoption, not causation of adoption. Therefore, they cannot generally be used to explain the reasons why farmers take particular decisions, reasons which may be fairly complex. For example, education is a common variable in regression equations to "explain" adoption. But lack of education is rarely ever a reason for nonadoption; rather it is a proxy for other possible causes of non-adoption: inability to read instructions, less willingness to experiment, less exposure to media, etc. In fact, there is usually a very weak link between independent variables and dependent variables in regression equations which "explain" adoption. Certainly, we are in the dark about which policy measures would be most effective if we do not know the actual causes of non-adoption.

Regression equations are especially poor in explaining adoption when independent variables are used as proxies for farmer attitudes, such as risk. For example, Gerhart sought to associate the area planted to some well known insurance crops (cassava, groundnuts, sorghum and millet) with the decision to adopt hybrid maize, in order to test the importance of risk in inhibiting adoption. The proxy is questionable, as Gerhart acknowledges, since the insurance crops may be grown for a

variety of

etc. Furt

able, the

farmers pe

ing themse

multivaria:

of farmer c

potential s

Behavi

consistent

decision cr

utility mode

which establ

high-paying

Walker, 1980

tered (Petin

little abour

decisions.

Other

researchers Cation with risk aversi ^{Mul}titude o Linear prog ^{Methods} for

new technoj

^{these} model

variety of other reasons, many yield differently in different areas, etc. Furthermore, Gerhart points out that even if the proxy is acceptable, the association tells us nothing about the nature of the risk farmers perceive--losing their seed investment in a drought year, exposing themselves to more variable returns, etc. Thus, information from multivariate studies is not sufficient for developing an understanding of farmer decisions and management strategies necessary for identifying potential system improvements.

Behavioral models, seeking to confirm whether farmer behavior is consistent with certain choice criteria, also oversimplify the actual decision criteria farmers consider when making a decision. Expected utility modelers, for example, derive utility functions for farmers which establish the farmers' preferences of tradeoffs between risky high-paying options and more stable, low-paying ones (O'Mara, 1971; Walker, 1980). Disregarding the host of measurement problems encountered (Petit and Dijon, 1980; Young, et al., 1979), the model tells us little about sources of risk and other factors besides risk which affect decisions.

Other behavioral model approaches have similar pitfalls. Some researchers use production functions to compare existing resource allocation with optimal allocation, and infer that the difference is due to risk aversion (de Janvry, 1972). The problem in this case is that a multitude of other factors may be involved (Young, et al., 1979). Linear programming and systems simulation may be useful, if costly, methods for modeling the system and testing the effects of including new technologies or enterprises in existing farm systems. However, these models are based on, and are not substitutes for, an understanding

of the far

made clear

analysis b

1982). In

actual real

whether the

behavioral

Resear

data collec

as this app

of intensiv

relationshi

of input-ou

anthropologi

duction deci

ledge of far

^{rural} develo

from a dista

An unde

^{anal}ytical a

^{the} cognitiv

^{Kirinya}ga ar

^{mai}ze and be

^{have} his own

l Howeve many actions approach. F plant in a p of the farming system. How this understanding is obtained is not often made clear; "understanding" generally appears to come through ex-post analysis based on farm modeling (Byerlee, Harrington and Winkelmann, 1982). In any case, behavioral models tend to sidestep examining the actual reasons which farmers have for making decisions and instead, test whether the outcome of the decision is consistent with certain general behavioral choice criteria.

Researchers using behavioral models are generally guided in their data collection efforts by the input-output framework. As comprehensive as this approach may appear it is often found lacking. Informal methods of intensive interviewing and observation are needed to penetrate the relationships and patterns of activities which lie beneath the surface of input-output data (Haugurud, 1979). Researchers using the cognitive anthropological approach emphasize understanding the logic behind production decisions rather than gathering facts about production. "Knowledge of farmers' reasoning is as necessary an input to a successful rural development project as is agronomists' or economists' reasoning from a distance" (C. Gladwin, 1979).

An understanding of "farmers' reasoning", the key element in the analytical approach adopted for this study, can best be developed using the cognitive anthropological approach.¹ For example, farmers in Middle Kirinyaga are divided over the issue whether the best time to plant maize and beans is before or after the rains begin. The agronomist may have his own opinion, but he needs to understand the farmer's perspective

¹However, we do not contend that the cognitive anthropological approach is always useful for explaining farmers' reasoning. Indeed many actions and decisions may not be subject to analysis using any approach. For example, farmers may not be able to explain why they plant in a particular manner or why they use a particular variety.

and the fl

_

- planting i
- ciated wit
- and disadv
- the rains t
- risks, when
- ticular tim
- when he int
- his intenti
- important a
- using a mul
- provide imp
- tive decisio
- analytical a
- perspective
- ties.

2.6.

The pri tic survey, ^{practical} ad 1. It finances, and identify reco to two months an additional and the flexibility farmers have in order to decide whether time of planting is a leverage point and what research opportunities are associated with it. Farmers in Middle Kirinyaga point to many advantages and disadvantages to planting at each of the two times--before or after the rains begin. Some of the disadvantages can be characterized as risks, whereas others are fairly certain results of planting at a particular time. When the farmer actually does plant is a function of when he intends to plant and any external forces which interfere with his intentions. Sifting through the various criteria he regards as important and understanding the reasoning he uses, cannot be accomplished using a multivariate or behavioral model. These models can indirectly provide important clues of association or possible outcomes of alternative decision paths, but they are not substitutes for the informal, analytical approach for developing an understanding of the farmer's perspective and using this understanding to identify research opportunities.

2.6. Issues Concerning the CIMMYT Diagnostic Survey

The principal method selected for this study is the CIMMYT diagnostic survey, outlined in Chapter 1. The diagnostic survey has several practical advantages:

1. It is relatively inexpensive to implement in terms of time, finances, and manpower. A team of researchers, two at a minimum, can identify recommendation domains and complete an informal survey in one to two months. A formal survey can be completed and data analyzed in an additional two to four months.

2. on importa survey, re needs on a points are 3. I analysis t to multi-d makers. Examp] tation incl (1979), anc farmer adop reported in Three presented be ^{tives} of thi ^{prescri}ptive ^{advanta}ges a and a formal CIMMYT appro. approaches, ^{of th}is thesi ^{Middl}e Kiriny

- 1

2. The method uses a sequential data collection procedure to focus on important issues as described in Section 2.4. During the informal survey, researchers evaluate the data collected and reformulate data needs on a daily basis. By the end of the informal survey, leverage points are identified and system improvements are proposed.

3. Interview procedures are informal and data collection and analysis techniques are easy to learn. Thus, the method is conducive to multi-disciplinary teamwork and can be easily understood by policy makers.

Examples of diagnostic surveys being used for planning experimentation include: International Maize and Wheat Improvement Centre (1979), and Shumba (1981). Successful results, measured in terms of farmer adoption of technologies proposed in diagnostic surveys, are reported in Moscardi (1982).

Three important issues concerning the CIMMYT diagnostic survey are presented below. The first two issues concern the methodological objectives of this thesis: (1) the collection and analysis of normative and prescriptive information in the CIMMYT diagnostic survey and (2) the advantages and disadvantages of including an RD-identification exercise and a formal survey in the CIMMYT approach. The third issue, that the CIMMYT approach is relatively less holistic than many other FSR approaches, is presented in order to qualify the problem-solving results of this thesis, that is, the adaptive research program developed for Middle Kirinyaga.

2.6.1. A key collect tr mation--ir The call f ing decisi However, f emphasize normative a behind this agement wor approach ha salaries an

^{most} sophis ^{as} to their

cult between

and it is e

and semantic

tive data, a

and prescrip

^{mimic} the po ^{Other} agricu

^{values}, obje

^{such} studies

¹See, fc

2.6.1. Collecting Information on Farmers' Values and Decisions

A key issue in mounting a CIMMYT-style diagnostic survey is how to collect the relatively large amount of normative and descriptive information--information on farmers' values and decisions--which is required. The call for more emphasis on these kinds of information for understanding decision processes in farm management is by no means a new one.¹ However, farm management and farming systems research in LDC's still emphasize collecting positive data on inputs and outputs, from which normative and prescriptive information are extrapolated. The reasons behind this tendency are not difficult to ascertain. First, farm management work in the U.S. and Europe tends to be positivistic and this approach has been transferred to LDC's. Second, rewards in terms of salaries and prestige among peers are earned on the basis of using the most sophisticated quantitative methods, often with little consideration as to their role in solving problems. Third, communication is difficult between researchers (whether expatriate or local) and farmers, and it is easier to "measure" than to communicate. Fourth, conceptual and semantics problems, which seriously affect the collection of positive data, are even more troublesome in the collection of normative and prescriptive data. Fifth, many agricultural economists seek to mimic the positivistic approach to research which they observe among other agricultural scientists. Thus, they shy away from the study of values, objectives, decision processes, and prescriptions, labeling such studies as "unscientific".

¹See, for example, Johnson, 1961.

The

- (1981) an
- interview
- prescript[.]
- are corrot
- to piece t
- approaches
- evaluate t
- liminary st
- tools for i
- But once le
- understandi
- concerning
- posed lever
- CIMMYT appr
- ^{varieties} h
- may also as
- ^{on} relation
- ^{system}, e.g
- may confron-
- ^{one} reason .
- ^{if a list of ber of reasc}
- the same rea
- ^{agree} about ^{constrai}
- ^{constraints ^{the variety}}

The CIMMYT approach and other similar approaches, e.g., Hildebrand (1981) and Bartlett and Umearokwu (undated), use informal, direct interview methods for developing an understanding of farmer values. prescription and the reasons behind farmer decisions. Farmer responses are corroborated by direct observation, and intensive reasoning is used to piece together why farmers do what they do. Unfortunately, the approaches provide little systematic direction on how to identify and evaluate the criteria which farmers use in making decisions. At preliminary stages of the assessment of the farming system, supplementary tools for investigating farmer decisions are probably not necessary. But once leverage points are proposed, researchers need a fairly detailed understanding of farmers' reasoning behind the decisions they make concerning the leverage point. For example, maize variety is a proposed leverage point in this study, as discussed above. Using the CIMMYT approach, researchers would ask the farmer why he plants the varieties he plants as opposed to other alternative varieties. They may also ask about the farmer's past experiences, and test hypotheses on relationships between varieties planted and other variables of the system, e.g., farm size, income level, etc. However, a host of problems may confront the researcher at this point. A farmer may give more than one reason for why he plants or does not plant a particular variety and if a list of possible reasons is presented to him to consider, the number of reasons would certainly increase. Second, two farmers may give the same reasons for planting different varieties; that is, they disagree about some positive characteristic of the varieties. Moreover, constraints and chance occurrences may prevent farmers from planting the variety they want to plant. Unless a fairly uniform set of

responses in these systemati prescripti the farmer This Hierarchic Survey, fc tion on fag psychology experience agricultura ^{contributio}

^{Utility} of ·

During

interested ;

to demarcate

circumstance ^{methods} to u

^{prima}ry data ^{researchers}

i.e., informa ^{the} area. Fo ^{because} they responses is obtained, the situation can become quite confusing. It is in these cases that it would be useful to have easy-to-understand, systematic tools for rapidly assembling the information on values and prescriptions and for modeling the decision so as to better understand the farmer's reasoning.

This thesis will use and evaluate two methods, Repertory Grid and Hierarchical Decision Models, as supplements to the CIMMYT Diagnostic Survey, for eliciting and evaluating normative and prescriptive information on farmer decisions. These methods come from the disciplines of psychology and anthropology, respectively, which have relatively more experience in collecting and evaluating such information than does agricultural economics. The theoretical underpinnings and proposed contributions of the two methods are discussed below, in Section 2.7.

2.6.2. The Utility of an RD-Identification Exercise and a Formal Survey

Utility of the RD-Identification Exercise

During the initial stages of an investigation, researchers are interested in gathering preliminary information about farmers in order to demarcate RD's, to develop a preliminary understanding of farmer circumstances in each RD, and to identify appropriate data collection methods to use in ensuing stages. Few farming systems studies use primary data collection methods to meet these objectives. Rather, most researchers rely on secondary information and "reconnaisance surveys", i.e., informal discussions with farmers and persons knowledgeable about the area. Formal data collection exercises at this stage are shunned because they are expensive and time consuming, and because in initial

stages of

he is int

Howe

extension

national 👌

the method

identifyir

formal tec

we compare

with the i

assume that

similar to

exercise is

about RD's

Utility of

The r

ⁱⁿ develop

^{relati}ve t

^{comm}ent at

methods.

^{depth} disc

^{to} get acc

^{hand}, its

^{beca}use qu

^{results} an

^{be} "cauti(

stages of an inquiry the researcher does not know enough about the area he is interested in to develop a suitable questionnaire.

However, Collinson used a single-page questionnaire survey of extension agents to identify RD's in Central Province, Zambia (International Maize and Wheat Improvement Centre, 1979). He concluded that the method is a low-cost and effective, albeit preliminary, means of identifying RD's and providing information about them. However, no formal technique was used to arrive at this conclusion. In this thesis, we compare the information obtained in the exercise identifying RD's with the information obtained in the formal survey which followed. We assume that if the information and RD's based on the formal survey are similar to those developed in the RD-identification exercise, then the exercise is an effective means of gathering preliminary information about RD's.

Utility of the Formal Survey

The role of the informal survey in farm management investigations in developing countries has increased in importance in recent years, relative to the formal survey. Shaner, Philipp and Schmehl (1982), comment at length on the advantages and disadvantages of informal methods. The principal advantages are that it promotes free and indepth discussion of problems and issues and that it helps the researcher to get acquainted with local words, concepts and ideas. On the other hand, its principal disadvantages are that it is non-random, and that because questions are not standardized, quantification is difficult and results are less reliable. The authors conclude that researchers must be "cautious in generalizing from informally collected data." Thus,
they s

experi

are so

01

a gener

about f

a forma

the inc

outweigh

(Hildebr

mal surv

Co1

the info

On the or

nostic ap

single-vi

informa]

Litt

implicati

ing forma

^{survey} exe

of informa

^{one can} ar

^{data} and t

^{Survey} with

the utility

they seem negative about using informal surveys as a basis for planning experimentation, except in special cases when problems and opportunities are so apparent that formal methods of data collection are unnecessary.

Other farming systems researchers view the informal survey as being a generally effective and sufficient measure for gathering information about farmers to plan agricultural experiments. They argue that, whereas a formal survey may increase the accuracy and precision of information, the increased costs, measured in terms of time as well as resources, outweigh the value of the increased benefits. Hildebrand's <u>Sondeo</u> (Hildebrand, 1981) and Gathee (1979) provide examples of using an informal survey to plan experimentation.

Collinson occupies a middle ground between those arguing that only the informal approach is required and proponents of the formal survey. On the one hand, the informal survey is the "pivotal" step in the diagnostic approach, but on the other hand, he generally advocates mounting a single-visit formal survey to verify the information gathered in the informal survey (Collinson, 1982).

Little work has been done to formally compare the information and implications for research from informal surveys with those of the ensuing formal survey for the same group of farmers. Indeed, if the formal survey exercise does not lead to significant improvements in the accuracy of information and the design of experiments appropriate for farmers, one can argue that it is superfluous. In this thesis we compare the data and the proposed experimental program developed in the informal survey with those developed from the formal survey in order to examine the utility of mounting a formal survey.

F
F
,
54 5
di
1
51
re
in
in
The
lin
hea
two
Pro
expi
ques
we s
Prin
subD
Pate
limi t
^m aker

2.6.3. Holism

A principal weakness of the CIMMYT approach, as practiced in Eastern Africa, is that it tends to be less holistic than certain other FSR and farm management approaches. Typically, multi-disciplinary teams mounting CIMMYT diagnostic surveys include only agricultural scientists and economists, excluding sociologists, rural non-farm enterprise specialists and others who have expertise on rural development. Thus, it is not surprising that leverage points in these surveys almost exclusively involve agricultural production inputs or operations. Moreover, relatively little attention is given to such topics as household-firm interactions, marketing and credit networks, and other factors influencing the farming system.

The approach used in this thesis is subject to the above weaknesses. The team was composed of an economist and an agronomist, with only limited input from other agricultural scientists. Leverage points were heavily weighted towards experimentation on maize and beans, the area's two principal crops. The researchers sought to analyze how household processes influenced production processes but certainly lacked the expertise of rural sociologists or human ecologists in addressing such questions.

In our case, a more holistic approach was an ideal towards which we strove but which we were prevented from fully attaining by three principal considerations. First, skilled researchers are in scarce supply in Kenya, making it difficult to recruit researchers to participate in survey exercises. Second, logistics and financial constraints limited the size of the team. Third, we had no formal access to policy makers outside of production research so we chose to limit our proposals

t٥ we on res tha was RG ing des to ≣eti as a the base acti ceiv of a Thes ~ scop read Bann to those concerning production research. However, we believe that there were sufficient incremental benefits to mounting an FSR exercise with only two team members and focusing only on agricultural production research to warrant the costs of the exercise. Ideally, we recognize that the make-up and focus of the team should be much broader than it was in our case.

2.7. <u>The Repertory Grid (RG) Technique and Hierarchical</u> Decision-Tree Models (HDM)

In this thesis, we evaluate the incorporation of two techniques, RG and HDM, into the CIMMYT diagnostic survey for assembling and analyzing data about farmer values and decisions. These techniques are described in detail below.

2.7.1. The Repertory Grid Technique

Repertory grid is a method from cognitive psychology which seeks to elicit and measure people's perceptions of their environment. The method was developed by clinical psychologist G. A. Kelly in the 1950's as a therapeutic procedure, based on his human "personal constructs" theory.¹ This theory holds that individuals build conceptual models, based on their own experiences, which are used to guide their future actions. In these models, an individual arranges features of his perceived environment, called "elements", by discriminating on the basis of attributes into bi-polar scales which express meaningful contrasts. These scales are called "personal constructs".

¹A detailed presentation of Personal Construct Theory is beyond the scope of this paper. A brief sketch is given here only to acquaint the reader with its basic precepts. A summary of the theory is found in Bannister and Mair (1968).

"be
sep
the
att
etc
of
a s
fro
rati
mati
eler
of a

Yiel Su Yiel Lo Stor In Taste Price

Sourc

For example, an individual may perceive a set of elements called "bean cultivars" because they have a set of similar attributes which separate bean cultivars from other sets of phenomena. He evaluates them through his own personal constructs, with bi-polar scales for each attribute, e.g., high yielding-low yielding, good tasting-bad tasting, etc. How these constructs are built into mental models is the subject of further work (Bannister and Mair, 1968).

Repertory grids are matrices of scores for a set of elements across a set of constructs. Elements and constructs are generally elicited from individuals themselves to minimize interviewer bias. Elements are rated on each construct using a consistent procedure. The resulting matrix describes an individual's repertory of feelings about a set of elements. An example of a repertory grid for evaluating farmer opinions of alternative bean cultivars is shown in Table 2.1.

Attributes of Bean Cultivars-			
	Cultivar l.	Cultivar 2.	Cultivar 3.
Yield in Season of Sufficient Rainfall	4	4	3
Yield in Season of Low Rainfall	1	1	2
Storing (Without Insecticide)	3	3	4
Taste	5	3	5
Price	2	2	4
Disease Susceptibility	1	3	1

Table 2.1

Sample Repertory Grid of Important Attributes of Bean Cultivars^a

^aRatings: 5 = excellent, i.e., variety performs very well. 1 = poor, i.e., variety performs poorly.

Source: Data are hypothetical.

F 2 p r W a C t f(rę g? to ir. th

Repertory grids have been used by researchers in a number of fields other than clinical psychology, e.g., market research (Hudson, 1974) and urban geography (Harrison and Sarre, 1975). This author knows of two applications of this technique to agricultural development in less developed countries. Townsend (1975) examined how farmers in a Colombian settlement project perceived of their own farms in contrast to other farms, such as the "best" farm they knew, a particular neighbor's farm, etc. Floyd (1977) used a similar approach in Trinidad. Both researchers reported that the method is useful for developing an understanding of how farmers view the circumstances they find themselves in and the priorities they have for improving their situations. Further, Baldwin (1977) examined the perceptions of English tomato growers towards past technological improvements in tomato production. Solving farmers' problems was not the objective of any of these three applications of repertory grid to agriculture. Rather, the researchers were concerned with using the technique to understand how farmers perceive their world around them.

In this thesis, repertory grids will be constructed to identify the criteria farmers use in deciding among selected technological alternatives concerning leverage points. In the early stage of the field work, four potential leverage points were selected where it appeared that repertory grids could be useful in obtaining farmers' appraisals of available technological alternatives at these leverage points. Repertory grids were constructed using samples of 5 to 15 farmers and the important aspects concerning the set of alternatives were elicited from the farmers themselves. During the formal survey the grids were

,
6
r
c
r.
a
d
ne
In
51
ex
di
Pa
ле. Т.
1 M
n
pro
ner

constructed for randomly selected farmers, using the aspects identified in the formal survey.

2.7.2. Hierarchical Decision-Tree Models

The hierarchical decision-tree model (HDM) is the second method to be tested in this study as a supplement to the CIMMYT diagnostic survey. HDM's present the decision process in a tree form, with decision criteria at the nodes, or branching points, of the tree. HDM's are used by researchers in a number of disciplines, including anthropology, psychology, and economics, to model decisions made by individuals.

The underlying theory behind HDM is that "people in choosing alternatives, do not make complex calculations of the overall utility of each alternative. Rather, people tend to use procedures which simplify their decision-making calculations," due to their inability and/or unwillingness to process all information available to them (C. Gladwin, 1979). Indeed, social scientists are becoming increasingly concerned with the simplifying procedures which individuals use in making decisions. For example, in a review of behavioral decision research across a number of disciplines, Slovic, Fischoff and Lichtenstein (1977) claim that

. . . whereas past descriptive studies consisted mainly of rather superficial comparisons between actual behavior and normative models, research now focuses on the psychological underpinnings of observed behavior.

Researchers examining simplifying procedures in decision-making include Tversky (1972), Simon (1969), and Abelson (1976).

HDM is an important approach to modeling the simplified decision Process which individuals use. The model is built in the following manner. First, intensive interviewing is used to elicit decision criteria

from r
in the
in the
analys
Seaso
that
impor
varie
'b' y
varie
ygne
Char
in F
of
Yie
to ·
Was
Jrec
two
stor.
Varia
know
Cack .
the =
in and

from respondents. Farmers who have not yet made a decision, i.e., are in the "learning" or "inaction" knowledge state, are excluded from the analysis. The criteria are then grouped into three categories:

 Orderings of alternatives on some attribute (e.g., "in a season of sufficient rainfall, is the yield of variety 'a' greater than that of variety 'b'?");

2. Explicit choices that performance on one attribute is more important than performance on another attribute (e.g., "you say that variety 'a' yields better than 'b' when rainfall is sufficient but that 'b' yields better when rainfall is low. So is it better to plant a variety expecting low rainfall or one expecting sufficient rainfall?");

3. Constraints which must be passed or satisfied (e.g., "did you have cash available for buying variety 'a' seed?").

Once a set of criteria are identified, they are arranged in a flow chart in a logical manner. For example, the hypothetical tree, shown in Figure 2.2, summarizes the decision criteria which an assumed group of 32 farmers consider in deciding whether or not to plant variety "a". Yield is the first criterion because it is the most important criterion to farmers in the group interviewed. Since yield in sufficient rainfall was a more important criterion than yield in low rainfall, the former precedes the latter. The criterion involving the trade off between the two yield criteria follows directly after the two yield criteria. The storage issue follows the yield criteria because farmers who test a variety for the first time and find that it has very low yields will not know, or care, much about storage characteristics anyway. "Not having cash for seed" is a constraint and is therefore listed in the tree after the intention to plant variety "a" has already been established.





0 g tl D(fa 2. st Cr si ex For ant it In any case, the ordering of the criteria on the tree does not affect a farmer's outcome, as long as the researcher has obtained the principal reason why the farmer does not plant the variety. For example, if a farmer answers no to the first question, "does variety 'a' give the highest yield of all known varieties when the rainfall is sufficient?" but later says that his reason for not using "a" is because it doesn't store well, it would be incorrect for the researcher to let the farmer "get off" the tree at the top box, "do not plant", because variety "a" does not give highest yield when rainfall is sufficient. Rather, one of two problems has occurred. Either the information obtained from the farmer does not represent the farmer's opinions on the issue or, more likely, the tree needs further development to accommodate a person who (1) feels that variety "a" does not yield higher than other varieties when rainfall is sufficient and (2) claims that poor storage is the reason he does not use the variety.

The tree shows the relative importance of criteria in a particular farmer decision. For example, in the hypothetical example of Figure 2.2, 60 percent of the farmers do not plant Variety "a" because it stores poorly. Thus, it is implicit that storage is the most important criterion and that yield and cash availability are less important considerations. Furthermore, the tree can be used to show how farmers explicitly weigh the relative importance of any two particular criteria. For example, Figure 2.2 shows that farmers feel that it is more important that a variety performs well when rainfall is sufficient than that it performs well when rainfall is low.

The use of decision tree models to explain farmer decisions is relatively new. Roumasset (1974) used decision trees to estimate the

th

.

risk of alternative fertilization techniques on rice in the Philippines. C. Gladwin (1977, 1980) has used HDM in Mexico, Guatemala, and Alabama to model farmer decisions on the adoption of new methods and inputs and for decisions on which crops to plant. Her earlier work involved using HDM for ex-post evaluation of recommendations to provide feedback to project planning. More recently, she has used HDM for ex-ante research planning. For example, her work on cropping choices in the Altiplano of Guatemala indicated that the least cost method of promoting cash crop production was to improve yields of the subsistence crop, corn (C. Gladwin, 1980). Further, she has reported using HDM's in two "<u>sondeos</u>", multi-disciplinary survey exercises similar to CIMMYT informal surveys, for helping to plan experimentation. However, the models used were not developed during the <u>sondeos</u>; they were refinements of a previously developed model on cropping decisions in a neighboring area.

This thesis builds on Gladwin's use of HDM in FSR for guiding technology planning. However, one departure from her use of the method was made. Gladwin develops an HDM from interviews with 20 to 30 farmers and then tests the model for its ability to explain the decision among another 20 to 30 farmers. Further, she attaches considerable importance to the ability of the model to "predict the decisions of a new, different (if possible, random) sample of decision makers." Thus, a high "success rate" (rate of prediction) is an important objective of this exercise. In this thesis, HDM's are developed by researchers interviewing a small number of farmers, 10 to 15, during an informal survey. The questions underlying the model are then included in a formal survey to a random sample of farmers. The objective is not to test, per se, the model developed in the informal survey by examining the prediction

g m d U N. i, ti gĝ P0

dec

rate. Rather, the objective is to use the model to develop appropriate questions for the formal survey so that decision trees can be reconstructed, based on formal survey responses, which represent the decisions of randomly selected farmers. Thus, we do not presume that the model developed in the informal survey is accurate enough to predict decision outcomes; nor do we have any qualms about adding to or changing the model developed in the informal survey, in order to incorporate individuals from the formal survey who do not "fit" into the original tree.

2.8. Summary of Methods

The cognitive anthropological approach involves intensive interviewing to develop an understanding of the logic behind farmer management strategies and practices in order to develop an understanding of the farming system. Thus, the approach requires normative, positive, and prescriptive information about farmer decisions. Three particular methods will be used to develop this understanding: (1) the CIMMYT diagnostic survey, which is the overall approach for developing the understanding of the system and (2) and (3) the repertory grid technique and hierarchical decision-tree model, which are used for examining particular farmer decisions.

The first step was to select a study area and identify recommendation domains. Next, an informal survey was undertaken together with an agronomist. During the informal survey, we identified system leverage Points and used RG and HDM to obtain more information about farmer decisions concerning the leverage points.

r 0 e e٧ ٦a an th wh PC s

Sur

A formal survey was then mounted to verify the information from the informal survey and quantify selected parameters useful for planning experimentation. The questions used for developing RG's and HDM's in the informal survey were incorporated into the formal survey. Thus, the RG's and HDM's constructed from formal survey data may be compared with those developed during the informal survey.

RG and HDM will be evaluated on the contributions they make as supplements to the CIMMYT diagnostic survey for developing an understanding of particular farmer decisions. Unfortunately the exercises could not be carried out completely independently of each other. However, in general, the results from a particular exercise can be compared with results from another exercise.

Two secondary methodological objectives are to compare the quality of information gathered at different stages of the survey sequence. The effectiveness of the exercise to identify recommendation domains is evaluated by comparing the data obtained with data obtained in the formal survey. The utility of carrying out a formal survey, in addition to an informal survey, is evaluated by (1) comparing the data obtained with those obtained in the informal survey and (2) assessing the implications which the formal survey results have on changing or refining the proposed research and extension program planned following the informal Survey.

ir in th ser exa for that bene gove Midd sca] Coffe bjgce farme Ş foods,

CHAPTER 3

DATA COLLECTION PROCEDURES

This chapter examines the survey procedures--sampling methods, interviewing techniques and fieldwork procedures--employed for developing an understanding of the farming systems in the study area. First, the reasons for selecting Middle Kirinyaga as the study area are presented. Next, the exercise for identifying recommendation domains is examined. Finally, methods and procedures for the informal survey and formal survey are discussed.

3.1. Selection of Middle Kirinyaga as Study Area

Middle Kirinyaga was selected for this project because it was felt that an adaptive production research program could offer substantial benefits to local farmers, as well as contribute to several of the Kenya government's policy objectives. The specific reasons for selecting Middle Kirinyaga are discussed below.

First, Middle Kirinyaga is made up of mostly low-income, small Scale farmers, and does not have any important cash crops, such as Coffee, tea, or cotton. As stated in Chapter 1, the Kenya government Places a high priority on increasing incomes in low-income, small Farmer areas (Government of Kenya, 1979a).

Second, supplies of maize and beans, the area's two most important **foods**, are frequently exhausted. There is potential for stabilizing

t v s ra ge īra

et

sys

farmers' food supplies and turning Middle Kirinyaga into a surplus food area, since the physical and climatic conditions of Middle Kirinyaga are suitable for producing both maize and beans. In the aftermath of food shortages of 1980-81, Kenya has placed high priority on achieving selfsufficiency in maize and bean production (Government of Kenya, 1982).

Third, maize and bean production levels are very low and adoption rates for recommended inputs and practices are also low. The reasons for non-adoption are not clearly understood. A diagnostic survey could help researchers understand the reasons behind non-adoption and make appropriate policy recommendations. Revised research recommendations based on on-farm experiments could contribute significantly to increasing production.

Fourth, the institutional environment appears to be favorable, relative to other areas in Kenya. For example, transportation and access to input and output markets are adequate and research and extension services in the area are fairly well developed.

3.2. Identifying Recommendation Domains

The next task was to identify recommendation domains (RD's) in the study area and to delineate the farmer groups to be studied. Two separate tasks were required. One was to identify geographical, or acrossarea, differences among farming systems. Across-area differences are generally caused by physical factors--e.g., climate and altitude--but may also be a result of historical or socio-economic differences--e.g., ethnic group or government settlement schemes.

The second task was to examine within-area differences in farming Systems, that is, to check whether two or more farming systems may be

interspersed in a particular ecological zone. The principal causes of within-area differences in farming systems are often socioeconomic and historical factors such as ethnic group, income, or participation in a government credit program.

A critical issue in identifying RD's concerns whether a particular difference between two groups of farmers is an important enough difference to justify separating the groups into different RD's. If the differences among two groups of farmers are significant enough that we will likely require different sets of experiments to meet their needs and circumstances, then the two groups of farmers belong in separate RD's. Thus the objectives of the survey become the benchmark for evaluating the importance of differences among farmers.

The exercise to identify RD's in Middle Kirinyaga took approximately two weeks and involved three methods. First, secondary data on the area were assembled. Unfortunately, these proved to be of limited use because they were averaged across several dissimilar areas within Kirinyaga. Second, researchers, government officials, and local leaders familiar with the area were informally interviewed about across-area and within-area differences. Next, a short, two-page questionnaire was administered to extension workers and local officials in each sublocation, the smallest administrative unit in Middle Kirinyaga.¹ The Questionnaire covered principal characteristics of the farming systems which were likely to vary between farms and across areas. Individual

¹The questionnaire is presented in Appendix A. Sublocations in **F1i** ddle Kirinyaga range from 50 to 150 square kilometers and have 500 to **4**,000 inhabitants.

questions concerned such aspects as physical environment, cropping pattern and practices, livestock, and sources of income.

The interviews were conducted by the researcher; each interview lasted about 40 minutes. Twelve questionnaires covering 15 sublocations in Middle Kirinyaga and adjoining areas were completed in one week. Data tabulation and analysis took another three days. The results of the exercise are reported in Franzel (1981). The methods delivered a rapid, low-cost, preliminary identification and description of RD's in the area.

Map 1 presents the boundaries of Middle Kirinyaga, based on the exercise identifying RD's.¹ The boundaries represent fairly distinct changes in the eco-climatic and socio-economic environment. For example, as one moves north, out of Middle Kirinyaga, altitudes and rainfall increase and temperature and solar radiation decrease. Coffee and dairy are important enterprises and there are higher cash incomes and higher population densities.² Maize takes much longer to mature and only one crop is grown per year whereas in Middle Kirinyaga, two crops are grown.

The southern boundary of Middle Kirinyaga is marked by a change in soils, from light, red loam to heavy, black clay. The black soils area is characterized by somewhat different crops, significant differences in the cropping calendar, larger farms, and greater numbers of cattle. To

¹The boundaries were revised slightly following the informal survey exercise. Boundaries shown are those from the final assessment of RD's in Middle Kirinyaga.

²In fact the northern boundary of Middle Kirinyaga is the 4,300 meter countour, the line below which farmers are forbidden from growing Coffee. However, this edict has not been enforced since the coffee boom Of 1978.

, 1 シード Z ند : : عر VEKIANJANG. ו ' ייי



the re] low lti da fere whet thei stra able relat may b Poten Resea to an for g import Cash i as oyun tial c the hor appeare such as farmers

.

the east and west of Middle Kirinyaga are dry, hilly areas with relatively poor road access. These areas have less fertile soils, lower population density and much uncultivated land.

The task of assessing within-area differences among farmers in Middle Kirinyaga was more difficult than identifying across-area differences. Two factors were considered in the investigation:

1. <u>Characteristics of the Farming System</u>: We sought to identify whether there were important differences in the way farmers operated their farms--their priorities, the resources they used, their constraints, and the strategies and practices they employed to use available resources to best meet their priorities.

2. <u>Potential for Change</u>: Second, we were concerned with the relative potential for change among farmers in the area. Two farmers may be operating their farms in the same manner, but have different potential for change because of different resource availabilities. Researchers may divide a homogenous, dryland cropping system, adjacent to an unused flooded swamp area, into two RD's: one with the potential for growing irrigated rice and the other without this potential.

In Middle Kirinyaga, it appeared that access to cash income was an important determinant of the farming system. For example, access to cash influenced whether the farmer undertook certain enterprises, such as owning exotic-breed cattle. Managing these cattle requires substantial cash and other resources for purchasing feed, transporting water to the home, and protecting the animals against disease. Further, it appeared that low income farmers made much less use of purchased inputs such as hybrid maize seed and maize insecticide than higher income farmers. Also, high income farmers tended to own oxen or were able to

hir the few pla sec othe crop diff farm pris avai farme ran s exper Ments e.g., groups can ge farmer T lish a farmers their f divisio

hire oxen as soon as the rain started, thus taking full advantage of the brief rainy periods for growing their crops. On the other hand, fewer low-income farmers own oxen and those without oxen tended to plant late, relying on social contacts rather than cash payments to secure an ox-plow team.

We also hypothesized that income level was associated with many other aspects of the farming system aside from enterprise choice and crop husbandry. For example, food security appeared to be an entirely different problem for each of the two groups. Nearly all high income farmers appeared to obtain a regular flow of cash from a non-farm enterprise or a farm enterprise such as dairy; therefore cash was always available for purchasing food when required. However, low income farmers were forced to hire out their labor when their food supplies ran short.

These differences in the way farmers operate affect the type of experiments to be planned for the two groups. For example, maize experiments should incorporate differences in non-experimental variables, e.g., time of planting, variety, and plant population, for the two groups. Further, the number of and range in experimental variables can generally be greater for high income farmers, since low income farmers lack cash for purchasing improved inputs.

Two further issues concerned the number of income groups to establish and how to draw lines between them. We decided to classify farmers into two groups--those who could afford modest investment in their farms and those who could not, because it was thought that this division would cover most of the variation among farmers in the

rc
QI
in
pr
ty
we
•
LWL
gro
the
The
Byer
each
Para
tion
_
TAna
Purp
uid i Meas
one ,
Denta Comp
than
than
farme
area.
spent duri-
-41 10
area.¹ A set of proxies for income were drawn up to differentiate high income farmers from low income farmers for the informal survey. The proxies for high income farmers included grade cattle ownership, house type, past land purchases, and type of off-farm income. A subjective weighting of these variables was used to allocate farmers between the two groups. In only a few cases, was there any uncertainty as to which group a farmer belonged.

3.3. The Informal Survey

The informal survey lasted about five weeks and was carried out by the author and an agronomist who spent two weeks in the study area.² The procedures followed correspond closely to those outlined in Byerlee, Collinson, et al., 1980. Two to three farmers were interviewed each day at their farms and about 60 farmers were interviewed, overall. Researchers spent about the same amount of time evaluating the information as in visiting the farms.

¹Wealth is often used as a means of stratifying farmers in farm management studies. However, this approach is not appropriate for our purposes for two reasons. First, high income and low income farmers did not appear to have appreciable differences in the more common measures of physical wealth, such as land or number of cattle. Second, one of the most important questions concerning the planning of experimentation is who has money for purchasing inputs and who does not. Certainly, cash income is more closely associated with this distinction than is the fairly lumpy resource base.

²The agronomist needed substantially less familizarization time than the economist since he was of the same ethnic group as study area farmers, and he had lived and worked in an area just outside the study area. A sunflower agronomist, maize breeder and bean agronomist each spent 1 to 2 days in the field and were consulted on a number of issues during the course of the survey.

S d f 0 g Ce fı tł ba Wh da Wh ti one Con Cu] Was Son his the that Was Coor

3.3.1. Who to Interview

Before proceeding too far with the informal survey, it was necessary to define "farmer" and "farm" in the context of local circumstances. Middle Kirinyaga was settled by families who were given title deeds for pieces of land in the late 1950's. Since that time, many farmers have subdivided their farms among their wives, children, or other relatives. In this study, a farmer is defined as a person or group of persons who manages a farm, that is, makes the decisions concerning the allocation of resources on the farm and controls the output from the farm. In the typical case of a husband, wife, and children, the husband and wife share the decision-making function, with the husband making the more general cash-related decisions, e.g., when to plow, which seed to use, when to sell, and the wife making the more detailed day-to-day decisions, e.g., how to thresh, how to space the crops, and when to harvest. Many other systems of management and family organization were found in Middle Kirinyaga and it was not always clear whether one was dealing with an individual farm operation. For example, it was common for a man to divide his land among one or more children, particularly his sons. In general, if the son was not married, the division was in name only and decisions were made in common. However, if the son was married, it was likely that he was operating separately from his father. Polygamous marriages also presented complex situations. If the husband was living on the farm, it was likely, but not always true, that the farm was managed as a single unit. However, if the husband was working away from home, it was likely that there was little if any Coordination between the wives; they represented different farms though

ده
ρι-
n
h
3e
þ.
در. د بری
5.10
4de. (1)
() i+
'', ''',
Tho
ine ina
ي ۲۰. ،
ur (
in
to a
CU fo
area
"ere

each may have been receiving assistance from the same spouse. Another common arrangement was for a farmer to give an acre of land to his mother to manage for herself.

We decided that any person(s) managing a unit of land and its output independently from others was suitable to be interviewed, with one exception. We did not interview elders who were living with their children and had been allocated a small piece (usually one acre) to farm because (1) they represent a very small fraction of total production and (2) they are not a target group for change agents or research services proposing system improvements. We also made an effort to interview the husband and wife together when it was apparent that management was shared between them.

3.3.2. Interview Guidelines

We began farmer interviews by asking a short set of screening questions as shown in Appendix B, Part 1. These questions were used to (1) identify a particular household and the farm area associated with it, and (2) determine which RD this household belonged to.

Two types of interview guidelines were used in the informal survey. The first set, a general overview of important subject areas for developing an understanding of the farming system, is outlined in Appendix B, Part 2. The guidelines are adopted from Collinson, 1980 and 1982, and are divided into seven broad topics. Generally, each topic was covered in a 1 to 1-1/2 hour visit with a farmer. Researchers interviewed one to four farmers in each RD on each topic. The more complex a subject area and the greater the variation in responses, the more farm interviews were required to cover that area.

had
an
and
qui
, cau
tep
tre
ιορ c
far
cula
the
fere
1.2
nier;
t a rme
Each
2
^{to} int
l _{ocati}

The second set of guidelines, developed after the informal survey had begun, is presented in Appendix B, Part 3. As researchers develop an understanding of the farming system, they identify leverage points and draw up guidelines for gathering more information about them. These guidelines help the researcher to assess farmer preferences using repertory grids, to model selected decisions using hierarchical decisiontree models, or to simply gather more information about a particular topic. RG's received first priority because a detailed understanding of farmer preferences among alternatives is useful for identifying particular farmer decisions to model and for constructing the HDM models themselves. Repertory grids were constructed to evaluate farmer preferences among:

- 1. Alternative maize varieties
- 2. Alternative bean varieties
- 3. Alternative times for planting maize
- 4. Alternative times for planting beans

Hierarchical decision models were constructed to explain the following farmer decisions, based on an evaluation of farmer preferences from RG's:

- 1. Decision to plant Katumani variety for early maize
- 2. Decision to plant Katumani variety for main stock of maize
- 3. Decision to plant hybrid 511/512 for main stock of maize
- 4. Decision on the time of planting for maize and beans.

Each RG and HDM was constructed from a sample of seven to twelve farmers.

3.3.3. Sampling Methods and Reporting of Results

Sampling in the informal survey was purposive and efforts were made to interview farmers at different income levels, farmers at different locations within the survey area, and farmers living along roads as well

ſ		
د د		
i		
ŕ		
U		
va		
in		
fo		
e. (
Ноч		
Pra		
for		
nos		
the		
Var		
Pror		
Fort		
220q		
-0		

as those living at a distance from roads. Simple methods to reduce sampling bias, such as to interview the "nth" farmer on the left along a particular path, were also used.

While the survey was still continuing, results were written up corresponding to the topics listed in each of the guidelines. Repertory grids and hierarchical decision tree models were also developed. The survey results and proposed areas for experimentation were summarized in Franzel and Njeru (1981), issued about two weeks after the survey was completed.

3.4. The Formal Survey

3.4.1. Stratification and Sample Size

The farmer sample was stratified on the basis of income level, the variable which differentiated the two recommendation domains. Determining the sample size was a difficult problem, since no data were available for the target groups on the standard deviations of critical variables, e.g., farm size, enterprise choice, income, farmer practices, etc. However, there appears to be a consensus among many farm management practitioners that 20 to 30 farms in an independent stratus are adequate for producing reliable estimates for each stratum and for making comparisons between strata (Upton, 1972; Lynch, 1976; Bernsten, 1979). Since there was no basis for claiming that the standard deviation for critical variables was greater for one target group than for the other, it was proposed that the sample size be the same number for each strata. Forty-five farmers were selected from each stratum, to allow for the possibility of having to exclude the questionnaires of non-cooperating

f S K tł hc pu COI kno sec the Acc reso pose loca clus next it wa the s

impor

farmers and farmers who did not fall in either RD. The target sample size was thus 90 farmers.

Fortunately, a relatively accurate sample frame exists for Middle Kirinyaga. In the mid-1950's, all land in the area was demarcated by the colonial government and accurate records are kept on all title deed holders. Further, the government stipulates that all land transactions purchases be officially approved and this law is strictly adhered to.

3.4.2. Selection of Sample Farmers and Organization of Fieldwork

Several problems remained in selecting a random sample: logistical constraints, the fact that the stratum of individual farmers was not known, and irregularities in the sample frame. The following three sections describe each of these problems and outline the manner in which they were resolved.

Accommodating Logistical Constraints

Logistical problems had to be taken into account, since our resources for mounting the survey were limited. Our workforce was composed of four enumerators,¹ two supervisors and one vehicle. Further, locating sample farmers would require a local contact. Therefore, clustering seemed to be the most appropriate method.

Determining the size and number of clusters for each group was the next step. The questionnaire was to be administered in two visits, and it was decided that visits were best scheduled on consecutive days at the same time each day. This way, the likelihood of the farmer forgetting

¹We selected two female interviewers, since women play such an important role in farming in Middle Kirinyaga.

tı
n
S
ir
da
πī
to

Clas

Sar

farme

more

the second appointment was minimized and enumerators were able to remember details from the first interview for use in checking the consistency of responses in the second interview. Four enumerators, interviewing two farmers per day, could complete eight farms per two days. We decided to add a full extra day to each cluster to allow for missed interviews, questionnaire checking, and reinterviewing.

We selected a multi-stage sampling method as the most efficient way to meet the requirements of randomness given the logistical constraints. Sampling was carried out in three stages:

1. Selection of sublocations to study. Map 1 shows that parts of sixteen sublocations are included in the study area. Sublocations were randomly selected giving greater weight to those sample units with higher population.

2. Selection of areas within each sublocation. Each sublocation consists of five to fifteen portions, each of which is contained on a separate cadastral map. Sublocation-portions, consisting of 25 to 150 farms, were selected to further cluster the sample.

3. Selection of sample farmers. Finally, twenty farms were selected from each map using a random number table. Twenty was believed to be the minimum number of farmers required to give at least five high income farms and five low income farms.

Classifying Farmers into Income Strata

Because there were many more low income farmers than high income farmers in Middle Kirinyaga, a simple random sample would have given us more low income farmers and fewer high income farms than we required.

0 W C t W! 01 98 üs in Wa Of Wi we Th bag est sev COU Err the Thus, we needed a method for stratifying farmers into income groups before selecting our farmer sample. We decided to use the assistant chiefs, who each preside over a sublocation, to obtain this information. The assistant chiefs were asked to obtain information on the income proxies listed in Section 3.2 for each farmer: house type and number of zinc roofs, number of grade cows, number of oxen, off-farm jobs, and whether the farmer had ever purchased land. No single proxy was sufficient to establish the income group of a farmer. However, when information on each proxy was assembled and evaluated it was usually clear which income group the farmer belonged to. In many cases, the researcher or a supervisor was able to discuss the grouping procedure with the assistant chief and verify the classification of each farmer.

This procedure also had secondary benefits. First, it permitted us to estimate the ratio of high income farmers to low income farmers in the study area. Second, our sample size, and thus level of precision, was increased. Fortunately, it was relatively easy to test the quality of information provided by the assistant chief by comparing his data with data obtained from the survey. Where important differences existed, we consulted the chief and/or the farmer to resolve which was correct. Thus the method was also useful for checking the validity of the data.

Table 3.1 compares the classification of farmers into income groups based on information obtained from assistant chiefs with classifications established after examining the completed questionnaires. Seventyseven percent of the initial classifications were correct, assuming of course, that the final assessment based on survey data, was correct. Errors were not biased in any particular direction. Moreover, many of the errors were not errors in classification but errors in the sample

Table 3.1

Comparison of Two Methods for Classifying Farmers into Income Groups: Classifications Based on Information Supplied by Assistant Chief and Classifications Based on Evaluation of Survey Questionnaires, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981

	Number of Farmers ^a
Data from Assistant Chiefs agrees with data from survey	64 (77%)
Farms classified as high income, based on information from chiefs, which were found to be low income in survey	11 (13%)
Farms classified as low income, based on information from chiefs, which were found to be high income in survey	8 (10%)
Total	33 (100%)

^aFour additional farmers interviewed were not classified by assistant chiefs.

Source: Survey data.

frame. For example, in several cases, a high income title holder was selected but a low income relative farming on the title-holder's farm was interviewed.

Once the groupings were completed, the first five high income farmers and the first five low income farmers were selected for interviewing. If a farmer was unavailable for interviewing, the next farmer On the list from his income group was selected. Of the 90 interviews Conducted, 3 were discarded because of suspicion that false information was given. Of the 87 remaining questionnaires, 49 were for low income farmers and 38 were for high income farmers. Low income farmers were

greater in number primarily because the quota of five high income farmers could not be obtained from sample lists in two of the sublocations and because the three rejected farmers were all high income farmers.

Table 3.2 shows that 72% of the high income farmers and 84% of the low income farmers interviewed were sample farmers, that is, farmers selected from the sample list. Most of the remaining farmers interviewed were also listed farmers, who replaced sample farmers not available to be interviewed.

Table 3.2

	<u>High Inco</u> Number	me Farmers Percent	Low Incon Number	ne Farmers Percent
Sample Farmers	29	72	37	84
Replacement farmers from sample list	11	27	5	11
Other farmers	0	-	2	4
Total	40	100	44	100

Sample Status of Farmers Interviewed in Formal Survey, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981

Source: Survey data.

Irregularities in the Sample Frame

There were two additional problems with the sample frame. First, some high income farmers have more than one title deed; they appear in the sample frame more than once and thus have a greater chance of being selected. However, since only six high income farmers and no low income

fa	
- u	
20	
la Li	
11	
+1	
เกง	
d S	
re	
On ,	
Ce v	
Sta	
a†t	
שנע	
wi]	
to	
othe	
Cidi	
The	
and	
Kiku	
atelj	
check	
Surve	
Franze	

farmers in our sample were in this category, no adjustments were made in sample selection. However, adjustments were made in calculating the ratio of high income farmers to low income farmers, since the number of high income farmers on the list was biased upwards.

The second problem with the sample frame, referred to above, was that some farmers had given a piece of their land to a relative, usually a son, who operated independently from the title deed holder. These relatives did not appear on the sample frame list, therefore some names on the list actually represented two or more farmers. We decided not to devise a system for randomly choosing a farmer under these circumstances; the choice would have had to be made by the enumerator himself after arriving at the farm and could have created ill feelings between him and the farmer. Therefore, the enumerator interviewed whoever was willing to be interviewed on arrival at the farm. This system appeared to work well; in some cases title deed holders were interviewed and in other cases, relatives farming independently were interviewed.

3.4.3. Execution and Analysis

The formal survey was carried out during a five-week period coinciding with the long rains maize harvest, August through September, 1981. The survey was preceded by a three-week period of enumerator training and questionnaire pretesting. The questionnaire was translated into Kikuyu, the native language of the area. Data tabluation began immediately after the survey was completed and most farmers were revisited to check or clarify some of their initial responses. The preliminary survey results and proposals for experimentation were summarized in Franzel and Njeru (1982).

The sys gie men Kir in a stra of t Chap Poin Prog

north

study an ar

an al:

c]_{ays}

the A-

CHAPTER 4

DESCRIPTION OF FARMING SYSTEMS IN THE STUDY AREA

The objective of the following two chapters is to describe the farming systems of Middle Kirinyaga and to examine farmers' management strategies, as a basis for proposing experiments for developing system improvements. In this chapter, natural and socio-economic features of Middle Kirinyaga are presented. Next, overall system management is described in a series of sections on farmer objectives and sources of income, management of the farming system, and resource use and system constraints. Finally we outline the system leverage points, those areas of the system where opportunities for improvement appear brightest. In Chapter 5, we focus on farmers' practices concerning the leverage points as a prelude to presenting proposals for a production research program in Chapter 6.

4.1. Physical and Socio-Economics Features

4.1.1. Physical Features

Kirinyaga District extends from the summit of Mt. Kenya in the north to low-rainfall lowlands in the south. The area selected for this study, Middle Kirinyaga, is an area of flat to mildly sloping terrain at an altitude of 1,200 to 1,350 meters (see Map 1). Soils are red, friable clays of volcanic origin, high in humic content (3.7 percent carbon in the A-horizon) and well-drained [Government of Kenya, 1970].

and 4.1. rain In ti perio of re unre years of th In tw three of ea examp not c 28 yea The co last : been p 1 Kiriny

> l ent co the ra the nur

Rain falls in two seasons: the "long rains", March through May, and the "short rains", October through December, as shown in Figure 4.1. Average rainfall in the long rains is 590 mm whereas the short rains average 341 mm. The figure also shows the brevity of each season. In the long rains, rainfall is over 20 mm per ten-day interval for a period of 80 days; in the short rains the rain lasts only about 50 days.

Figure 4.2 presents average monthly rainfall and the probabilities of receiving lower amounts in some years. The data highlights the unreliability of rainfall in Middle Kirinyaga. For example, in four years out of ten, rainfall is below two-thirds of the average in four of the six highest-rainfall months, March, May, October and December. In two years out of ten, rainfall is below one-third of the average in three of these months. The figure also shows that the starting point of each rainy season is more variable than is the ending point. For example, although the long rains season never extends into June, it is not certain whether the rains will begin in March or April.

Approximately 14 percent of the long rainsseasons over the past 28 years had less than 400 mm and may be characterized as poor seasons. The corresponding number for the short rains is 56 percent. In the last six years, two long rains seasons and three short rains seasons have been poor, according to this definition.¹

Table 4.1 shows the monthly moisture requirements of maize, Middle Kirinyaga's principal crop, relative to the moisture available in

¹In fact, the quantity of rainfall is a necessary but not sufficient condition for high crop yields since it ignores the distribution of the rainfall. Therefore, the measure used here probably underestimates the number of seasons when rainfall is "poor".



Figure 4.1 Average Rainfall in Hiddle Kirinyaga, 1953-31 (mm. per ten-day period)





Figure 4.2 Average Nontly Rainfall and Probabilities of Receiving Lower Amounts of Rainfall, Middle Kirinyaga, 1953-81

Source: Data for 1953-76 from Ndomba Government Farm. Data for 1977-81 from Nwea/Tebere Cotton Research Station.

Table 4.1

•
4
Ð
Р
ð
F

Rainfall Requirements for Maize and Probabilities of Receiving Lower Amounts of Rainfall, Middle Kirinyaga, 1953-81

	Less Than Less Than Die Amount Thie Amount	s Received is Received	1 2 Years in 4 Years	Out of 10 Out of 10	0.0 0.0	0.0 2.5	23.6 41.6	180.4 214.7	82.0 112.7	2.5 9.4	2.8 11.0	3.8 10.4	1.8 7.9	29.6 60.1	96.7 134 D	9.6 22.3
			Intall j	e Current	0	m	12	100	185	0	0	22	ო	51	240	0
nonth	Rai		Kal	Average	26	28	76	264	169	25	23	20	18	109	192	39
m/.mm			Potential	Evaporation	192	198	161	164	139	120	112	135	178	211	153	178
	Required Maize		Short	Rains	155	88	ı	I	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	95	84	147
	Rainfall for N		Long	Rains	I	ı	86	82	107	120	84	61	ı	ı	1	ı
				Month	January	February	March	April	May	June	July	August	September	October	November	December

¹During year preceding survey, 1980 long rains (March-August) and 1980-81 short rains (September-February).

Rainfall requirements for maize are based on percentage of potential evaporation required. These percentages by month are extrapolated from Brown and Cocheme, 1969. Source:

Data for potential evaporation are from Meea Tebere.

Rainfall data are from Figure l.

Kirinya now bec: late Ma August, the maiz The situ and Nove fall fal in Decer Tab 81 year thus data Neverthe rains wil coupled w two month failures ^{Hence}, fa ^{start} of li dd ^{imately} 17 ^{giving} a c ^{1950'}s Mid ^{Kikuyu} fari In the lat

Kirinyaga. The perils involved in the high unreliability of the rainfall now become apparent. In the long rains, rainfall is quite sufficient in late March, April and May, but falls below requirements from June to August, even in normal years. However, the generally deep soils allow the maize to take advantage of residual moisture during this period. The situation is much more precarious during the short rains. October and November rainfall are sufficient in normal years, but October rainfall falls far below requirements in four years out of ten. Rainfall in December, January, and February is normally far below requirements.

Table 4.1 also shows rainfall in Middle Kirinyaga during the 1980-81 year preceding the survey. Rainfall was considerably below normal; thus data on production and income may be somewhat unrepresentative. Nevertheless, the high degree of unreliability in rainfall--when the rains will start, when they will finish, and how much rain will fall-coupled with the general insufficiency of rainfall in all but the first two months of each season cause grave problems to the farmers. Crop failures occur and late planters, of course, are the most susceptible. Hence, farmers seek to plant their crops as close as possible to the start of the rains.

4.1.2. Population and Settlement

Middle Kirinyaga, as defined in this study, covers an area of approximately 170 square kilometers and has a population of about 35,000, giving a population per square kilometer of about 200. Before the mid-1950's Middle Kirinyaga was practically uninhabited and was used by Kikuyu farmers living on the slopes of Mt. Kenya for cattle grazing. In the late 1950's the area was demarcated by the colonial government

and plc from the to Midd As each sor sub-divi their fa A c tricts h those wh imately ten years Hous consist c the house is workin Farm most farm percent h ^{are} rentihome area l A hc make decis the produc farmer" or lective de are more a

and plots ranging from 2-6 ha. were given to farmers, mostly Kikuyus from the crowded upper areas of Kirinyaga. These farmers migrated down to Middle Kirinyaga to settle.

A single family was sometimes able to secure several plots, one for each son in the family. Since demarcation, many of the farmers have sub-divided their land among children and other relatives, who manage their farms separately from that of the original title deed holder.

A continuous flow of farmers from upper Kirinyaga and other districts have come to settle in Middle Kirinyaga, purchasing land from those who obtained land during demarcation. Survey data show that approximately 15 percent of the farmers have lived in the area for less than ten years.

Household size is approximately 5.5 persons and most households consist of a man, his wife(s) and children. However, about one-third of the households are headed by women, because the husband is deceased or is working away from home.

Farm size is approximately two to four hectares per household¹ and most farmers have only one piece of land, at their homestead. About 30 percent have another piece of land away from the homestead which they are renting, borrowing or owning. This piece may be in the farmer's own home area or even outside the area--in lower or upper Kirinyaga.

¹A household is defined as a group of people who join together to make decisions about the management of the farm and the disposal of the produce. Throughout this paper, decisions are attributed to "the farmer" or "he". In fact, these decisions are more likely to be collective decisions of the household or of the females alone, since they are more active in farming than their husbands.

pi ar ke ou ce

as i-r

loc fro in

gov duc Foo

thro and Whice

to 3 Which Dot a

> throu Were

4.1.3. Transportation and Marketing

Transportation is excellent throughout the area. A tarmac road passes east-west linking the zone with Nairobi, 100 km. to the south, and Embu, 30 km. to the north. Feeder roads are also numerous and wellkept but some are closed during periods of heavy rainfall.

Market centers for purchasing inputs and selling produce are numerous and nearly all farms are located less than 10 km. from a market center. At these centers, a wide range of inputs are available, such as fertilizer, improved maize seed, chemicals, and tools.

Overall, Middle Kirinyaga is a grain exporting area, but grain imports are necessary in times of drought. Crops are bought and sold in local markets and in addition, most grains and legumes may be bought from or sold to National Produce Board Agents. Board agents are found in all major market centers and Board prices are officially fixed by the government. However, the prices at which the agents buy and sell products often fluctuates in accordance with trends in the open market. Food grains are not permitted to enter or leave a district, except through official Board channels, at official prices.

Figure 4.3 shows market prices and official buying prices for maize and beans over 1979-81, and highlights the market price fluctuations which occurred over the period. Produce price increases range from 50 to 350 percent as measured from harvest time up to the "hungry" season which precedes the next harvest. In fact, such wide fluctuations are not atypical. For example, the 1979 long rains crop harvested from July through October was quite satisfactory and prices of maize and beans were relatively low. However, the following three seasons were very poor

Figure 4.3 Natze and Bean Price Irends in Middle Kirinyaga, 1979-81 Ξ -1 -1

\$

-


for bo severe ply si severe able iı prices _ ties de stock. Со farmers pursue Cr Corpora Scheme. a farme order to collate not wil Thus, t small nu A food sh example clear t were de tion wa: newly fo

for both Middle Kirinyaga and Kenya as a whole and prices fluctuated severely. Moreover, policy factors exacerbated the national maize supply situation during this period of poor harvests.¹ The result was a severe shortage of maize in Kenya throughout 1980; maize was not available in many cities and towns through many months of the year, and prices increased accordingly. The price vagaries and supply uncertainties demonstrate the importance of providing food from one's own home stock.

4.1.4. Cooperatives, Credit, and Government Agricultural Institutions

Cooperative activity is very low in the area, with only a few farmers belonging to cotton or dairy cooperatives. In fact, few farmers pursue either of these enterprises on a commercial basis.

Credit is available from commercial banks, the Agricultural Finance Corporation, and from the Ministry of Agriculture's Seasonal Credit Scheme. However, very few farmers have access to credit. For example, a farmer is required to have two hectares under pure stand maize in order to qualify for the Seasonal Credit Scheme. Moreover, the only collateral most farmers have is their land and they are understandably not willing to risk losing their land should they default on their loans. Thus, the only farmers taking advantage of loan facilities are a very small number of high income farmers who have extensive holdings to

¹A permanent secretary of the Office of the President blamed the food shortages on "poor planning" [<u>Daily Nation</u>, March 13, 1982]. For example, the government continued to export maize, even after it was clear that a supply shortage was imminent, until strategic reserves were depleted. Further, credit supplied to farmers for maize production was severely curtailed, due to institutional bottlenecks in the newly formed Seasonal Credit Scheme.

cushion them from the effects of loan default [District Agricultural Officer, Kirinyaga, District, 1981, Personal Communication].

The agricultural extension service is active in Kirinyaga District with one to two extension workers per sub-location (about 400 to 600 farmers). Survey data show that about one-half of the farmers in Middle Kirinyaga have been visited by the extension staff, and that about onethird had received visits during the 18 months preceding the survey.

Several agricultural research stations or sub-stations are found in or near Middle Kirinyaga: a cotton research station at Mwea Tebere, a sunflower station at Wanguru, and a sub-station of the Embu generalpurpose station at Murinduko.

4.2. Farmer Objectives and Sources of Income

High income farmers and low income farmers, the two proposed recommendation domains in Middle Kirinyaga, make up approximately 40 percent and 60 percent of the population, respectively. The levels of cash income earned by farmers are shown in Table 4.2, broken down by income group. Median cash income for high income farming is in the 10,000 to 20,000 Shillings (Shs.) range, whereas median income for low income farmers is in the range of 1,000 to 3,000 Shs.¹

A principal distinguishing factor between high income and low income households is access to regular income from an off-farm business, salaried position, or a dairy enterprise. Eighty-seven percent of the high income households had such income whereas the corresponding number of low income households was only 20 percent.

¹At the time of the survey, September 1981, \$1.00 U.S. = 10 Kenya Shillings.

Iddle 4.2

	High I House	High Income Households		ncome holds
Shillings	Number	Percent	Number	Percent
0-1,000	0	0	9	19%
1,000-3,000	0	0	17	37%
3,000-5,000	0	0	15	33%
5,000-7,000	6	18%	3	6%
7,000-10,000	6	18%	1	2%
10,000-20,000	11	32%	1	2 %
20,000-30,000	3	9 <i>%</i>	0	0
30,000 +	8	23%	0	0
Not Available	5	-	2	-
Total	39	100%	48	100%

Cash Income Levels of Households in Middle Kirinyaga, July, 1980 to June, 1981

^aPercentages shown are percentages of households for which income could be calculated. Data on income were collected in a single visit survey and are thus subject to a wide margin of error. It is likely that underestimation of income due to omission of some sources is a greater problem than overestimation.

Source: Survey data.

,

1 high i about quarte sample consid the h had t food high their Table about their tions year years Perce This grea ther meet low the

Two other characteristics also set low income farmers off from high income farmers. First, the median age of low income farmers is about ten years higher than for high income farmers. Whereas onequarter of the low income farmers were over 65 years of age, only one sampled high income farmer was over 65. Second, low income farmers have considerably less education than high income farmers; over two-thirds of the high income farmers, but only one-quarter of the low income farmers, had three or more years of formal education.

The principal objective of farmers in Middle Kirinyaga is to provide food for the family; to a great extent this is true for both low and high income households. Low income farmers depend on their farms for their food needs and sell surplus food to acquire cash for purchases. Table 4.3 shows that their total incomes, cash plus subsistence, are about 5,000 Shs. Most of the low income farmers' cash income comes from their farms with crop and livestock sources providing about equal proportions.

In fact, rainfall and thus crop sales were very low in 1980-81, the year in which the survey was conducted. It is likely that in normal years income from the farm and in particular from crops is a much higher percentage of the low income farmers' income than during the survey year. This is so because in years of normal rainfall, crop earnings are greater. Moreover, livestock and off-farm income are also lower since there is less of a tendency to sell livestock or sell family labor to meet urgent cash needs.

Casual labor is the most important source of off-farm income for low income farmers; about one-half of the farmers hired out labor during the previous year. Cash from relatives, businesses (mostly illicit

Ca Ca C 0 Tot Subi (ı = food Droc the Sour

	High	Income	Group		Low	Income	Group
	% Farmers S	Shillings	Percen	t	% Farmers	Shillings	Percent
Cash Farm Income							
Crops	90	2423	(37%)		95	825	(50%)*
Livestock	72	4158	(63%)		67	823	(50%)*
Total	97	6581	(100%)	37%	96	1648	(100%) 55%
Cash Non-Farm Income							
Salaries	38	7027	(64%)		12	372	(28%)*
Business	56	3166	(29%) [.]		23	239	(18%)*
Casual Labor	10	25	(0%)		44	270	(20%)*
Plowing	23	184	(2%)		10	82	(6%)
Cash From Relatives	5	174	(2%)		21	144	(11%)
Other	-	3 94	(3%)		-	238	(18%)
Total	77	10970	(100%)	63%	90	1345	(100%)* 45%
Total Cash Income		17551	(86%)	100%		2993	(60%) 100%
Subsistence Farm Income ^b	100	2753	(12%)		100	1953	(40%)
Total Income		20304	(100%)			4946	(100%)

Sources of Income for Farmers in Middle Kirinyaga, July, 1980 to June, 1981^a

^aAsterisks (*) note significant difference between income groups using t-test (α = .05).

^bSubsistence farm income includes only maize and beans, the area's two main staple foods plus 10 percent of this value to account for other foods consumed from home production. The crops are valued at their average market prices for the months up to the following harvest.

Source: Survey data.

sale perce area i throug dairy. ł two-th for al salari for th especi workin About farms quarte their e enterp from cr ^{da}iry f Ma groups; ™ost po ^{ma}ize a l_T strated Nairobi that th, the off

sale of traditional beer), and plowing are each cash sources for 15-20 percent of the farmers. Only 6 percent are working away from their home area and about 20 percent have access to a regular flow of income throughout the year from a business, salary or farm enterprise such as dairy.

High income households have an average income of 20,000 Shs. About two-thirds have salaried jobs or businesses and off-farm income accounts for almost two-thirds of total cash income. For most households with salaried or business income, the farm is important as a source of food for the family rather than for cash generation. Supplying food is especially important, since about 40 percent of high income farmers are working in towns and cities where food shortages may be frequent.¹ About one-third of the farmers have made important investments in their farms in cash-earning enterprises such as dairy or tobacco. Onequarter of the high income farmers have no off-farm income sources; their earnings come primarily from these and other farm cash-earning enterprises. Income from livestock is significantly higher than income from crops for the high income farmers because of the importance of dairy for about one-fifth of the farmers.

Maize and beans are the most important food crops for both income groups; they are boiled and mixed together to form <u>githeri</u>, the area's most popular dish. The importance of maintaining a stable supply of maize and beans is reflected by the area allocated to the two crops,

¹The importance of providing home-produced food was clearly demonstrated in 1980 when maize, the area's staple food, was unavailable in Nairobi and many other towns during most of the year. Figure 4.3 shows that the maize price in 1980 rose to Shs. 3 per kg., over three times the official price.

which percen cent t 80 per I steady also o farmers farm er marily Long Ra Fa Low inc income cultiva leave _d bush. Tà income ^{intercr} togethe farmers

which are most often intercropped. Low income farmers allocate 91 percent of their cultivated area in the long rains to maize and 78 percent to beans. The figures for high income groups are almost as high, 80 percent and 71 percent, respectively.

In conclusion, both income groups depend on their farms for a steady and reliable supply of food throughout the year. Low income farms also obtain most of their cash income from their farms. Most high income farmers, on the other hand, obtain most of their cash income from offfarm enterprises. For most of these households, the farm is viewed primarily as a source of food for the household and not for generating cash.

4.3. Management of the Farming System

4.3.1. Enterprise Pattern and Land Use

Long Rains Crops

Farm size and land use in Middle Kirinyaga are shown in Table 4.4. Low income farms average 2.4 ha., with 1.4 cultivated, whereas high income farms average 3.8 ha., with 1.8 cultivated. Low income farmers cultivate nearly all of their arable land, whereas high income farmers leave a significant portion under grass and a few leave large areas under bush.

Table 4.5 shows that 68 percent of the cultivated area of high income farmers and 77 percent of that of low income farmers is under intercropped maize and beans. Most of the maize and beans not grown together are planted inside tree crops. Further, some low income farmers grow maize in pure stands because they had run out of bean seed.

-		
	Average	Farm Size
-	High Income Households ha.	Low Income Households ha.
Cultivated Land		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Own cultivated land Cultivated land rented	1.8 0.4	1.3* 0.1*
Total cultivated land	2.2	1.4*
Farm Size		
Own cultivated land Swamp area Homestead Grass Rented out Other Total farm size	1.8 0.2 0.2 1.2 0.0 0.4 3.8	1.3* 0.3 0.2 0.2* 0.2 0.2 0.2 2.4*
Median Farm Size	2.9	1.9*
Size of Titled Farm (includes subdivisions)	4.1	3.2*

Land Use and Average Farm Size in Middle Kirinyaga, 1981^a

^aAsterisks (*) denote significant differences between income groups using t-test (α = .05).

Source: Survey data.

• •

.

Principal Crop Combinations in the Short Rains and Long Rains Seasons, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981^a

	Long Rains		Short	Rains
	High Income	Low Income	High Income	Low Income
	Farmers ^a	Farmers	Farmers	Farmers
	ha. Percent	ha. Percent	ha.Percent	ha.Percent
Crop Combinations				
Maize and Beans ^b	60 (68%)	55 (77%)	54 (63%)	44 (69%)
Other Maize	11 (12%)	10 (14%)	11 (12%)	7 (10%)
Other Beans ^c	3 (3%)	1 (1%)	7 (8%)	10 (13%)
Coffee	5 (6%)	2 (3%)*	5 (6%)	2 (3%)*
Banana	4 (4%)	5 (7%)	4 (4%)	5 (7%)
Bullrush Millet	0	0	4 (4%)	13 (19%)*
Other Crops	10 (11%)	3 (4%)	9 (10%)	1 (2%)
Total Area ^d	88 (100%)	71 (100%)	87 (100%)	69 (100%)

^aAsterisks (*) denote significant differences between income groups using t-test ($\alpha = .05$), to compare area per farmer under cash combination.

^bFields where maize and beans are intercropped. There may be another intercrop on the field but this occurs in less than 10 percent of the maize and bean fields.

^C"Other" means maize (beans) alone or intercropped with a crop(s) other than beans (maize).

^dPercentages sum to more than 100 because coffee and banana are sometimes intercropped with maize or beans; thus, these fields are recorded twice.

Source: Survey data.

Bananas and coffee are the only other crops of any general importance. Bananas are grown mostly for food and are very low yielding, relative to other areas. They account for 4 to 7 percent of total cultivated area for both income groups. Middle Kirinyaga is outside of the officially designated coffee zone, yet farmers have begun planting coffee since the coffee boom of 1978. Ministry of Agriculture officials predict poor results due to the high temperatures and low rainfall in the region. Although production will no doubt be low compared to coffee zone areas, farmers hope that returns will be higher than for their only present alternative--maize and beans. One-half of the high income farmers are growing coffee, on plots average 0.2 ha., whereas onequarter of the low income farmers grow coffee, on plots averaging 0.1 ha. Differences between income groups are significant ($\alpha = .05$) for both numbers of farmers and areas allocated to coffee.

Several other cash crops exist in Middle Kirinyaga but are grown by less than 5 percent of the farmers. Tobacco is grown by farmers near Sagana in a closely supervised British-American Tobacco Co. scheme. The area cultivated has not increased in several years, due to a shortage of firewood for curing. Some farmers with swampy areas grow vegetables, such as tomatoes, kale, carrots and onions. A few farmers grow cotton, a crop which was very popular in Middle Kirinyaga in the 1960's. Cotton production decreased because of low profitability and poor marketing and grading arrangements.

Farmers in Middle Kirinyaga grow a wide range of minor crops, planted on tiny plots of less than one-eighth of an acre or, more often, scattered among the maize and beans. Ninety percent of all farmers grow bananas and cowpeas. Over one-half grow cassava, pigeon peas, pumpkins,

tomati
0.1
Uther
arrow-
to be
growin
more 1
Short
5101 C
4
iong r
1.4 ha
each g
lover
lower
ticula
their
the Li
che ni
long r
is use
Cu]++
season
L
Table
1-
' ^{ow} inc
^{sheep} a
and
are

tomatoes, sorghum, onions, sweet and English potatoes and mangos. Other minor crops grown by over one-quarter of the farmers include arrow-root, sugar cane, kale, and napier grass. There does not appear to be any significant differences in the percentage of each income group growing each crop, with the exception of napier grass which is grown more frequently by high income farmers.

Short Rains Crops

The short rains cropping pattern is very similar to that of the long rains. Total cultivated area, 2.2 ha. for high income farmers and 1.4 ha. for low income farmers, is identical to the area cultivated by each group in the long rains. The total area under maize is slightly lower in the short rains for both income groups, as some farmers, particularly low income farmers, substitute bullrush millet for some of their maize. Almost half of the low income farmers and 13 percent of the high income farmers planted bullrush millet, a crop not found in the long rains. Bullrush millet is drought resistant, early maturing, and is used primarily as a porridge drink in the morning hours. Minor crops cultivated in the short rains are similar to those of the long rains season.

4.3.2. Livestock

Livestock serve numerous functions for farmers in Middle Kirinyaga. Table 4.6 shows the breakdown of livestock ownership by high income and low income farmers. About 70 percent of the farmers in each group own sheep and goats, 3-5 per family. They are raised primarily for security and are sold when cash is needed. Two-thirds of all low income farmers

Li	ve	s	t	С
Sh Ca Gr	ee tt ad Se Wi Us	p l e l t i	/ e 1 h n	C i

a

groups
Ì
test (-
Tarmers
1001626
Source:

^{own} cat

for plo

^{whi}ch i

^{exotic-}

sold tr

^{water} s

l_{ack} of

Guernse:

Livestock Ownership and Uses, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981

	High Inco	ome Farmers	Low Incom	e Farmers
Livestock	% Having ^b	Average No. Owned ^a	% Having ^b	Average No. Owned ^a
Sheep/Goats	74	4.3	64	3.0
Cattle	92	6.9	62+	3.0*
Grade Cattle	56	1.8	21	0.0*
% Selling Milk	36	-	4+	-
% with Oxen	43	-	27	-
% Using Manure on Fields	84	-	49†	-

^aAsterisks (*) denote significant differences between income groups using t-test (α = .05).

^bCrosses (+) denote significant differences, using Chi-square test ($\alpha = .05$), between income groups concerning whether or not farmers have a particular livestock type/operation. Thus each row represents a different Chi-square test.

Source: Survey data.

own cattle, averaging about three animals per family. Cattle are kept for plowing, for milk for home consumption, for security and for manure, which is applied to fields. Only one low income farmer possessed an exotic-breed¹ cow, although some had bought them in past years and then sold them. Major reasons for not owning exotic breeds include lack of water supply or means of carrying water, fear of disease problems and lack of feed.

¹The most common exotic-breed cattle in Middle Kirinyaga are Guernseys, Ayrshires, Frieslan, and Jerseys.

one-h
catt?
ing, .
or fc:
1980- 1
enterr
Side -
Grade
theref
Kirin
April
fielt
- 1e10
'ather
are pj
^{ma} ture
^{sol} ar
Ti -
^{out} the
¹ S a C(
^{ce} nt o

I

Over 90 percent of the high income farmers own cattle and over one-half own exotic-breed cattle. The average family owns five local cattle and two grade cattle. Local animals are kept primarily for plowing, whereas grade cattle are kept to provide milk for home consumption or for sale. Over one-third of the high income farmers sold milk in 1980-81 and for many, milk is a major cash earning enterprise.

Keeping cattle, whether exotic-breed or local, is a labor-intensive enterprise. Local animals are grazed outside of the homestead, at roadside and swamp areas, by men or children for most of the daylight hours. Grade animals are kept at the homestead, so as to control diseases, and therefore must have food and water carried to them.

4.3.3. Crop Calendar and Management of Food Supplies

Table 4.7 presents the cropping calendar for farmers in Middle Kirinyaga. Farmers plant their maize and beans in late March-early April, just as the long rains season begins. Beans are harvested in July and maize in August and each crop is harvested "green" from the field during the month before the final harvest. Harvest periods are rather extended because both early-maturing and late-maturing varieties are planted. The pattern of the short rains season extending from October to February is similar to that of the long rains season. Crops mature more quickly during the short rains because there is greater solar radiation.

The availability of food staples and substitutes from farms throughout the year is shown in Table 4.8. Running out of home produced food is a common occurrence for both groups of farmers. About 40 to 50 percent of the high income farmers and 80 percent of low income farmers run

Cropping Calendar for Maize and Beans, tiddle Kirinyaga, 1981 $^{\rm a}$

;

Table 4.7

	January	February	March	April	May	June	July	August	September	October	Novenber	December
Weeks	1-2 3-4	1-2 3-4	1-2 3-4	1-2 3-4	1-2 3-4	1-2 3-4	1-2 3-4	1-2 3-4	1-2 3-4	1-2 3-4	1-2 3-4	1-2 3-4
Ma i ze			-									
Planting Usedias		10	44 101	34 12	د د ۳	>		•	7 12	48 92	15 、	, ,
Harvesting (green) Harvesting (final)	28 33 7 15	6 23 30	16 7	<	vv vv 9	24 47	<u>30 37</u>	7 31 68	11 00		<	, 10 33
	2	5	2				2		- 03			
Beans				:								
Planting Weeding		m	27 <u>80</u>	44 14 ×	z xx	XX			2 10	31 90	7 X X X	××
Harvesting (green)	11 2			:	12 35	28 19	11					32 37
Harvesting (dry)	\$ €	8 10				ດ ຊ	24 47	0 0		-		<u>~</u>
		-	Start of							Start of		
			Long Rain:							Short Kall	IS	

groups.

Principal periods for carrying out operations are shown by underlining. Data on weeding was not collected; "X's" denote primary weeding times based on subjective assessment.

.

Source: Survey data.

•

Tab	le	4.8	

Food Availability Calendar for Middle Kirinyaga Farms, 1981

	Months	J	F	M	A	М	J	J	A	S	0	N	D
Main Staple	Maize										Ī		
Substitutes	Green Maize	-	1							ſ			
	Bananas												
	Sweet Potatoes										:=:		
Main Relish	Beans								1	****			
Substitutes	Green Beans											-	
	Cowpea Leaves											1	
	Pigeon Peas												
	Cowpeas												

Source: Informal survey.

out of maize and beans in "most years" or "some years". The situation is even more precarious with respect to beans.

Long rains maize is harvested in August and September and in most years, the quantity harvested is sufficient to last until the short rains harvest in February. However, short rains maize production is meager and supplies are often exhausted well before long rains green maize is ready for harvest in late June or July. For example, in 1981, about one-half of the farmers in both income groups ran out of maize before green maize _____

was rea

running

are not

family.

than is

Thi

farmers

the farr

short ra

ever, th

for maiz

late Mar

Pigeon p

In

and bean

percent

long rai

short ra

third of

had sold

^{exhaus}ti

to low 1

demands

How

and beans

^{they} purc

food subs

-

was ready; April and May were the most frequently mentioned months for running out. The principal maize substitutes, bananas and sweet potatoes, are not in reliable enough supply to ensure an adequate diet for the family. Besides, they are considered to be far less acceptable as food than is maize.

The supply of beans more or less parallels that of maize. Few farmers run out after the ample long rains harvest, but over one-half of the farmers in both income groups exhausted their supplies after the short rains harvest in 1981, before green beans were ready in June. However, the availability of substitutes for beans is somewhat better than for maize. Cowpea leaves are always available soon after planting in late March-early April, and reliable supplies last up to three months. Pigeon peas and cowpeas may also be available.

In addition to being the area's most important food crops; maize and beans are also important sources of cash for many farmers. About 60 percent of the farmers in both groups sold maize and beans following the long rains, 1981 harvest and 40 percent sold following the previous short rains harvest. The survey data also show that approximately onethird of the low income farmers and one-fifth of the high income farmers had sold produce from their home stock before running out. Thus, exhausting home-produced food supplies is not simply a problem related to low levels of production; rather, it is exacerbated by competing demands from the household for cash.

How do farmers manage to secure food when home supplies of maize and beans are exhausted? Over 90 percent in both groups stated that they purchased maize and beans; obtaining food from relatives or eating food substitutes were mentioned by less than one-third of the farmers.

Sources of Cash for Purchasing Maize when Supplies of Home Stocks Were Last Exhausted, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981^a

<u></u>	High Income	e Households	Low Income Households		
Sources	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	
Casual labor	3	(9%)	24	(56%)	
Livestock sales	11	(32%)	16	(37%)	
Off-farm salaries and businesses	21	(62%)	6	(14%)	
Sell cowpea leaves	7	(20%)	1	(2%)	
Other	5	(15%)	8	(19%)	

^aMany farmers named more than one source. Therefore, percentages do not sum to 100.

Source: Survey data.

Table 4.9 shows that high income farmers relied primarily on cash from off-farm jobs and businesses for purchasing maize and beans, whereas low income farmers obtain cash from casual labor, primarily weeding. Both groups also sell livestock in order to purchase food.

The most difficult time for food supplies then is the three to four months before the long rains harvest. Both income groups are hurt when they run out of food; high income farmers are affected because they often live outside the area, where maize and beans are expensive or not even available. Low income farmers suffer even more--they are forced to search for casual labor which may not be available, and to disinvest from a tiny stock of cattle, sheep, goats and poultry. Stabilizing food supplies is a crucial priority to all farmers in Middle Kirinyaga, hence our emphasis on the two major food staples in this study.

4.4. Resource Use and System Constraints

4.4.1. Land

Land Tenure, the Land Market and Land Constraints

As a result of land adjudication in the late 1950's and early 1960's, land tenure in Middle Kirinyaga is quite secure and land disputes are few. Land titles are available for a small fee from the District Land Office, but most farmers do not bother to obtain them. When a farmer subdivides his land among children or other relatives, he rarely legitimizes the subdivision with the government. However, the government stipulates that all land sales and purchases be officially approved and this law is strictly adhered to.

An active rental market exists for land in Middle Kirinyaga; fees range from 250 to 400 Shs. per ha. per season. During the long rains season, 1981, 31 percent of the high income farmers rented land whereas only 6 percent of the low income farmers did so. The principal reason for not renting land, among low income farmers, was lack of cash, which is needed to pay for rent, plowing and seeds. High income farmers not renting land cited lack of labor or lack of desire to increase their cultivated area. Fourteen percent of the low income farmers and ll percent of the high income farmers rented land out to other farmers. Most farmers felt it was easy to both rent in land and rent out land in their area. Although farm size is small, the land constraint does not appear to be particularly severe for most of the farmers in either income group. The rental market appears to be competitive and finding land to rent is fairly easy. Moreover, 90 percent of the farmers in both groups expressed a preference for using scarce cash to invest in their existing farms rather then renting out land.

However, there appear to be two important trends in the system which point towards a serious land constraint in the near future for low income households. First, they have a greater tendency to subdivide their farms among relatives; 69 percent of the sample low income farmers were living on a farm which had been subdivided whereas the corresponding number for high income farmers was only 51 percent. Low income farmers are less able to send their children to secondary school or secure jobs for them; hence, the children remain on the land and are given pieces to manage themselves.

Second, and perhaps even more ominous, is the sale of land from low income farmers to high income farmers as shown in Table 4.10. Thirty percent of the high income farmers have bought land whereas only one low income farmer had done so. The sales trend is reversed, with 13 percent of the low income farmers having sold land and only 5 percent of the high income farmers having done so. These latter figures are probably biased downwards since farmers who have sold all of their land are obviously not included. Moreover, the sale of land is an extremely sensitive issue and it is likely that some of the sample farmers had sold land but declined to give this information.

Farmers	Who	Have	Bought	and	Sold	Land,
	Mide	dle Ki	irinyaga	a, 19	981	

	High I	ncome Farmers	Low In	icome Farm	iers
Bought land	9	(23%)	1	(1%)	
Sold land	2	(5%)	6	(13%)	
Neither bought nor sold land	28	(72%)	41	(85%)	
Total	39	(100%)	48	(100%)	

Source: Survey data.

Land prices range from 25,000 to 40,000 Shs. per hectare and are increasing rapidly. The buyers are generally speculators¹ or landless urbanites who desire land for their families. The actual value of the land has little relationship with its productive value. For example, the present value of an annual rental fee of 400 Shillings per hectare paid annually, assuming a 20 percent interest rate, is only 2,000 Shillings or one-twentieth of the actual price of a hectare of land. The difference represents the non-pecuniary importance associated with land ownership, per se, as opposed to temporary control over the production of the land.

Poor rural families with small farms are obviously hesitant to sell their land. However, the temptation for selling is high given that the price per hectare is over ten times the government's minimum annual wage

¹The government has forbidden companies whose purposes are speculative from purchasing land in the area.

in the area. Recently, the Lands Department began to review land transactions to prevent land sales from poor household heads who cannot show how they will support their families.

Soil Fertility and Structure

Although land area, per se, is not an important constraint, soil fertility and structure are extremely limiting constraints on nearly all farms in Middle Kirinyaga. Until the late 1950's, the area was used almost exclusively for cattle grazing. When farmers began cultivating in the early 1960's, they found the deep, loam soils to be highly productive. But most farmers have now cultivated the same land for 10 to 20 years continuously, growing intercropped maize and beans twice per year without fallow, rotation or fertilizer. Thus, the fertility of the soil has become increasingly exhausted. Continous cultivation has also had a severe impact on soil structure. A well-structured soil retains moisture well and this is particularly important in Middle Kirinyaga given the brevity of the rainy season. Thus, following an early end to the rains, crops on well-structured soils may have adequate yields while crops fail on poorly-structured soils.

Poor soil fertility and inadequate moisture retaining capacity are perceived problems; many farmers claim that they are the main causes of low yields on their farms. Many farmers apply cattle manure to their soils but the quantities used are generally insignificant.

4.4.2. Labor

Labor Use, Peak Season Labor and the Labor Market

High income families have about seven persons per household, whereas low income farmers have 5.5, as shown in Table 4.11.¹ The composition of families is similar for the two groups; families consist of 1 adult male, 1.5 adult females and 3 to 4 children.

High income families have 3.6 full-time adult equivalents available for working on their farms, whereas low income families have only 2.5, as shown in Table 4.11. However, low income families have smaller farms, so adult-equivalents per ha. cultivated are roughly equal for the two groups: 1.6 and 1.8. Females provide most of the available workforce in both groups; twice as many full-time farm workers are female as male.

Division of labor along sexual lines is pronounced though there is some degree of flexibility for each task. Men have primary responsibility for plowing, planting tree crops and looking after the livestock. Women plant annual crops, weed, harvest, conduct post-harvest operations, and milk the cows. Most of the marketing is done by women, though men are also involved in making marketing decisions. Both sexes sell out farm labor for hire.

Table 4.12 shows that there is almost unanimous agreement among farmers of both groups that April and May, the period of weeding maize and beans, is the busiest period of the year. About 15 percent of the farms in each group cited planting in March and April as their busiest

¹According to the 1979 census, average family size in Middle Kirinyaga is 5.5 [Government of Kenya, 1981].

Table 4	1.1	1
---------	-----	---

Household Composition and Workers Available for Farm Work per Household, Hiddle Kirinyaga, 1981

	High Income Group			Low Income Group			
	Persons Living in Household	Persons Available for Work	Full-time Adult Equivalents ^a	Persons Living in Household	Persons Available for Work	Full-time Adult Equivalents ^a	
Full-time							
Men Women Children 10-15 years Children under	1.1 1.5 2 1 2.3	0.6 1.3 0.0	0.6 1.3 0.0 0.0	1.1 1.4 1.3 1.7	0.6 1.2 0.0 0.0	0.6 1.2 0.0 0.0	
				n)			
Part-time							
Men Women Children under 15 years	- - -	1.0 - 0.9 2.7	0.5 0.4 0.7		0.3 0.4 1.8	0.15 0.2 0.45	
Total		•	3.6		-	2.5	
Full-time adult equivalent/ha. cult.			1.63		-	1.78	

^a It is assumed that a part-time worker provides one-nalf as much labor as a full-time worker and that a child under 15 provides one-half as much labor as an adult. Primary education is compulsory in the area; thus, no children are available for full-time work.

.

Source: Survey data.

Farmers' Opinions on Their Busiest Months and Activities During Their Busiest Months, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981

	High Income Group		Low I Gro	ncome up	
	Farmers	Percent	Farmers	Percent	
Busiest Month and Activity					
April-May, weeding maize and beans	31	(82%)	37	(79%)	
March-April, planting maize and beans	6	(17%)	7	(15%)	
Other	1	(3%)	3	(6%)	
Second Busiest Months					
OctNov., weeding maize and beans	15	(45%)	22	(50%)	
AugSept., harvesting maize and beans	9	(27%)	10	(23%)	
OctNov., planting maize and beans	0		9	(20%)	
March-April, planting maize and beans	2	(6%)	3	(7%)	
Other	7	(21%)	0		

Source: Survey data.

activity; these were farmers who planted by hand as opposed to planting with oxen. The second busiest time for most farmers was short rains weeding; other farmers cited long rains harvesting or short rains planting.

An active labor market exists in Middle Kirinyaga and high income farmers hire labor much more frequently than do low income farmers.

Use and Cost of Hired Labor Among Farmers in Niddle Kirinyaga, 1981^a

	High	Income Group	Low Income Group			
	% Using	Average Shillings Paid Per Household	% Using	Average Shillings Paid Per Household		
None	26	-	83†	-		
Casual labor	74	393	17+	37*		
Permanent labor	24	545	0+	0*		
Total		938		37*		

^aThe data do not include the hiring of ox-plow teams to plow land. Asterisks (*) denote significant differences between income groups using t-test ($\alpha = .05$). Crosses (†) denote significant differences between income groups using Chi-square test ($\alpha = .05$).

Source: Survey data.

Table 4.13 shows that 74 percent of high income farmers hire labor while only 17 percent of the low income farmers do. Long rains hirings were almost twice as high in value as were short rains hirings and over 70 percent of the hirings in both season were for weeding maize and beans. Most hired workers are paid for on piece-rate basis. Daily wages range from 10 to 15 Shillings per day but many workers are able to earn even more than this on piece-rate wages.

The supply of labor appears to be more than adequate to meet the demand for hired labor as three-quarters of the farmers hiring labor said that it was easy to find workers when they needed them. About
one-half of the farmers selling labor say they sometimes have difficulty finding work; they cite the harvesting season as the most difficult time. Few had difficulty finding work during the weeding season.

About one-quarter of the high income households employ permanent laborers, usually one per household. Permanent laborers are generally hired from outside the survey area and wages are about 200 Shs. per month, plus room and board.

Labor: A Constraint to Developing the System?

Numerous studies in both Kenya and other African countries have pointed to the importance of the labor constraint and particularly peakseason labor as being a critical constraint on increasing production (Gathee, 1980; Rukendema, Mavua and Audi, 1981; Eicher and Baker, 1982). However, we reached the opposite conclusion in Middle Kirinyaga; labor is not a particularly important limiting factor. Three findings illustrate this point.

First, improving the efficiency of labor or increasing its supply will not increase the area cultivated. Except in a few exceptional cases, farmers are not prevented from cultivating more land because they lack labor. Table 4.1 shows that low income farmers cultivate nearly all of their own land and in fact, much of their uncultivated land is not arable. Few low income farmers rent in land but their principal reasons for not doing so are that they lack cash, not labor.

About 40 percent of the high income farmers rent in land. Satisfaction with their present farm size,¹ not lack of labor, is what keeps

¹The response to the question, "why not rent land," was frequently, "I have enough land now." This can best be interpreted as "there are better things I can do with my available resources than renting land."

most of those not renting out of the rental market. Further, those farmers in both groups who are renting out land are not doing so because they lack labor, but primarily because they have an urgent cash need or do not have enough cash to farm their land. Only three of ten farmers renting out land cited lack of labor as a reason for renting out land.

Second, improving the efficiency of labor or increasing labor supply during the peak period would not appreciably increase output. The principal activity during the peak period, weeding, is completed with a high level of efficiency. During our informal survey, which was conducted during the weeding season, we noticed that most fields were quite clean and that it was not likely that poor or untimely weeding had caused a significant drop in yield. Indeed, over three-quarters of the low income farmers and nine-tenths of the high income farmers felt that they had the resources to do their required weeding.

Third, farmers themselves do not place a high priority on reducing their peak season labor bottleneck or improving their overall weeding efficiency. For example, we asked farmers how they would spend 200 Shillings if it was given to them in March, the planting month. Only 9 percent of the low income farmers and 14 percent of the high income farmers cited weeding, which is normally done in April and May, as a possible use for the cash.

In conclusion, labor availability does not limit production except in a few households where the land/labor ratio is very high and cash for hiring labor is lacking.

4.4.3. Cash

Both high and low income farmers use relatively few purchased inputs on their farms. Table 4.14 shows that total expenditures on farm production in the 1980-81 year was Shs. 2,947 for high income farmers and Shs. 527 for low income farmers. High income farmers spend cash primarily for hiring labor, a land extensive input, whereas low income farmers spend most of their cash on basic production inputs, e.g., purchasing seed. Purchases of livestock and expenditures on maintaining livestock accounted for about 35 percent of the farm cash expenses for both groups.

The cash constraint prevents many low income farmers from purchasing even the most basic production inputs. For example, 25 percent of the low income farmers did not have enough bean seed for planting in the 1981 long rains; one-half of them accommodated this problem by spreading their bean seed very thinly across their fields while the other one-half concentrated their few seeds on particular fields. Further, 21 percent of the low income farmers were forced to plant a part, or all, of their fields without plowing because they lacked cash to hire a plowing team. On the other hand, all high income farms prepared their fields with plows and had enough bean seed for planting.

Lack of cash was an important reason for not using other "nonessential" purchased inputs, as well. For example, 56 percent of the low income farmers and 27 percent of the high income farmers cited lack of cash as the principal reason for not using fertilizer. Further, 38 percent of the low income farmers and 12 percent of the high income farmers claimed they did not use hybrid maize seed because they lacked cash. It should be noted that "lack cash" is often a catch-all reason

Table 4.14

Farm Expenditures of High and Low Income Farmers, Middle Kirinyaga, September, 1980-August, 1981^a

	High I Farm	ncome ers	Low Far	Income mers
	Shs.	Percent	Shs.	Percent
Cash Income	17,551		2,993*	
Expenditure				
Crop inputs ^b	432	15%	193*	37%
Hired labor	938	32%	37*	7%
Renting plow	433	15%	101*	19%
Livestock purchases	628	21%	93*	18%
Livestock expenses	422	14%	89*	17%
Renting land	94	3%	14*	2%
Total	2,947	100%	527*	100%
Agricultural expenditure/ income		17%		18%

^aAsterisk (*) denotes significant difference between income groups using T-test ($\alpha = .05$).

^bDoes not include tobacco inputs, which are received on credit by 6 high income farmers.

Source: Survey data.

which farmers give when they want to transfer blame for non-adoption from the technology itself to themselves. This will be discussed further in Chapter 7. However, not withstanding this point, it seems apparent that "lack cash" is an important reason for non-adoption of purchased inputs.

The most difficult time for cash for low income farmers is March through May, as shown in Table 4.15. Their most important cash need

р g e; C۲ fa Se

Th

Table 4.15

Most Difficult Months of the Year for Cash, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981^a

High Inc	come Farmers	Low Inc	ome Farmers
Month	% of Farmers	Month	% of Farmers
May	47	May	40
January	44	April	38
April	37	March	30
September	25	November	24

^aFarmers were permitted to name more than one month as being their most difficult. Hence percentages do not sum to 100.

Source: Survey data.

at this time is for purchasing food; other needs include paying school fees and local <u>harambee</u> taxes. For high income farmers, the most difficult months for cash are January, May, and September, the months when secondary school fees are due. April is also important because of plowing, seed, and weeding expenses.

Table 4.14 shows that total farm expenditures make up the same proportion of total cash income, 17 to 18 percent, for both income groups. This is somewhat surprising; however, two observations help explain why this is so. First, the 1930-81 year was a poor year for crops; thus income from crops was depressed. However, low income farmers must spend a certain amount of cash, especially for purchasing seed and hiring ox-plows, merely to maintain their productive capacity. This helps explain why their expenses, relative to their incomes, are as high as they are. Second, high income farmers appear to be averse to spending money on their farms and in particular, their crops; they prefer to invest a larger percentage of their income in their off-farm enterprises, which they feel are more profitable. This helps explain why the farm cash expenses of high income farmers are so low.

Indeed, the spending preferences of both groups of farmers appear to be oriented away from agriculture and in particular, away from crop production. Beyond spending a minimum on seed and plowing, low income farmers are not willing and/or are unable to invest in their farms. How do they prefer to spend their scarce cash? Survey data shows that 76 percent claimed that it was more important to spend money educating their children than to invest in their farms. Spending preferences are explored in greater detail in Table 4.16, which shows the responses to an open-ended question on how farmers would spend an extra 200 Shillings if it were given to them in March, the planting month. It should be noted that responses are likely to be biased towards agricultural uses for two reasons: (1) because the question concerned cash needs at a time when agricultural expenses are very demanding, and (2) because respondents were aware that the survey was being administered by representatives of the Ministry of Agriculture. Nonetheless, the number of low income farmers who indicated they would spend the cash on agricultural pursuits was surprisingly low, only 44 percent. Predictably, seed was their biggest concern. A further 44 percent said they would keep the cash "for security" or invest in small livestock, ostensibly for the same purpose. A further 19 percent would use the cash for consumption or other non-farm purposes. The spending preferences of

112

Т	ab	1	e	4		1	6
•		•	-	•	•	•	-

	Low	Income	Hig	h Income
	Farmers	Percentage	Farmers	Percentage
Security				
Goat, Sheep, Poultry Keep the cash for security	9 10	(21%) (23%)	6 5	(17%) (14%)
Total	19	(44%)	11	(30%)
Agriculture				
Weeding Seed Insecticide/Fertilizer Plowing/Planting Other	4 7 4 2 3	(9%) (16%) (9%) (5%) (7%)	5 3 2 7 2	(14%) (8%) (6%) (19%) (5%)
Total	17	(39%)	18	(50%)
Non-farm				
Household consumption Other	5 3	(12%) (7%)	3 6	(8%) (17%)
Total	8	(19%)	9	(25%)
Total Farmers	43	(100%)	36	(100%)

How Farmers Would Spend an Extra 200 Shs. if They Received It at Planting Time (March), Middle Kirinyaga, 1981

^aFarmers were permitted to select more than one item, therefore percentages do not sum to 100 percent.

Source: Survey data.

high income farmers do not appear to differ greatly from those of low income farmers.

In conclusion, the cash constraint affects each of the two groups in a somewhat different manner. Low income farmers often lack cash for the most basic of inputs--indigenous seed and hiring plows--much less for other improvements such as improved seed and fertilizer. Cash expenses are not high in an absolute sense; however, they come at a time when food is scarce and farmers' cash balances are particularly unfavorable. Further, their priorities in spending cash are directed more towards security and education than towards agriculture. For high income farmers, the cash constraint is much less binding. They are able to provide basic production inputs--seed, plowing and even hired labor for weeding and a grade cow to provide milk for home consumption--but most are reluctant to spend additional cash for improving their farms. They appear to be more interested in investments off the farm and in education, since their greatest source of income is from off-farm sources. Moreover, since about 40 percent of the household heads actually live away from the farm it is doubtful that they take farm investment very seriously. Thus whereas low income farmers are averse to investing in agriculture because they lack the resources, high income farmers avoid investing in agriculture because they feel opportunities are better elsewhere.

4.4.4. Access to Draught Power

Most farmers in Middle Kirinyaga prefer to plow and plant their maize and beans in a single operation: they broadcast their beans, open up furrows with a moldboard plow, and plant their maize seed in lines in the furrows. As the plow opens up a furrow the maize and bean seeds in the adjacent furrow are covered.

Tractors and hoes (<u>jembes</u>) are rarely used for land preparation. Tractors are few and most farmers dislike them because they compact the soil, thus sharply curtailing the soil's capacity to retain moisture. Hoes are used for preparing land only in small swampy portions of fields

where plowing is not possible. Farmers who are unable to plow their fields, because they lack access to oxen or the cash to hire them, plant their maize and beans with a machete (panga) without first preparing the land.¹ However, they dislike planting in unprepared soil, citing decreased ability of the soil to retain moisture, more weed problems, and slower crop growth.

Most farmers in Middle Kirinyaga prefer to plant their long rains crops as soon as the rain begins, usually in mid-March. Thus, this is the time when ox-plow teams are in greatest demand. Plow teams are generally made up of four oxen, a driver, and another person to keep the oxen in line. The teams plow about 0.4 ha. per day, working for about 4-5 hours. However, if a field is very wet, plowing will take longer and the plow owner may refuse to plow altogether.

Table 4 17 shows that 46 percent of the high income farmers and 27 percent of the low income farmers own ox-plow and oxen. Although high income farmers have the finances to purchase oxen and ox-plows, many feel that hiring teams is a more cost-effective means of getting their fields plowed. Hiring a plow team costs the same during both the long rains and short rains, 120 Shs. per acre (0.4 ha.) plus about 20 Shs. worth of refreshments. Nearly all high income farmers, but only half of low income farmers, own oxen and plows or had cash for hiring them.

Table 4.18 shows that most farmers not owning oxen were unable to get their fields plowed during their desired period--before the rains,

¹Oddly enough, the hoe is the traditional tool for land preparation among the Kikuyu. For Middle Kirinyaga farmers, the incremental returns associated with hoe cultivation apparently do not compensate for the costs, particularly in terms of drudgery.

Tab	le	4.	1	7
			•	•

Ownership of Oxen and Ox Plows, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981

	High Inc	come Farmers	Low Inco	me Farmers
	Numbers	Percentage	Numbers	Percentage
Own oxen and plow	17	(43%)	13	(27%)
Own a plow and no oxen	8	(20%)	2	(4%)
Own neither	14	(36%)	33	(69%)
Total farmers	39	(100%)	48	(100%)

Source: Survey data.

Table 4.18

Desired Time of Plowing/Planting Compared to Actual Time of Plowing/Planting for Farmers not Owning Oxen, Middle Kirinyaga, Long Rains Season, 1981^a

	High Inc	come Farmers	Low Inco	ome Farmers
	Numbers	Percentage	Numbers	Percentage
Yes, entire farm plowed when desired	8	(38%)	8	(27%)
Yes, part of farm plowed when desired	4	(19%)	4	(14%)
No, none of farm plowed when desired	9	(43%)	17	(59%)

^aThe "time" of plowing/planting is divided into three periods: before the rains begin, during the first ten days of rainfall and later. Thus, "farm plowed when desired" means the farm was plowed during the period which the farmer desired.

Data for six low income farmers who lacked cash for hiring a plow are not included in the table.

Source: Survey data.

during the first ten days of rain, or later. This problem is especially acute for low income farmers who tend to pay for plowing by providing labor services in place of cash, or rely on relatives who own oxen. They have little leverage for obtaining the oxen when they need them.

In the short rains season, the draught power problem is also precarious. On the demand side, farmers know that due to rainfall risk, they must get their crop in as soon as the rains begin. Many prefer to plant before the rains. On the supply side, many more tractors are available; they come from farms in the Rift Valley, where no short rains crops are grown. Overall, the balance of supply and demand is roughly the same as in the long rains.

It is likely that the difficulties in gaining access to oxen will worsen in the future. Farm size is decreasing, grazing areas are shrinking, and the cattle population is declining. For example, over one-half of the farmers in both groups claimed they had fewer cattle presently then they had had ten years ago; less than one-third said that their number had increased. Nearly all low income farmers and over one-half of the high income farmers cited urgent cash needs as the reasons for the decrease in number of cattle. Other causes, such as cattle deaths, labor shortages, and grazing problems were relatively unimportant. As draught power in Middle Kirinyaga declines, the area planted late will also likely increase, further depressing yield levels.

4.5. Leverage Points in Middle Kirinyaga

As discussed in Chapter 2, the diagnostic survey is characterized by a sequential approach to data collection in which each stage is increasingly focused on more specific priority problems. Here, we

present the focii, or leverage points, we developed in the informal survey in Middle Kirinyaga.

As stated in Section 2.2, leverage points are points in the system where there is scope for increasing productivity in ways that are likely to be acceptable and feasible for farmers. The three principal leverage points we identified in the informal survey are:

1. Method and timing of land preparation and planting. Most farmers, particularly low income farmers, are unable to get their fields plowed when desired. Thus, they are unable to take full advantage of the brief period of rainfall available.

2. Soil fertility and structure. Most farmers cultivate continuously, twice per year, with no rotation and no fertilizer or manure.

3. Maize variety. Farmers frequently exhaust their home supplies of maize, their principal food staple. Maize varieties recommended by the Ministry of Agriculture are not widely used.

All three leverage points are relevant to both income groups; however, it is important to maintain the distinction between income groups because solutions relevant to one group may not be relevant to the other group.

The discussion of short rains management is much briefer than the discussion of long rains management for three reasons. First, short rains management was not given much priority for planning experimentation, because the high probability of low rainfall sharply reduces the potential for developing improvements to help farmers. Second, the survey took place during the long rains season. Therefore, the quality of data on short rains management is much lower because the recall

period was much longer and because we were not able to use observations to support our findings. Third, it appears that maize and bean management in the short rains closely mirrors management in the long rains.

We focus on maize and beans for several reasons. First, stabilizing food supplies is a key objective of Middle Kirinyaga farmers and maize and beans are the two most important food crops from a production and consumption standpoint. Second, government policy strongly promotes the local production of maize and beans to substitute for imported maize and beans. Third, as noted in Chapter 2, farmers change in small steps, and it is thus more likely that research services can help by assisting farmers to improve the crops they are currently growing, rather than introducing new ones. Fourth, yield levels for maize and beans are fairly low and there is much potential for substantially increasing them.

We emphasize maize somewhat more than beans in Chapter 5 for three reasons. First, it is evident that maize is a much more important foodstuff to farmers in Middle Kirinyaga than are beans. Second, no ready consumer substitutes are available for maize while several exist for beans. Third, government policy places more emphasis on increasing maize production (Government of Kenya, 1982).

In the following chapter we analyze farmer practices at the leverage points. In Chapter 6, we propose solutions to farmers' problems which are likely to increase productivity and be acceptable and feasible to farmers.

CHAPTER 5

ANALYSIS OF SELECTED MAIZE AND BEAN PRACTICES

The purpose of this chapter is to analyze farmers' practices concerning identified leverage points as a basis for proposing experiments in the following chapter. At several of these leverage points, we use repertory grids and/or hierarchical decision tree models to aid in developing an understanding of selected farmer decisions. Furthermore, we elaborate on several practices not related to the priority areas, e.g., weeding, harvesting, and plant protection. It is important to document these practices because they comprise the nonexperimental variables in our experimental program. In experiments to formulate recommendations for farmers, we fix the non-experimental variables at farmers' levels, so that the response to the experimental variable approximates the response the farmer will obtain.

The three principal leverage points identified in the informal survey are: (1) the method and timing of land preparation/planting, (2) maize varieties, and (3) soil fertility and structure. In this chapter, we highlight the first two areas because farmer practices at these points are particularly complex and, at first, baffling. For example, there were several different land preparation and planting methods and planting times, for which the rationale was not clear. Concerning maize varieties, most farmers grow at least two of the five available varieties and the reasons for accepting or rejecting any

particular one were quite varied. On the other hand, farmer practices and attitudes concerning soil fertility and structure were fairly uniform and relatively simple to explain.

5.1. Long Rains Management

5.1.1. Maize Variety Choice

Embu Agricultural Research Station has carried out extensive work on maize varieties both on-station and at various sites within Middle Kirinyaga. In the long rains, H-511, a 150-day hybrid, is recommended north of the Embu-Sagana Road (see Map 1), and Katumani, a 120-day composite, is recommended south of the road. In fact, the border is somewhat arbitrary and both varities have been found to perform about equally well at sites throughout Middle Kirinyaga.

Farmers in both income groups have experimented considerably with available maize varieties.¹ High income farmers have tried an average of 3.7 different varieties, and low income farmers have tried 2.6 varieties. The average farmer in both groups grows 1.9 different varieties. These figures clearly refute the often-heard maxim in the area that small farmers are "conservative" and refuse to try varieties other than their own traditional variety, called "Local."²

¹We were greatly impressed by the amount of experimenting farmers did with varities. One farmer we found was growing a field of pure, purple maize--he had managed to select out a parent of H-512, a purple variety from South America. He liked this variety because of its milling quality and because chickens did not eat the maize, they mistook it for beans!

²"Local," also called <u>Kikuyu</u> or <u>Muratha</u>, is actually a mixture of local and second generation hybrids. Nevertheless, local has readily definable characteristics which are recognizable to the farmer, e.g., thicker husk cover, better storing qualities and longer maturity period (about 165 days) than H-511.

Table 5.1 summarizes information on variety use in Middle Kirinyaga. Local is the most important variety, grown by 59 percent of the high income farmers and 77 percent of the low income farmers. Katumani is grown by one-half of the high income farmers and two-thirds of the low income farmers but the total area per farm for both groups is very small, one-third of the area per farm under Local. H-511 and a similar hybrid, H-512, are grown by 36 percent of the high income farmers but only 8 percent of the low income farmers. Twenty to 30 percent of both groups grow second-generation hybrids.¹

Table 5.1 also shows "rejection" rates, that is, the percentage of farmers who have tried a variety in past years but are not presently planting it. Four varieties, H-512, Katumani, Local and H-511, have each been rejected by over 25 percent of the farmers. Two varieties, H-511 and Local, have been tried and rejected by at least 20 percent of the low income farmers.

What accounts for the complex pattern of variety use, acceptance and rejection, and the area allocated to each variety in Middle Kirinyaga? The repertory grid presented in Table 5.2 shows farmers' ratings of five varieties across eight criteria.² Farmers were asked to evaluate only varieties which they were currently growing or had grown in the past. Column 1 shows evaluations on earliness of maturity. As expected, Katumani is rated the best and Local the worst. Column 2

¹Second generation hybrid seed is seed originating from a field of hybrid seed. Second generation seed has very heterogenous characteristics and has lower yield potential than first generation hybrid seed.

²There were few significant differences between the evaluations of high income farmers and low income farmers. Therefore, data are aggregated across income groups for convenience of presentation.

_
•
5
ð
_
P
6
<u> </u>

Maize Varieties Grown in the Long Rains Season, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981

		Hig	h Income	Famers				Low	Income 1	armers	ļ	
Variety	Percent	Percent Farmers		Area	(ha) ^a		Percent	Percent Farmers Triod and		Are	a (ha) ^a	
	Planting	kejected in Past Years	Pure Area	Mixed Area	Tc Area-e	otal equivalent	Planting t	Rejected in Past Years	Pure Area	Mixed Area	Tc Area-e	otal quivalent
Local	59	28	24	14	30	(41%)	77	19	28	16	33	(21%)
Katumani	49	31	9	12	10	(14%)	69	8	Ξ	13	16	(26%)
Н-511	28	28	13	-	13	(18%)	8	12	2	0	2	(3%)
H-512	15	41	e	0	e	(4%)	2	12	0	0	-	(3%)
Second generation hybrid	28	8	Ξ	13	15	(21%)	21	ę	6	10	12	(18%)
Other	8	31	-	-	-	(1%)	9	4	-	-	-	(%0)
Total			57	14	12	(100%)			50	16	65	
^a "Pure" refers t	o an area o	irown to a si	ngle var	ietv of m	aize. w	hich mav	or may no	ot be intercr	opped wi	th anoth	er crop	such as

beans. "Mixed" means two or more maize varieties are mixed together in the field. Where data on seed rates were available on mixed fields, the areas planted to each variety were extrapolated and the figures are included under "Pure". Total is calculated by adding "Pure" plus one-hulf or one-third of "mixed" depending on whether the mixture is of two or three varieties.

Source: Survey data.

Table 5.2

Repertory Grid Showing Farmers' Ratings of Selected Maize Varieties Across Criteria They Consider Important, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981^a

.

.

	Ĕ	arline	255	Res	istan to Dog Damage	9	(Su Ra	Yield ffici infal	ent 1)	Rai	rield (Low infal	(1	Profi	tabil	ity	Resis Weevi in	tance I Dan Field	to lage	Sto Wi	thout	e s	Stor V	eable ith nicals	
Varieties/Ratings	-	2	۳ ۱	-	5	n l	-	2	. "	-	2		-	2	۳ ۱	-	2	3	-	2	ŝ	-	2	, m
Local	4	29	40	63	15	0	32	39	9	(Number 3	- of 46	Farmer 29	s) 33	43	6	67	9	-	55	17	2	21	0	, m
Katumani	61	e	2	80	12	51	4	29	39	64	9	e	e	16	50	5	23	42	0	Ξ	60	20	0	6
Н-511	11	18	4	26	7	e	25	8	-	6	16	7	19	10	e	2	12	19	-	7	25	18	0	S
H-512	'n	17	e	19	5	0	23	4.	0	3	15	8	15	6	-	0	Ξ	15	0	4	22	10	0	2
Second generation hybrids	8	23		33	9	-	30	Ξ	0	6	24	7	27	6	2	6	18	11	m	11	23	13	0	ŝ
^d Datinos are as	follow		500 =	0	e fair	" "	Door																	

poor. n raır, V , pooų _ **"Ratings are** as follows:

Source: Survey data.

shows the susceptibility of varieties to damage by dogs. Katumani is the only susceptible variety; it is ready early, its stalks are relatively short and thin, and its ears are close to the ground. Thus, it is easy for dogs to tear down the stalk to get at the ears.

Yield ratings are presented in Columns 3 and 4. Hybrid varieties have the highest yield ratings for seasons of sufficient rainfall, and, surprisingly, second generation hybrid receives as many high ratings as first generation hybrids.¹ Local also receives high marks by many farmers but has a few more "fair" than "good" ratings. Katumani is clearly the lowest rated variety. However for seasons of low rainfall, Katumani receives almost unanimous "good" ratings whereas other varieties receive mostly fair or poor ratings. Curiously, farmers' own opinions that Katumani yields less than Local in seasons of sufficient rainfall are contrary to research trial results. It is likely that a difference between researcher and farmer practice concerning plant population, soil fertility, or intercropping accounts for this. Also, some farmers feel that there is no difference in yield between the hybrids and their own variety. Once again, differences in one or more of the above management variables may have caused different outcomes between farmers' own experience and research trials.

Ratings on profitability, weevil damage and storing with and without chemicals are presented in Columns 5 to 8. Profitability ratings pertain

¹Many farmers planting second generation hybrid have never tried hybrid varieties and many hybrid planters have never planted second generation hybrid seed. Therefore, the results do not imply that <u>most</u> farmers believe that hybrids and second generation hybrids give similar yields. However, a substantial percentage of farmers, approximately one-quarter, claimed that the yields are similar.

to yield in sufficient rainfall, with the hybrids highest and Katumani lowest. Katumani and the hybrids are very susceptible to weevil damage in the field, whereas Local has no weevil problem. Farmers noted that, in the field, Katumani and hybrid ears are often exposed whereas Local has uniformly well covered husks; the results on storing without using chemicals are very similar to those for weevil damage in the field. Katumani is by far the worst and the hybrids also rate poorly, whereas Local stores very well without chemicals. The last column shows that most farmers do not have problems storing maize with chemicals, but where problems occur they are most likely to be with Katumani.

The grids thus show the favorable and unfavorable aspects of each variety from the farmers' point of view. However, the repertory grid tells us nothing about the trade-offs which farmers make among objectives, nor about the resource constraints or chance occurrences which may prevent them from carrying out their intentions. We therefore decided to build hierarchical decision tree models (HDM) of the variety choice process in order to develop an understanding of the reasons farmers had for selecting the varieties they do. The informal survey showed that farmers actually make two separate decisions on maize varieties:

1. Which variety, if any, to grow for early maize. Because pre-harvest food shortages are so critical in the system, most farmers are interested in planting a variety which is ready early. The area allocated to this variety for this purpose is normally 0.4 ha. (1 acre) or less.

2. Which variety to grow for the main stock of maize. The main stock is stored and is used for consumption and periodic

co	
va	
1	
Se	
Gr	
in	
wh	
gra	
the	
oth	
supr	
to g	
prop	
sourc	
food.	
l	
betwee	
Princi	

L

sales whenever cash is needed. The area for the main stock is residual, generally 1 to 2 ha.

HDM's were developed to model three decisions on variety use, one concerning the variety to grow for early maize and two concerning the variety to grow for the main stock:

1. Grow Katumani for early maize

2. Grow H-511/H-512 for main stock of maize

3. Grow Katumani for main stock of maize

These three decisions are discussed in detail in the following sections.

Grow Katumani for Early Maize

Over two-thirds of low income farmers and just under half of high income farmers grow Katumani for early maize, as shown in Table 5.3, which summarizes the decision tree in Figure 5.1. Those farmers not growing Katumani for early maize cite low yield, damage by dogs, or their own disinterest in early maize.

Even though Katumani is perceived to be much lower yielding than other available varieties, the fear of exhausting home-produced food supplies before harvest time is so high that most farmers are willing to grow at least some Katumani. Low income farmers have more of a propensity to grow Katumani for early maize because they lack regular sources of income, and thus have the most to fear if they run out of food.

Planting Katumani makes sense for high income farmers also; between August, when Katumani is ready to harvest, and September, the principal month for harvesting, maize prices typically fall 20-30 percent Table 5.3

Farmers' Decisions on Whether or Not to Grow Katumani for Early Maize and for Main Stock: Reasons for Rejecting and Accepting, Hiddle Kirinyaga, 1981^a

		Decision (to Grow K	atumani f	or Early	Maize	C	ecision to	6 Grow Kai	tumani for	- Main St	ock
	High Far	l ncome mers	Far	l ncome mers	Lo Lo	tal	High	Income mers	Low Far	l ncome mers	- 1	otal
	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent
Rejectors' Reasons for not growing:												
Not interested in earliness	E	(82)	0		e	(81)	•		•		,	
Have better early variety	2	(51)	2	(42)	ষ	(29)	ı		·		ı	
Low yield	9	(162)	4	(81)	10	(111)	11	(432)	18	(371)	35	(401)
Dog damage	-	(101)	5	(101)	6	(201)	9	(151)	4	(8%)	10	(111)
Storage difficulty	2	(22)	0		2	(31)	4	(181)	10	(111)	11	(30%)
Other ^b	4	(101)	5	(101)	6	(111)	2	(29)	4	(85)	9	(1.1.)
Subtotal	12	(23X)	16	(33%)	37	(421)	32	(82%)	36	(15:)	68	(18.)
Adoptors' Reasons for Growing												
Good for early maize	18	(47%)	32	(672)	50	(21%)	•		•		,	
Good for main stock	ı		•				e	(8Z)	9	(121)	6	(10.)
Good because am planting late	ı		•		ı		e	(81)	E	(91)	9	(11)
Other	0		0		0	(20)	-	(32)	3	(29)	4	(4.5)
Subtotal	18	(47%)	32	(672)	50	(27:)	1	(181)	12	(52.)	19	(527)
Total	39	(1001)	48	(2001)	87	(1001)	39	(2001)	48	(2001)	87	(100)
^a Includes all six ca	ses not in	cluded on 1	the trees	in Figur	es 5.1-5	.2. for t	hese cas	es, the fa	rmer gave	e a specif	ic reaso	n for

using Katumani but the information given was inadequate or contradictory. Therefore they are included in the "other" categories under reasons for growing or reasons for not growing.

^DIncludes those who have not made a decision, i.e., do not know enough about Kalumani to make a decision.

Source: Survey data. Summary of Figures 5.1 and 5.2.

.



Figure 5.1 Decision Tree on Whether to Plant Katumani Variety for Early Maize

N=81, 6 cases not included due to inadequacy of data.

as shown in Figure 4.3. It is likely that the cost savings from growing Katumani, in terms of not having to purchase maize during August, outweigh its yield disadvantage. The decision tree shows that only five farmers who had tried Katumani felt that its yield was so low as to outweigh the benefits of earliness. It is significant that all five of those farmers were high income; since they have access to cash for purchasing food whenever necessary, they are less concerned with the benefits of earliness than are low income farmers.

The tree also shows that ten of the farmers who have tried Katumani (11%) are unable to store seed from harvest time until planting time, a period of about three months. However, all ten of these farmers plant Katumani; they borrow seed from other farmers (who presumably use storage insecticide) or purchase commercial seed in stores. Eight of these ten farmers were low income; this lends further support to the finding that low income farmers are strongly committed to growing Katumani.

Grow Katumani for Storage and Sale

Figure 5.2 presents the decision tree on whether or not to grow Katumani for one's main stock of maize. The results are summarized in Table 5.3. Only 25 percent of the low income farmers and 18 percent of the high income farmers plant Katumani for their main stock of maize. Less than half of these farmers are planting Katumani because they think that it is a generally good variety for that purpose. For example, six of the nineteen planted Katumani because they happened to plant very late and were worried that their preferred, late-maturing varieties would not perform well. Others planted Katumani because they wanted to sell



maize quickly at harvest time or because they were prevented from planting their preferred varieties for other reasons.

Table 5.3 also shows that farmers' main reasons for rejecting Katumani are low yield and poor storing. These problems are examined in greater detail:

1. Low Yield. The repertory grid in Table 5.2 showed that nearly all farmers felt that Katumani gave the highest yield during seasons of low rainfall, but that other varieties gave better yields during seasons of sufficient rainfall. Farmers contacted during the informal survey were divided over whether to plant only a variety which does well with sufficient rainfall or whether to supplement this variety with one which does well in low rainfall, presumably to hedge one's risk. There was some tendency for low income farmers to prefer planting varieties for both possible situations whereas high income farmers were evenly split on this issue. In any case, it is clear that farmers who prefer to plant only a variety which does well in sufficient rainfall were not likely to plant Katumani for their main stock of maize. In fact, the tree shows that 14 of 16 farmers preferring varieties for sufficient rainfall did not plant Katumani for their main stock. Further, the tree also shows that 10 of the 35 farmers who had tried Katumani and preferred to plant both types of varieties still rejected Katumani because of its low yields. Thus, it appears that for over half of the farmers--those preferring varieties for sufficient rainfall and those who prefer varieties for both situations but still reject Katumani--the cost of hedging against risk, in terms of lower expected yields, was so high that they rejected Katumani.

During the informal survey, we had hypothesized that more high income farmers than low income farmers would reject Katumani for their main stock because of its low yield. Since low income farmers appear to have more to lose from a crop failure, it seemed reasonable that they would discount the disadvantage of low average yield in favor of the advantage of higher production in years of low rainfall. Moreover, we expected farmers' recent experiences to encourage this tendency since rainfall had been very low in the previous long rains season.

However, the data do not support this hypothesis; nearly the same percentage of farmers in each group, 43 percent of high income farmers and 38 percent of low income farmers, rejected Katumani because of low yield.

2. <u>Poor Storing</u>. About 20 percent of the farmers in both income groups reject Katumani because it does not store well. In the informal survey, farmers indicated that poor storage of Katumani is due to two factors:

(a) Poor husk cover. Some farmers claimed that their weevil problem actually began in the field, because the cobs were exposed, and

(b) Weevil preference for Katumani. Several farmers indicated that when they store Katumani in the same way and in the same store with local, they encounter weevil problems only with Katumani.

About three-quarters of the high income farmers use storage insecticides whereas only one-third of the low income farmers do so.

The repertory grid in Table 5.2 shows that Katumani, unlike Local, keeps poorly without chemicals. Moreover, one-third of those farmers

who had tried, claimed it stored poorly with chemicals. About half of the farmers who rejected Katumani because of poor storage characteristics had not even tried to store it with chemicals; these farmers grow mostly Local, which keeps well without treatment, and they do not want to be bothered by having to treat maize in the store. At first, this appears unreasonable, since the cost of storage chemicals (Malathion 2 percent) is very low, only 6 Shs. to treat 3 bags (270 Kg.). However, farmers were able to keep Katumani only four months on average with a single application of insecticide. Therefore, a second application would be required during weeding season, when cash is most scarce. Thus, many farmers appear to be unwilling to use a variety which requires periodic cash outlays for storage insecticide, especially when there is considerable risk that the application will be ineffective.

It appears that poor storage methods may be partly responsible for farmers' dissatisfaction with the storage quality of Katumani. If the period of the effectiveness of chemicals can be increased to six months, through improved storage practices, farmers will need to buy chemicals only once per season. Assured of their ability to store Katumani and hybrid with only one application, more farmers will adopt them.

Unfortunately, we were unable to identify specific farmer storage practices which need to be changed. For example, we found that only 16 percent of those farmers who had used and then rejected storage insecticide had used one of two selected incorrect methods: applying insecticide to unhusked cobs or not mixing insecticide among cobs. It thus appears that other factors such as unclean stores, contamination from untreated maize, low application rates, low quality insecticide, or late applications may be responsible for the poor performance of some storage insecticide.

Grow Hybrid 511/512 for Main Stock of Maize

Approximately 85 percent of the high income farmers and 40 percent of the low income farmers have tried H-511 or H-512. Presently, 36 percent of the high income farmers and 8 percent of the low income farmers grow hybrids. About one-third of the hybrid growers grow hybrids exclusively, one-third grow mostly hybrid and one-third grow one acre or less. Farmers' reasons for planting or rejecting hybrid 511/512 are explored in the decision tree in Figure 5.3 and are summarized in Table 5.4.¹ The tree is more complex than those for Katumani because farmers' perceptions of hybrid yield performance are more varied than for Katumani. The principal reason why low income farmers do not grow hybrid maize is lack of cash; other important reasons include low yield/no profit, poor storage, and belief that second generation seed gives the same production as new hybrid seed. Those high income farmers not growing hybrid cited poor storage, lack of cash, or that second generation seed gives the same production as new seed.

The tree shows that farmers who have tried hybrids are split into three groups on the question of whether new seed is different than second generation seed. First, about one-quarter believe that there is no differences; these farmers did not plant hybrid except for two who received hybrid seed as a gift. Second, 12 percent believe there is a difference, but note that new seed is superior only because it is treated

¹Since hybrid 511 and 512 have very similar characteristics, both varieties are included in the same decision tree. Separate analysis of the 13 cases of 512-use and 29 cases of 511-use showed no discernible differences in reasons for adoption or rejection. 512 is currently unavailable in Middle Kirinyaga; 511 is recommended over 512 because it has a slightly shorter maturity period and is thus less susceptible to late season drought.



Figure 5.3 Decision Tree on Whether or Not to Grow Hybrid 511/512

Table 5.4

Farmers	Decision	on	Whether or Not to Grow Hybrid 511/512	for
	Main Stock	of	Maize, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981 ^a	

	High Far	Income mers	Low Far	Income mers	Tot	al
	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent
Rejectors' Reasons for not Growing						
Low yield/no profit	3	(8%)	8	(17%)	11	(13%)
Lack cash for seed	6	(15%)	15	(31%)	21	(24%)
Too risky	0		5	(10%)	5	(6%)
Poor storage	7	(18 <u>%</u>)	7	(14%)	14	(16%)
Believe later generations are the same as new seed	5	(13%)	6	(1 2 %)	11	(13%)
Other	4	(10%)	3	(6%)	7	(8))
Subtotal	25	(64%)	44	(92=)	69	(79%)
Adoptors' Reasons for Growing						
Good variety for main stock	8	(20%)	3	(6%)	11	(13१)
Seed is treated	2	(5%)			2	(2%)
Other (gift, trying for first time, etc.)	4	(10%)	1	(2%)	5	(6%)
Subtotal	14	(36%)	4	(8~)	18	(21%)
Total	39	(100%)	48	(100%)	87	(100%)

^aThe case not included on the tree is included in this table for similar reasons for those given in footnote to Table 5.3.

Source: Survey data. Summary of Figure 5.3.

.

with anticide. Ant damage of newly planted seed is a common problem in Middle Kirinyaga. About half of these farmers plant hybrid seed. Third, the remaining 65 percent of those farmers who have tried hybrid seed claim that it gives higher yields than second generation seed. Nearly all of these farmers feel that hybrids give them higher yields in seasons of sufficient rainfall than other available varieties; since all prefer to plant a variety for sufficient rainfall in the long rains, all may be characterized as potential users. This group consists mostly of high income farmers, as many more high income farmers than low income farmers have tried hybrid. The two most important constraints preventing these farmers from adopting hybrid seed are poor storage and lack of cash.

1. <u>Poor storage</u>. Most farmers who have used chemicals on hybrid in the store encountered no problem. Indeed, most of those citing storage problems as the reason for not growing hybrid had never tried insecticide. Their reasoning was similar to many of those who cited storage problems in growing Katumani--they did not want to be bothered with storage risks and costs when they could continue growing Local, which stored without problem from harvest to harvest. However, certain farmers with storage problems still grow some hybrid; they sell and/or consume it soon after harvest.

2. <u>Lack of Cash</u>. Hybrid seed sells for 50 Shs. per 10 Kg. (suitable for 0.4 - 0.8 ha.) and thus represents a substantial investment at planting time. Some farmers are unable to spare cash for purchasing seeds and thus plant an alternative variety such as local, which they may have in their store or which is available at less than half the price of hybrid in the local markets.

The decision tree and summary table also show that only 60 percent of those farmers growing hybrid do so because they feel it is the best variety to grow. The two other principal reasons are because the seed is treated against ants, and because the seed was given to the farmer by a relative.

In summary, farmers in Middle Kirinyaga have extensive exposure to the two recommended long rains varieties, Katumani and Hybrid 511/512, but over two-thirds of the area of both income groups is planted to Local or second generation hybrids. Most farmers, especially low income ones, plant a small area of Katumani, in spite of its low yield, to obtain some early maize. However, few farmers in either group are willing to plant it for their main stock of maize, even though it does well when the rains are insufficient. Low yield, storage, and susceptibility to damage by dogs are the principal reasons for rejecting Katumani. Hybrids are rejected by over two-thirds of high income farmers and nearly all low income farmers because of lack of cash for buying seed, poor storage and because they believe there is no difference between new and second generation seed.

5.1.2. Bean Variety Choice

A wide range of bean cultivars are grown in Middle Kirinyaga; 13 different cultivars were found among sample farmers and the average farmer grows two to three different ones. No improved seed is available in Middle Kirinyaga; all seed comes from farmers' stores or is purchased in the market from other farmers. Table 5.5 presents the principal cultivars, their seed characteristics, the percentages of farmers growing and rejecting each cultivar, and areas allocated to each. The

Characteristics,	Grown
nyaga, 1981: Seed	's Growing, and Area
s in Middle Kiri	ntages of Farmer
Bean Cultivars	Percer

Table 5.5

.

		Ξ	igh Income Fa	riiers			Low Income Fa	rmers	
	vescription of seed Size, Shape, Color	Percent Farmers Growing	Percent Farmers Rejecting ^a	Area	n (Ha.) ^b	Percent Farmers Growing	Percent Farmers Rejecting ^a	Area	(на.)
Canadian Wonder	Large, Kidney, Deep Red, Violet	80	£	37	(28%)	73	9	31	(55%)
Mexican 142 ^a	Small, Oval, White	23	41	4	(29)	31	19	8	(14%)
Mwezi Moja	Large, Kidney, Violet	26	15	8	(12%)	12	14	e	(2%)
Rosecoco-oval	Sumall, Oval, Pale Red/White Stripes	41	8	9	(26)	31	9	9	(111)
Mwitemania	Medium, Kidney, Beige, Mottled	10	0	-	(1%)	10	0	5	(%6)
Canadian Wonder (small)	Small, Kidney, Deep Red, Violet	23	15	4	(29)	4	10	-	(2 ^w)
Other	I	I	·	£	(8%)	•	•	e	(≵)
Total				64	(100%)			57	(1002)

^bArea refers to either intercropped or pure stands of beans. Farmers mixed two different bean cultivars on approximately 15% of their fields; in these cases each cultivar was assigned half of the area planted in the statistics.

Source: Survey data.
repertory grid in Table 5.6 shows how farmers rate alternative cultivars over criteria they feel are important, and thus contributes to explaining the relative importance of each cultivar in the area. Canadian Wonder is by far the most important cultivar; it is grown by over threequarters of the farmers in each income group on over half the area planted to beans. Farmers give Canadian Wonder the highest ratings over nearly all important criteria. Canadian Wonder yields well in sufficient rains and heavy rains and is relatively early-maturing, maturing in about four months. Moreover, it has excellent taste quality, good color, high price, and does not interfere with maize when intercropped.¹

Mexican 142 is the second most important cultivar for low income farmers, grown by about one-third of them. Mexican's high rejection rates can be explained by a recent sharp drop in prices due to a reduction in demand for this cultivar, which is excellent for canning. The repertory grid shows that Mexican has four important disadvantages: (1) it is late-maturing, (2) it has a very poor taste, (3) it has the lowest price of any variety, about 30 percent lower than Canadian Wonder, and (4) it interferes with the growth of maize when intercropped. However, Mexican yields fairly well under all levels of rainfall and, most importantly, its small seed size and low price make it by far the cheapest seed to plant. Thus, the cash constraint at harvest time forces many farmers, especially low income ones, to turn to Mexican even though they would otherwise prefer not to plant it.

Rose-coco oval is the third most important bean cultivar, on the basis of area planted, for both groups. Grown by about 40 percent of

¹One woman stated that she liked Canadian Wonder because she could put just a few beans into her <u>Githeri</u> and because of its deep red color, guests would think her very generous for giving them a dish full of beans!

.

.

Repertory Grid Showing Farmer Ratings of Selected Bean Cultivars Across Criteria They Consider Important, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981^a

	(Suff	Yield	Rain)		rield w Rain		Y (Hear	ield v Rai	(a	Ear	lines	s	for G	itheri		ompati th Int	bilit	۲ So	Colo	5		Price	
Cultivars ^b /Ratings	-	2	3	-	2	. ~	-	5		-	2	e c	-	2		_	~	-	2	3	-	2	°.
Canadian Wonder (Gitune Loan)	56	6	e c	31	33	9	39	27	(Numt	ser of 56	Farm 13	ers) 2	67	6	0	\$		69	-	0	66	3	0
Mexican 142 (Gacheru)	23	Ξ	9	11	9	æ	18	15	6	-	4	37	0	2 4	0	4	1 31	5		8	2	-	39
Mwezi Moja (Kibuu Loan)	16	13	-	=	16	2	6	20	e	21	6	2	6	6	9 9	2	-	<u> </u>	3 16	2	6	19	e
Rosecoco Oval (Gikora-Kabumbu)	18	13	2	18	12	ñ	12	16	4	11	15	0	21 1	12	0	-	7	5) 12	2	13	17	0
Canadian Wonder (small size- Gitune Traditional)	6	J.	2	2	~	9	ى.	æ	2	2	4	6	7	œ	0	_	2	=	ر	0	80	9	_
Rosecoco Traditional (Gikara Traditional)	10	14	9	e	10	11	œ	14	9	2	~	20	4	52	ব	0	56	1	9 13	-	4	23	-
Gacheru Traditional	Ξ	ñ	e	7	5	5	6	5	e	2	2	12	0	-	9	0	5		ۍ ۲	7	0	-	91
Pinto (Muitamania)	10	0	0	8	2	-	9	4	-	6	e	0	Ξ	5	0	6	5		9	ę	4	7	2
Mwezi Moja (small size- Kibuu Traditional)	4	5	2	e	4	4	2	9	e	£	وب	-	e	4	Þ	4	-		4	2	2	. m	2
^a Ratings are as b Local names of	follow cultiv	s: l ars ar	= good e showi	, 2 = n in	fair	, 3 = theses	poor.	The	local	names	ofe	ach ar	e incl	luded	next t	o the	illore	well k	cnown,	gener	ic nam	e.	

^CGitheri is the main dish in Middle Kirinyaga.

..

Source: Survey data.

.

.

high income farmers and 30 percent of low income farmers, Rose-coco oval is most noted for its ability to produce well in seasons of low rainfall. It obtained fair ratings on price and yield in heavy rains and good ratings on intercropping and taste.

Mwezi moja, the second most important cultivar for high income farmers, is the earliest maturing cultivar available. However, it does not yield well in seasons of heavy rainfall and has only fair taste, price and color characteristics. It is not clear why it is grown by many more high income farmers than low income farmers. Earliness in beans is not as crucial a characteristic as is earliness in maize because cowpea leaves, a home-produced substitute for beans in the diet, are readily available during the period before beans mature.

In summary then, most farmers prefer to plant Canadian Wonder and one to two other varieties: Mexican if there is a cash constraint at planting time and stored seed is lacking, Rose-coco oval to hedge against the risk of low rainfall, or Mwezi Moja for early food.

5.1.3. Method and Timing of Land Preparation and Planting

Most farmers in Middle Kirinyaga prefer to plant their maize and beans as a single operation, as described in Section 4.4.4. Table 5.7 shows that over 60 percent of farmers in both income groups prefer to plant during the first ten days of rain.¹ Only a few, about 13 percent in each group prefer to plant dry, before the rains begin. About 10 percent prefer to plant their maize dry and their beans later; these are farmers who (1) do all of their planting by <u>panga</u> and thus incur no

¹Rainfall during the first ten days of rainfall averages 106 mm. (Standard deviation = 55.1), or nearly one-sixth of the long rains total.

Best Time to Plant	High Far	Income mers	Low Far	Income mers
	Number	Percent	Number	Percent
During First Ten Days of Rainfall	23	(64%)	36	(75%)
Before the Rains	5	(14%)	6	(12%)
Maize Before the Rains, Beans During the Rains	3	(8%)	5	(10%)
Other (at Different Times or Later than the First Ten Days of Rainfall)	5	(14%)	1	(2%)
Total	36	(100%)	48	(100%)

Farmers' Opinions on the Best Time to Plant Maize and Beans, Middle Kirinyaga

Source: Survey data.

extra costs by planting at two different times or (2) weed their maize using oxen and plant beans during the weeding operation.

Farmers in Middle Kirinyaga prefer to plant at the safest time, that is, the time which presents the least danger of losing their crop. Farmers face a myriad of hazards at any possible planting time; these hazards and the perceived degree of danger they present are shown in the repertory grid in Table 5.8. The grid shows that farmers consider planting dry to be extremely risky, especially for beans. The most important hazards affecting beans, and the percentages of farmers who feel the hazards are a "big problem" are:

Repertory Grid Showing Perceived Hazards of Planting Maize and Beans at Various Times, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981

•

			R	ize					Bea	S	!	
	B1g P	roblem	Some P	roblem	Not a P	roblem	Big P	robl en	Some P	roblem	Not a	Problem
	Number Farmers	Percent	Number Farmers	Percent	Number Farmers	Percent	Number Farmers	Percent	Number Farmers	Percent	Rumber Farmers	Percent
Mazards of Planting Before the Rains												
Insects eating seed	8	(34)	23	(36)	34	(6E)	46	(23)	1	(91)	26	(30)
False start of rain	37	(42)	36	(11)	14	(16)	54	(63)	23	(36)	6	(01)
Seeds not germinating	23	(27)	R	(37)	30	(12)	39	(47)	24	(53)	20	(54)
Heavy rain spoiling seeds	23	(36)	39	(45)	25	(29)	50	(22)	29	(88)	80	(6)
Bean flowers spoiled by rain	ı		•	٠	۰	ŀ	48	(26)	õ	(35)	8	(6)
Seeds buried by soil clumps	1	(11)	Ŧ	(67)	29	(34)	51	(25)	35	(42)	27	(32)
Seeds buried too deep	6	(11)	Ŧ	(48)	34	(1)	61	(62)	R	(1)	29	(38)
Difficult to get plow	61	(62)	۲	(11)	39	(09)						
Hazards of Planting During First 10 Days of Rains												
Bean flowers spoiled by rain	1	ı	•	ı	·		18	(23)	42	(53)	61	(24)
Heavy rain spoiling crop	2	(91)	43	(05)	29	(96)	12	(22)	45	(23)	61	(22)
Difficult to get plow	32	(37)	4	(91)	41	(47)	•	•	•	•	•	•
Rain ending early	80	(6)	36	(11)	43	(4)	01	(11)	33	(38)	44	(13)
Mazards of Planting Later												
Heavy rain spoiling crop	23	(36)	8	(23)	43	(13)	33	(27)	16	(61)	46	(54)
Rain ending early	33	(16)	19	(22)	2	(2)	61	(02)	22	(25)	-	(2)
Source: Survey data.						•						

145

•

- False start of the rain (63 percent). The rain may start, thus triggering the germination process, and then stop for a period, causing seeds and young seedlings to die.
- 2. Heavy rain spoiling seeds and/or seedlings (57 percent).
- 3. Bean flowers spoiled by rain (56 percent). If a farmer plants early, he risks having his beans flower before the period of heavy rains has ended. The rains may knock the flowers to the ground, thus sharply curtailing yields.
- Insects eating seeds (53 percent). This is a localized problem affecting farmers with anthills in or near their fields.
- Seeds not germinating (47 percent). Seeds left too long in the hot soil may lose vigor.

Farmers note many fewer problems with planting maize dry than with planting bean dry. Only two hazards, false start of the rain and insects eating seeds, were mentioned by over 30 percent of the farmers. Farmers' views on the relative vigor of dry-planted maize seed and bean seed have a sound agronomic basis.

Planting during the first ten days of rainfall is relatively trouble-free; the only problem is in obtaining use of a plow, since most farmers prefer to plant at this time. The principal problem with planting later than the first ten days is the risk that the rains will end early, sharply curtailing yields.

Farmers' preferences for planting as closely as possible to the start of the rains are well justified. Experiments at the Embu Agricultural Research Station show maize yield decreases of up to 50 percent if planting is delayed two weeks after the rains begin. The cause of the decrease is (1) drought stress, since the rain falls over only a brief period, (2) a decrease in soil temperature after the rain begins which retards plant growth and (3) leaching of nutrients by the rain (Allan, 1980). The Ministry of Agriculture recommends planting maize dry and beans just after the rains begin, or if intercropping, both just after the rains begin.

In Section 4.4.4, we noted that most farmers, particularly low income farmers, were unable to plant their fields during the period they desired--before the rains, during the first ten days of rain, or later. Table 5.9 shows that half of the high income farmers' area was planted during the first ten days of rain, with about one-third planted before the rains and only 20 percent later. On the other hand, 36 percent of the area of low income farms was planted later than the first ten days.¹

Farmers' decisions on the method and timing of land preparation and planting for the 1981 long rains season are explained in the decision tree in Figure 5.4. The decision tree is extremely complex because of the diversity of constraints which farmers face. Farmers deal with these constraints by making sub-decisions which aim to avoid or minimize the effect of the constraints. It is not practical to summarize the decision outcomes of the tree in a single table. Tables 5.10-5.13 highlight the principal results of the exercise.

First, the tree shows that in 38 percent of the cases, the farmer's safest time to plant--the time at which he feels that there is the

¹Based on observation of farms at planting time, it is likely that the area planted late was underestimated. Some farmers' statements may reflect the time they would like to have planted rather than the actual time they planted. More realistic estimates are perhaps 33 percent late for high income farmers and 50 percent late for low income farmers.

б
u ,
e
_
Р
a
F

Timing and Area of 11aize and Bean Plantings, Middle Kirinyaga, Long Rains Season, 1981

	Ť	igh Income Farm	ers	Γc	ow Income Farmer	Ş
	Area Planted Before Rains	Area Planted First Ten Days of Rain	Area Ilanted Later	Area Planted Before Rains	Area Planted First Ten Days of Rain	Area Planted Later
Maize-Beans (ha.)	13	27	6	5	19	21
Maize (ha.)	2	0	2		2	0
Beans (ha.)	-	-	-	0	0	0
Maize; Beans at a Later Time (ha	.) 3	0	0	Q	9	0
Total	18 (31%)	28 (49%)	12 (20%)	13 (21%)	26 (43%)	22 (36%)

Source: Survey data.

,



Decision Tree on the Time and Method of Land Preparation and Planting Figure 5.4

least danger of losing his crop--was also his desired time to plant. Those farmers desiring to plant at times other than their safest time did so because

1. They preferred to plant late, after the first ten days of rain, in order to minimize their weeding. After a ten-day period following the start of the rains, weeds have germinated and begun to surface. A farmer planting with oxen at this time will, in effect, be weeding and planting at the same time. Thus, whereas over three-quarters of the farmers stated that a farmer planting during his first ten days must weed his farm twice, they claimed that a farmer planting later will have to weed only once.

2. They preferred to plant at a time which they felt would give them a higher yield, even though the risks were higher. Whereas over two-thirds of the farmers claimed that the first ten days were the safest time to plant, over 40 percent claimed that their yields would usually be higher if they planted their maize before the rains. Nearly all of these farmers chose to plant during the first ten days. The data thus support the hypothesis that safety is a more important consideration in determining when to plant than obtaining high yields or minimizing weeding.¹

The tree also shows that high income farmers had significantly greater success than low income farmers in plowing/planting their farms at their desired times, as shown in Table 5.10. Approximately 60 percent

¹That so few farmers plant late to minimize weeding lends further support to our finding in Section 4.4.2 that the peak season labor supply is not an important constraint.

Farmer's Success at Plowing/Planting at the Time They Desired, Hiddle Kirinyaga, Long Rains Season, 1981 .

		Ŧ	igh Income	e Farmers					Low Incol	ie Farmers		
	•	Plow	'Plant at	Desired	Time	4 1	•	Plow	/Plant at	Desired	Time	
	Yes		Ŷ		Total		Yes		Ŷ		Total	
	Number Farmers	Percent	Number Farmers	Percent	Number Farmers	Percent	Number Farmers	Percent	Number Farmers	Percent	Number Farmers	Percent
Desire to Plant During First 10 Days of Rain												
Own oxen and plow	4	(20)	4	(20)	8	(001)	6	(82)	2	(13)	11	(001)
Have access to oxen and plow	2	(67)	-	(33)	m	(001)	2	(11)	01	(83)	12	(100)
Have cash for hiring	2	(18)	6	(82)	11	(001)	S	(45)	9	(33)	Ξ	(001)
No cash for hiring	0	(0)	0	(0)	0	(001)	0	(33)	٣	(001)	£	(001)
Total	6	(11)	13	(66)	22	(001)	16	(43)	21	(27)	37	(100)
Desire to Plant Dry												
Own oxen and plow	2	(67)	-	(33)	r	(001)	0	(0)	C	(0)	0	(001)
Have access to oxen and plow	-	(20)	-	(20)	2	(001)	-	(20)	4	(80)	S	(100)
Have cash for hiring	e	(32)	-	(25)	4	(001)	-	(20)	-	(20)	2	(001)
No cash for hiring	0		0		0	(001)	0		e	(001)	٣	(001)
Total	9	(67)	e	(33)	6	(001)	2	(20)	8	(80)	10	(100)
<u>Desire to Plant Late</u> or at Different Times												
Own oxen and plow	9	(100)	0	(0)	9	(001)	-	(100)	0		-	(100)
Total	12	(27)	91	(43)	37	(001)	61	(40)	29	(09)	48	(001)
Source: Survey data. Dat	ta from Fig	jure 5.4.										

151

•

of the high income farmers and 40 percent of the low income farmers were able to plant their fields at the time they desired. Table 5.11 also shows the varied success rate which farmers with different means to secure oxen and plows had in planting at the time they wanted. Most oxen owners were able to plant when they wanted; some failed because their farms were too big to complete the task in the required time. On the other hand, most farmers intending to hire oxen were unable to get them when they needed them. Simply having "access" to oxen, from a relative or in exchange for a service, was particularly unreliable. For example, only 17 percent of the low income farmers who had access to oxen and wished to plant during the first ten days were able to do so. Evidently, they had to wait while the owners were planting their own and, perhaps, others' fields. For similar reasons, having cash for hiring did not insure being able to plant at the desired time.

Over two-thirds of the farmers felt that the first ten days following the rains is the busiest time for plowing and over half of the oxenowners stated they would do more plowing for cash before the rains if there was increased demand for dry plowing. Therefore, it seemed reasonable to hypothesize that those farmers wishing to plant dry would be more successful at planting at this desired time, since the demand for plows at this time is low. Pooling data from both income groups, two-thirds of those farmers wishing to hire oxen to plant dry, but only 32 percent of those wishing to plant during the first ten days, were able to plow/plant at their desired time. The data thus support the hypothesis that the first ten days of rain is a busier time for planting than before the rains.

.

Method of Plowing/Planting for Farmers Not Owning Oxen Who Were Unable to Secure Oxen at the Time They Needed Them, Long Rains Season, iliddle Kirinyaga, 1981

	Desire to	Plow/Pla	nt First	10 Days	Desire t	o Plow/Pl	ant Befor	e Rains		Tot	al	
Methods of Plowing/Planting	High I Farm	ncome iers	Low I Farm	ncome lers	High I Farm	ncome Iers	Low I Farm	ncome ers	High I Farm	ncome ers	Low Ir Farm	icome er s
	Number of Farmers	Percent	Number of Farmers	Percent	Number of Farmers	, Percent	Number of Farmers	Percent	Number of Farmers	Percent	Number of Farmers	Percent
Oxen before rains	2	(22%)	2	(10%)	ı	I		ı	2	(18%)	2	(8%)
Oxen first 10 days of rain	ł	ı	ı	ı	ſ	(20%)	-	(20%)	-	(%6)	-	(4%)
Panga	4	(44%)	10	(23%)	0		4	(80%)	4	(36%)	14	(28%)
Oxen after first 10 days of rain	8	(80%)	E	(28%)	2	(*100%)	0		6	(82%)	Ξ	(46%)
Total	10	(1001)	19	(100%)	2	(100%)	5	(%001)	Π	(100%)	24	(100%)

Source: Survey data. Data from Figure 5.4.

Table 5.11 shows the measures farmers use to plow/plant when they are unable to plow/plant at their desired time. These measures include:

- Plow/plant dry. Only two farmers in each income group took this option. It appears that for most farmers, the risks of planting late were less then the risks of planting dry.
- 2. Plant using a <u>panga</u> without plowing. Over half of the low income farmers and one-third of the high income farmers began planting by <u>panga</u>, fearing that oxen would not be available until a very late date.
- Plow/plant late with oxen. This measure was used by nearly all high income farmers and almost half of all low income farmers.

The data thus show important differences in how high and low income farmers react when they are unable to plow/plant at their desired times. Low income farmers have low opportunity costs of labor. Thus they are willing to plant part or all of their fields by <u>panga</u>, whereas high income farmers tend to wait for the oxen teams to arrive. Also the costs of planting late and running out of food are considerably higher for low income farmers than for high income farmers.

Table 5.12 shows that 27 percent of low income farmers planted their entire farms by panga. About half of these farmers lacked cash for hiring oxen whereas the other half feared the oxen would arrive too late. Only one high income farmer planted his entire farm by panga.

A few farmers in the sample have alternative methods of planting not previously discussed. About 23 percent of high income farmers and

	High Far	Income mers	Low Far	Income mers
	Number	Percent	Number	Percent
Preparing all Fields	35	(90%)	33	(69%)
Preparing Some Fields	3	(8%)	2	(4%)
Not Preparing Any Fields	1	(2%)	13	(27%)
Total Farmers	39	(100%)	48	(100%)

Farmers Planting Without Preparing Their Fields, Long Rains Season, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981^a

^aOnly areas which the farmer would like to prepare with oxen are included in this table. Thus, areas normally planted with panga, e.g. fields with tree crops, swampy areas, etc. are not included.

Source: Survey data. Data from Figure 5.4.

13 percent of low income farmers plant relatively small portions of their maize and/or beans using a <u>panga</u>, following the plowing operation. These farmers seek to obtain a higher, more efficiently spaced plant population. Another alternative planting method involves planting maize using oxen and then, two weeks later, weeding between the maize rows with a moldboard plow. At the same time farmers are weeding they are also planting beans; beans are broadcast on the field before the weeding operation begins. However, most farmers claim that this method is not practical because it requires (1) oxen to cultivate twice during one season, and (2) very wide maize rows so that the oxen can pass between the rows without disturbing the maize. In summary, most farmers in Middle Kirinyaga seek to plant during the first ten days of rainfall, because they consider this to be the safest time. High income farmers, who mostly own oxen or have cash for hiring them, tend to be able to get their farms plowed at the time they like. Low income farmers rely more on borrowing oxen from relatives or gaining access to oxen by exchanging services. Most low income farmers are unable to get their fields plowed at their desired time.

Plant Population

The Ministry of Agriculture recommends that intercropped maize and beans be grown in rows; maize rows should be 75 cm. apart with two bean rows between them (Government of Kenya, 1979b). However, farmers do not feel that it is worthwhile to plant beans in plow furrows; indeed, we did not find a single farmer doing so. Rather, farmers feel that the only way to plant beans in rows is to use a <u>panga</u> and as stated above, farmers prefer not to plant by panga.

Farmers' actual plant populations are compared with the Extension Services' recommended plant populations in Table 5.13. Recommended maize populations are 40,500 plants per ha, over one-third higher than those of high income farmers and over 60 percent higher than those of low income farmers. However, farmers' low rates may be justifiable, due to low soil fertility. Low income farmers' maize populations were 20 percent lower than those of high income farmers; because low income farmers use fertilizer and manure less frequently than high income farmers, their soils may be less able to maintain a high plant population. Moreover, low plant populations also provide some protection against a complete crop failure in times of drought.

Tal	ble	5.	13

Plant Population for Maize and Beans, Long Rains Season, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981

	Row Width (cm)	Space Between Plants (cm)	Plant Population ^a	Farms Sampled
Maize: high income farmers' practice	108	31	29,700	18
Maize: low income farmers' practice	110	37	24,900	24
Ministry maize ^b recommendation	75	30	40,500 ^c	-
Beans: farmers' practice	Broadcast	Broadcast	162,000	8
Mi nistry beans ^b recommendation	25 Between Maize Rows	15	180,000	-

^aDifferences in plant population between income groups are significant using the t-test ($\alpha = .05$).

^bMinistry recommendations are for intercropped maize and beans: from Government of Kenya, 1979b and Kenya Seed Co., 1979.

^CAllowing 10% loss.

Source: Figures from survey data except where otherwise stated.

Farmers' bean population was 162,000 plants per ha., only 10 percent lower than the recommended level. Our estimates are comparable to those of Schunherr and Mbugua (1976) who estimated a median density of 150,000 to 200,000 for Eastern and Central Provinces but much lower than Van Eijnatten (1975), who estimated 250,000-300,000 for Middle Kirinyaga. Although our sample of observations is small, the data supports our finding during the informal survey that the cover of bean vegetation is rather dense. Evidently, broadcasting of beans does not result in large empty patches in fields as one might expect.

5.1.4. Maintenance of Soil Fertility and Structure

Farmers in Middle Kirinyaga have been continously cropping maize and beans twice per year with no rotation or fallow for periods of 10 to 20 years. In such a system, the issue of maintaining soil fertility and structure is important.

Current fertilizer recommendations for maize and beans in Middle Kirinyaga are to apply 60 Kg. Nitrogen and 90 Kg. P_2O_5 per hectare at planting time (Government of Kenya, 1979b). An application of 20-20-0 to achieve this level on one hectare would cost the farmer 2,430 Shs., omitting the cost of capital, application labor, transportation, etc. Thus the cost of the nutrients alone for one hectare amounts to over 10 percent of the high income farmers' annual cash income and over 80 percent of the low income farmers' cash income.

During the 1981 long rains season, less than one-fifth of sampled high income farmers and only a single sampled low income farmer used fertilizer, as shown in Table 5.14. Five of the eight users applied fertilizer at an average rate of one bag per four hectares--this can hardly be said to be using fertilizer. Most of the users indicated that they did not know the recommended rate.

The table also shows that over one-third of high income farmers and one-fifth of low income farmers have tried fertilizer and rejected it. Reasons for not using fertilizer are significantly different among the

Fertilizer and Manure Use on Maize and Beans, Long Rains Season, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981

	High Farr	Income mers	Low Far	Income mers
	Number	Percent	Number	Percent
Fertilizer Use				
Currently use	7	(18%)	١	(2%)
Tried in past and stopped	13	(33%)	10	(21%)
Never tried	19	(49%)	37	(77%)
Total	39	(100%)	48	(100%)
Reasons for Not Using Fertilizer				
Lack cash	8	(29%)	27	(57%)
Lack information	5	(21%)	13	(27%)
Not profitable	11	(33%)	6	(13%)
Other	3	(6%)	2	(4%)
Total	27	(100%)	47	(100%)
Other Means of Fertilizing				
Livestock manure	32	(82%)	25	(52%)
Maize stover	7	(18%)	19	(42%)

Source: Survey data.

two groups: high income farmers cite low profitability and lack of cash whereas low income farmers cite lack of cash and lack of information. The allegation of low profitability is particularly intriguing given the high response to fertilizer shown in local research trials. Three explanations are possible:

- 1. The fertilizer is applied incorrectly.
- 2. Non-experimental variables on the research plots were fixed at levels far different from conditions on farmers' fields. Thus, the apparent high response to fertilizer is due to differences in these non-experimental variables, rather than to the effect of fertilizer alone.
- 3. Investment in fertilizer gives a "high" rate of return but farmers have alternative uses for their money which they feel give them a higher rate of return.

It appears that all three reasons are involved in explaining farmers' opinions that fertilizer is not profitable. Moreover, since the cost of fertilizer is high relative to farmer incomes, lack of cash is also an important reason why most farmers do not use, and have not tried, fertilizer.

Two other methods of maintaining soil fertility are mentioned in Table 5.14. Over 80 percent of high income farmers and half of low income farmers apply livestock manure on their fields. Manure from cattle, sheep and goats is commonly used but the effects of manure use are likely to be very small for two reasons. First, since herd size is small and most animals graze most of the day, quantities applied are very small. Second, treatment of the manure is poor; most farmers leave their manure unshaded so leaching by rainfall is severe.

The second method, leaving maize stover on the field, is used by 42 percent of the low income farmers and 18 percent of the high income farmers. Most farmers prefer to feed their stover to their livestock.

5.1.5. Other Production Practices and Use of Purchased Inputs Weeding

Nearly all Middle Kirinyaga farmers weed with <u>pangas</u>; only a few farmers weed with oxen as discussed above. Farmers begin weeding in April or May, starting when maize plants are about 30 cm. high. About half of the farmers in both income groups do one weeding and half do two weedings.

For farmers who plant using oxen, planting time is an important determinant of how many weedings are done. About 60 percent of the farmers planting before the rains weeded twice, whereas 80 percent of those planting after the first ten days weeded only once. Those farmers planting during the first ten days of rainfall were evenly divided between one weeding and two.

Farmers' second weedings are generally done when maize plants are about 90 cm. high, but about 10 percent of the farmers do their second weeding when the crop is 150 cm. high or higher. This weeding does not affect the yield of the current crop; rather, farmers claim that weeding late will curtail weed growth for the following crop.

Several farmers complained of severe problems with couch grass (<u>Sangari</u>) which can only be controlled by dry plowing or by using herbicides. In any case, weed growth is not an important production constraint for most farmers. Pest Control

In most seasons, pests pose only minor problems to maize and beans in Middle Kirinyaga. However, during the 1981 long rains season, stalkborers did extensive damage to maize in certain areas. About onequarter of the high income farmers and none of the low income farmers purchased DDT dust to control them. Unfortunately, dusting plants with DDT is not of much use after an attack has begun and the stalkborers have already penetrated the stalk. The cost of DDT is very low; about 20 Shs. is sufficient to treat one hectare. However, few farmers use DDT because (1) farmers lack cash during April when applications are required, (2) April is a particularly difficult month for labor (3) many farmers are unfamiliar with DDT, and (4) many farmers are reluctant to expend cash and labor each season to prevent a problem which occurs only infrequently.

Bollworms and semi-loopers also caused extensive damage to maize and beans in a few areas in 1981, but no control measures were taken by farmers. Other insects causing occasional problems include black flies (beans), cutworms (maize) and army worms (maize). Ants often damage untreated seed when seeds are planted dry, as discussed previously. However, only one farmer applied anticide at planting time.

Use of Purchased Inputs

High income farmers spend over three times as much as low income farmers on crop inputs, as shown in Table 5.15. Expenditures on material inputs, i.e., seed, fertilizer, and chemicals, are dominated by seed expenses and, in particular, beans. Bean seed purchases accounted for

Farmer's Use of Purchased Crop Inputs for the Long Rains Season, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981

	High Income Farmers		Low Income Farmers	
	Percent Farmers	Shillings/ Farmer ^a	Percent Farmers	Shillings/ Farmerª
Purchased Material Inputs				
Maize storage insecticide	67	12	14	2
Bean storage insecticide	69	22	29	4
Maize seed	. 36	27	10	6
Bean seed	31	60	56	64
Fertilizer/chemicals maize-beans	26	14	2	2
Other seed	31	20	35	13
Inputs for coffee and tomatoes	31	44	21	6
Other Inputs	-	47	-	16
Total purchased material inputs	87	245	81.	115
<u>Other</u>				
Casual hired labor	74	238	17	31
Permanent hired labor	24	272	0	0
Hired oxen	• 19	215	15	50
Total other inputs	-	725	-	81
Total Purchased Inputs	-	970	-	196

^aAveraged over all sample households in the income group.

Source: Survey data.

over half of the material input expenses of low income farmers and over one-quarter of those of high income farmers.

The gap between income groups is even greater for non-material input expenses such as hired labor and oxen services than for material input expenses. Neither income group finds it profitable to purchase material inputs, except to purchase seed when stocks of home-produced seed are exhausted. However, high income farmers find it profitable to purchase hired labor at weeding time to reduce the peak season labor bottlenecks. They are also more willing to spend cash on hiring oxen for plowing, since hiring is a more reliable way to get one's farm plowed promptly than is relying on relatives or the exchange of services for getting oxen.

5.1.6. Harvesting and Production

In seasons which are preceded by bad harvests, harvesting begins as soon as the crops have reached an edible stage. Thus green beans are harvested in June and green maize in July. Final or "dry" harvests normally take place one month later for beans and two months later for maize. However, many farmers exhaust a large portion of their crop before the dry harvest begins and a few may even consume their entire crop green.

Women have primary responsibility for harvesting. Beans are harvested by uprooting the entire plant, and the plants are then piled at the homestead and beaten with sticks for threshing. The beans are then bagged and put in the store. To harvest maize, farmers pick ears and pile them in the store, usually with the husk still intact. They are then shelled as needed, by hand or by placing them in a bag and beating

the bag with a stick. Farmers store their maize and beans in a raised, wood structure with walls of sticks and roofs of grass.

Production data for the long rains seasons, 1980 and 1981, obtained through farmer interviews, are shown in Table 5.16. Data are also shown for 31 plots selected at random during the short rains season, 1980-81 where maize yields were measured. Harvests were poor during both long rains seasons for which data were obtained: 1980, because of lack of rainfall, and 1981, because flooding and insect damage ravaged crops. Accordingly, recorded yields are very low. Yields were much higher during the short rains season, 1981, as climatic conditions were relatively favorable.¹

Yields per ha. of maize and beans harvested dry were significantly different (level of significance = .05) between the two income groups, during all three seasons shown in Table 5.16. During the long rains seasons, 1980, high income farmers harvested above 280 kg. maize and 220 kg. beans per ha.; low income farmers harvested about 100 kg. maize and 90 kg. beans per ha. Maize yields per ha. during the short rains season averaged about 1,300 kg. for high income farmers and 750 kg. for low income farmers. Farmers reported during the informal survey that in a "good" season they expect about 1,200 kg. maize and 360 kg. beans per ha.

¹Yield per hectare here is defined as the quantity of maize or beans produced on a hectare of intercropped maize and beans. The figures are for all maize and bean areas, whether mixed with other crops or not. About two-thirds of total maize and bean area is planted to only maize and beans, without any other important crop. For the long rains seasons, data are obtained from interviews shortly after the 1981 long rains crops were harvested. Data are likely to be more reliable for beans than for maize since (1) the recall period for beans was shorter, and (2) beans are stored in containers such as kerosene tins or g^unny sacks whereas maize is simply heaped in the store.

Table	e 5.	16
-------	------	----

Production, Yields per Hectare, and Sales of Maize and Beans, Middle Kirinyaga, 1980-81

	Maize		Beans	ns
	High Income Farmers	Low Income Farmers	High Income Farmers	Low Income Farmers
Dry Production (kg.)				
Long rains 1980	503	299	244	101
Long rains 1981	-	-	276	76
<u>Dry Yield per ha.</u> (kg.) ^a				
Long rains 1980	279	221	152	92
Long rains 1981	-	-	172	66
Short rains 1981/82 ^b	1303	752	-	-
Expected Yield per ha. ^C in a Good Season	1200	1200	360	360
<u>Sales</u> (kg.)				
Long rains 1980	180	59	127	45
Percent of farmers selling	62%	56%	62%	52°

 a Includes all areas, whether mixed with other crops or not. Does not include quantities eaten green.

^bData are from 20 plots on 10 low income farms and 11 plots on 6 high income farms. Plots were 49 sq. meters and were selected at random. Harvest losses (10%) and moisture loss (0-10% depending on a subjectively assessed moisture level) were subtracted from measured yields. Fields where maize had been removed for consumption while "green" were excluded from the sample.

^CFrom informal survey, not from formal survey data.

Source: Survey data unless otherwise stated.

5.2. Short Rains Management

As stated earlier, long rains and short rains maize and beans management are very similar. Thus, our description of short rains management will be brief, highlighting (1) the differences in management and (2) those similarities which are somewhat surprising, given the high probability of low rainfall during the short rains season.

5.2.1. Maize Varieties

There is almost no difference in the area allocated to available varieties between the two seasons. In the short rains, one might have expected that more farmers grow Katumani, the variety which nearly all farmers feel gives the highest yield when rainfall is low. However, as in the long rains, most farmers grow Katumani only for early maize; they are not interested in growing it for their main stock of maize because of its low yields, poor storage and susceptibility to dog damage.

5.2.2. Time and Method of Planting

As stated in Section 4.4.4, the balance of supply and demand for oxen during the short rains is roughly similar to that of the long rains. Indeed, the timing of plantings by high income farmers was nearly identical to the timing during the long rains as shown in Table 5.9. But whereas in the long rains, high income farmers established their crops earlier than low income farmers, in the short rains the trend was reversed. Low income farmers planted nearly half of their fields before the rains, half during the first ten days of the rains and only 8 percent late. The risk of low rainfall is much greater during the short rains

th ex to

> in M impu ing

farı

Low

earr

hand

prise

groups family

ally du

À

and many low income farmers accommodate this risk by planting before the rains. In the long rains, we concluded that most farmers felt that the risks of planting dry are greater than the risks of planting late. However, in the short rains, more farmers, especially low income farmers, prefer planting before the rains to planting late in fear of the high probability of low rainfall.

5.2.3. Use of Purchased Inputs

During the short rains, both groups of farmers spend about onethird less on purchased inputs than during the long rains. The lower expenditures, no doubt, reflect the higher probability of low returns to investments due to drought.

5.3. Farming Systems in Transition: A Summary of Chapters 4 and 5

This section summarizes the principal features of farming systems in Middle Kirinyaga. Further, we review the principal constraints on improving agricultural productivity and draw implications for identifying research priorities.

Nearly all of the cultivated area of both high and low income farmers is under maize and beans, the area's two principal food staples. Low income farmers obtain most of their cash from their farms; they also earn cash working on the farms of high income farmers. On the other hand, high income farmers earn most of their cash from off-farm enterprises, particularly from businesses and salaried positions. Both groups keep cattle, sheep and goats, primarily to provide milk for the family and as a form of security. Rains are often unreliable, especially during the short rains seasons, and both groups frequently run out

of home-produced food. Thus, stabilizing food supplies is a principal objective for both high income and low income farmers in Middle Kirinyaga.

Few, if any, purchased inputs are used in maize and bean cultivation. Most farmers in both groups grow Local maize for their main stock and most, particularly low income farmers, also grow a small area of early-maturing Katumani. Over one-third of high income farmers grow hybrid; most farmers reject hybrid because they lack cash for seed, do not consider its yield to be high enough, or because of its poor storage characteristics. Principal reasons for rejecting Katumani include its low yield and poor storage characteristics.

Six different bean cultivars are each grown by at least 10 percent of the farmers; Canadian Wonder is the most popular and rates well on all important characteristics. Mexican 142 is also popular, particularly among low-income farmers because it is so inexpensive to plant. However, Mexican 142 has poor taste qualities, a low sale price, and interferes with maize growth when intercropped.

Most farmers plow and plant in one operation. The preferred time is just after the rains begin. However, many farmers, especially low income ones, are forced to plant late because they lack oxen or cash for hiring them. Fewer farmers prefer to plant before the rains citing the risks of dry planting, especially for beans.

For maize the plant population is less than two-thirds of the recommended level; for beans, it is about equal to the recommended level. The maize plant population is significantly higher for high income farmers than for low income farmers.

Most farmers use livestock manure on their farms but the quantities applied are too low to have a significant impact. Reasons for not using fertilizer include lack of cash and low profitability. Maize and bean yields are extremely low and production methods during the short rains closely mirror methods used in the long rains.

Table 5.17 summarizes farmer practices in cultivating maize and beans. The table shows that the income groups differ on four variables: time of planting, maize plant density, and maize varieties for main stock and for early maize. The income groups are similar on eight variables: seed treatment, method of land preparation/planting, bean cultivar, weeding, plant protection, fertilizer use, manure use, and fallow/ rotation.

Lack of cash for purchasing inputs, poor soil fertility and structure, and lack of access to draught power are the most important constraints limiting farm productivity. The cash constraint is especially important for low income farmers who may not have cash for even the most basic inputs: purchasing seed and hiring ox-plows. High income farmers may have cash available for farm investment but they prefer to invest in off-farm enterprises. Soil fertility and structure are eroding rapidly for both groups as fields are continuously cropped, twice per year, to maize and beans. Access to draught power is a particularly important constraint for low income farmers, who are often forced to plant late, because they do not own oxen or have the cash necessary for hiring them. Moreover, as grazing areas shrink and more oxen are sold off due to cash needs, fewer farmers will be able to have their fields plowed just after the rains begin. More will be forced to

Farmer Practices in Cultivating Maize and Beans, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981

Practice/Operation	High Income Farmers	Low Income Farmers	
Time of Planting	Five days after the rains begin	Ten days after the rains begin	
Seed Treatment	None	None	
Method of land preparation/planting	Oxplow, maize in rows beans broadcast before plowing	Same	
Maize plant density	Row width-108 cm. Between plants-31 cm. Plant pop29,700	Row width-110 cm. Between plants-37 cm. Plant pop24,900	
Bean plant density	Plant pop160,000	Same	
Maize variety for main stock	Local or H-511	Local	
Maize variety for early maize	Katumani or none	Katumani	
Bean cultivar	Canadian Wonder	Same	
Weeding	One or two times if needed. Weed con- trol is effective.	Same	
Plant protection	None	None	
 Fertilizer	None	None	
Manure application	None in last year	None in last year	
Fallow or rotation	None (previous crop is maize-beans inter- cropped)	Same	

plant late and many may turn to dry planting as an alternative to planting late.

Land is not an important constraint in the short run. However, land will likely become an important constraint for low income farmers in the near future as population increases, farms are subdivided, and land sales from low income to high income farmers continue. Land will not be an important constraint for high income farmers who are more successful at obtaining education and off-farm employment for their children and who have cash for buying or renting land.

It is difficult to predict the effect that the increasingly severe constraints--cash, soil fertility, draught power, and land--will have on the way low income farmers manage their farms. For example, one might forecast that the land constraint, together with the cash and oxen constraints, may cause low income farmers to turn to hoe cultivation. However, we did not find even one farmer who used a hoe to cultivate his land.¹ Therefore, it appears that the above constraints will result in more no-till or infrequently-tilled cultivation rather than a change to hoe cultivation.

Nevertheless, there are several implications for establishing research priorities to help low income farmers. First, research efforts should assist farmers to take full advantage of the limited amount of rainfall available, and/or to accommodate their production methods to limited rainfall. Second, research efforts should help farmers to upgrade the quality of their soils. Third, other efforts to improve productivity should not conflict with the three principal

¹Hoes are only used in particular situations, such as preparing land in a swampy area where oxen cannot work, or in areas infested with couch grass.

constraints farmers face: cash scarcity, soil quality, or their inability to plant at their desired time.

The constraints which high income farmers face are similar to those of low income farmers but there are important differences in degree. The cash constraint for high income farmers is much less severe, and stems more from competing investment opportunities than low cash incomes. Draught power and land are less important constraints for high income farmers, because they have cash for hiring oxen and renting land. Soil fertility, on the other hand, is as important a constraint for high income farmers as it is for low income farmers. Since high income farmers face fewer and less severe constraints than low income farmers, there is more latitude for solving their problems than there is for low income farmers.

CHAPTER 6

PRIORITIES FOR ADAPTIVE PRODUCTION RESEARCH

In this section we identify the priority areas for adaptive production research, emphasizing maize and beans. First, we present some advantages and disadvantages of mounting experiments on farmers' fields as opposed to on research stations. Next, production research priorities and farmer practices are outlined. Finally, each research priority is reviewed in greater detail and proposed experiments are discussed. Recommendations for extension programs are also made where it is felt that lack of knowledge is the principal reason behind nonadoption.

Two qualifications are necessary. First, as stated in Section 2.6, the objective of this study is to develop short and medium term production research programs which accommodate existing environmental and infrastructural constraints. Our proposals are weighted towards the improvement of crop production; they do not extend into other areas of rural development such as livestock, marketing, prices, or land tenure. Second, it is rare that there are quick, easy answers to agricultural development problems. It takes a long time to develop appropriate technologies for farmers. The approach used in this thesis aims to develop such technologies in a more effective and timely fashion than other approaches.

6.1. On-Farm and On-Station Experimentation

In recent years, researchers in many countries have come to recognize the importance of carrying out research experiments on farmers' fields as well as on experiment stations. The soil type and structure, labor availability, pest problems, and other agronomic and economic conditions of a small farm are often far different from the conditions found on station fields. Therefore, technologies developed on farmers' fields will generally be more appropriate to the farmers' circumstances and adoption will be more likely. Moreover, on-farm experimentation allows technologies to be developed and tested across a large number of locations, increasing the validity of the recommendations. Finally, on-farm experimentation provides an opportunity for the farmer to participate in developing and appraising the new technology. On-farm research also encourages dialogue between the farmer, the extension worker, and the researchers. Researchers can use a better understanding of the farmers' assessment of experimental results to tailor technologies to the farmers' circumstances.

We are not, of course, arguing that all research should be done on farmers' fields. Experimentation is best mounted on stations when (1) new materials are being tested in the early stages of their development or when (2) close monitoring and/or control is required in order to make needed adaptations. Moreover, in the short run the costs of mounting experiments on farmers' fields may be prohibitive.¹ However, in most

¹These costs are primarily for increased transport, night allowances and researchers' time in transit. In the long run, however, total research costs may decrease as on-station fixed costs (buildings, equipment, labor, etc.) are reduced.
cases, research experiments for formulating recommendations for farmers are best mounted under farmers' own conditions in their fields.

The analysis in this report focuses on two recommendation domains (RD's)--high income farmers and low income farmers. In Chapters 4 and 5 it was shown that there are important differences between the two groups in their priorities, resources, constraints and management practices. Thus, the two groups have somewhat different researchable problems and different development opportunities. Most notably, high income farmers have regular cash incomes and will thus be able to afford purchasing inputs which help them to better meet their objectives. However, many of them are averse to spending cash on their farms as they feel returns are higher elsewhere. Therefore, agricultural research must offer them technologies which are substantially more profitable than existing farm investments in order to get them to increase investment in their farm. On the other hand, low income farmers often lack cash for even the most basic inputs. Thus, they are less likely to be able to afford purchased inputs. The challenge here is to offer them low-cost technologies which lead to substantial increases in productivity and better help them to meet their objectives.

Of course, it is possible that two different RD's can have the same problem, and that a proposed solution to the problem is appropriate for both groups. Thus, some of our research priorities and proposed solutions relate primarily to one RD whereas other are appropriate for both RD's.

6.2. Outline of Research Priorities

The priority research areas, or leverage points, are selected over other possibilities because:

- Improvements in these areas offer substantial potential for assisting the farmers of Middle Kirinyaga to increase productivity and to better meet their own priorities in accordance with national policies, and
- Potential innovations arising from production research in these areas are likely to be acceptable to the farmers and feasible for them to adopt.

Two priority areas for maize/bean production research stand out over the others in order of importance:

- 1. Improving soil fertility and structure.
- Easing the draught power bottleneck to enable farmers to plant earlier.

Soil fertility and structure were selected because they are critical constraints and because it appears that technologies available for solving these problems are effective and within the means of many farmers.¹ Easing the draught power bottleneck was selected because time of planting is perhaps the most important variable for increasing crop productivity. Although we have no quick and easy solution to this problem, we propose several avenues by which the bottleneck may be reduced, permitting farmers to plant earlier.

¹Two factors explain why soil fertility was selected as a critical constraint although relatively little attention was given to it during the survey. First, it was much simpler to develop an understanding of farming practices concerning soil fertility than it was, say, to describe and explain maize variety use or timing of plowing/planting. Second, as no potential, feasible solution to the soil problem was identified until relatively late in the survey exercise, the topic was not given much importance during the early stages.

Three other research areas are given secondary priority:

- 1. Improved maize varieties.
- 2. Improved bean cultivars.
- 3. Maize storage improvement.

These areas each offer substantial potential for increasing productivity. However, improved maize varieties and bean cultivars will have limited effect without changes in other variables such as time of planting, plant population, and soil fertility. Maize storage also receives secondary priority because, as one woman admonished us, "How can you talk to me about storage when I never have anything to store!" Moreover, most farmers prefer to use a variety which stores well without chemicals, or use chemicals and do not encounter problems.

Before discussing these five priority research areas in greater detail, it should be noted that non-experimental variables form the context in which experimental variables will be studied. For experiments designed to formulate farmer recommendations, non-experimental variables will normally be fixed at current farmer practices as shown in Table 5-19.¹ Thus, researchers will be able to test the response of an innovation(s) under farmers' own conditions.

6.3. Improve Soil Fertility and Structure

Farmers in Middle Kirinyaga have been planting maize and beans continuously, two times per year, for 10 to 20 years with no fertilizer and only minimal quantities of manure. Many have tried fertilizer but

¹In some cases, it may be preferable to allow the farmer to fix non-experimental variables at levels he deems suitable (Kirkby, 1981).

most of these have stopped using it, citing lack of cash, low profitability, or lack of knowledge about how to use it. Several different strategies may be pursued to try to improve soil fertility and structure in Middle Kirinyaga.

6.3.1. Use of Coffee By-Products as Manure for Maize and Beans

The Sagana Coffee Factory currently produces about 1,000 lorryloads per year of coffee husks¹ which it contracts out to a private trucker to dump. These by-products are high in nutrient content; and the Coffee Research Foundation (CRF) has found them to be useful as both a mulch and a manure on coffee.

Table 6.1 presents the costs and returns of alternative measures to increase soil fertility through fertilizer and coffee husks, and the yield increases required to pay for the costs. Coffee husks appear to compete very favorably with fertilizer for the following reasons:

1. The partial budget in Table 6.1 shows a positive net benefit to applications of coffee husks. The cost per Kg. of nitrogen and P_2O_5 in the coffee husks is about one-third of the cost of the nutrients in 20-20-0 fertilizer. Soils in Middle Kirinyaga are deficient in both nitrogen and P_2O_5 . The total cost of applying the husks (cash, labor and cost of capital) is only 40 percent of the cost of applying fertilizer.

¹The husks are approximately three-quarters husk and one-quarter pulp by weight. Production began in 1981 and is expected to double in 1982 as the factory makes better use of its capacity. At a rate of one lorry-load per year per farm, the factory could serve 2,000 farmers in 1982, about one-third of all farmers in Middle Kirinyaga.

Tabi	le f	5.1
------	------	-----

Estimated Costs and Returns to Alternative Measures for Increasing Soil Fertility, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981

		Control (no application)	Fertilizer	Coffee Husks/Pulp
1.	Treatment			
	Quantity applied per ha.	0	150 Kg.	l lorry load
	$(N-P_2O_5-K_2O)^a$	0	30-30-0	39-27-146
2.	Returns per ha.			
	Maize yield ^b	750 Kg.	1,000 Kg.	1,000 Kg.
	Value of Production ^C	3,000 Shs.	300 kg. 400 kg. 4 000 Shs. 4,000	4,000 Shs.
3.	Variable money costs per ha.			
	Nutrients ^d Transport ^e	0 0	780 Shs. 30 Shs.	0 275 Shs.
	Total variable money costs	0	810 Shs.	275 Shs.
4.	Variable Opportunity Costs per	ha.		
	Application labor (man-days)	0	2	5
	Application labor cost/season ⁹	0	30 Shs.	25 Shs.
5.	Cost of Capital ^h per ha.	0	420 Shs.	225 Shs.
6.	Total Cost per ha.	0	1,230 Shs.	500 Shs.
7.	Net Benefit ⁱ per ha.	-	-230 Shs.	+500 Shs.
8.	Approximate Maize Yield per ha.			
	for Total Costs	-	615 Kg. or 6.8 bags per ha. for one season	125 Kg. or 1.4 bags per season for each of two seasons

^aAnalysis of coffee husks and pulp is from Qureshi, 1977. Fertilizer type is 20-20-0.

^bYields in control group are based on survey data. Yields under fertilizer and coffee husks/pulp treatments are based on researchers' estimates.

^CPrices are averages over 2-year period (see Figure 4.3): Maize: 2.0 Shs./Kg. Beans: 5.0 Shs./Kg.

 $d_{Approximate cost of 20-20-0}$ in the area = Shs. 260 per 50 Kg. Coffee husks are available for free from Sagana Coffee Factory.

 $^{\rm e}$ Fertilizer transport costs = 50 Shs/bag. Husks delivery costs range from Shs. 200-350 lorry depending on distance travelled.

^fApplication costs per man-day are less for coffee husks since they may be applied in the slack season.

^gThe costs of applying coffee husks are spread over two seasons.

 $^{
m h}$ 50% for fertilizer, 75% for husks since benefits are spread over two seasons.

 $^{\rm i}$ Coffee husks likely have further benefits not accounted for in this table: increased moisture retention due to improved soil structure and mulching, and suppression of weeds.

 $^{j}\mbox{The benefits of coffee husks are spread over two seasons, since they release nutrients at a much slower rate than does fertilizer.$

2. Coffee husks improve soil structure, enhancing moisture and nutrient retention. Moisture retention is particularly important for Middle Kirinyaga farmers, given the brevity of the rainfall. On the other hand, fertilizer does not enhance soil structure.

3. In case of drought, the investment in fertilizer is wasted. However, coffee husks release nutrients over a period of two seasons; thus, the farmer can spread his risk over two seasons instead of one.

4. Coffee husks are much less susceptible to problems of leaching and incorrect placement than is fertilizer.

5. The coffee husks may be applied during the slack season before planting, when labor is available. On the other hand, fertilizer must be applied at planting time, when labor may not be available.

6. Coffee husks serve as a mulch, reducing weed growth and preserving moisture.

Proposed Experiment for Low Income Farmers

The object of the coffee husks experiment is to evaluate the response of maize and beans to coffee husks and to compare it to the response to fertilizer, on farmers' fields. The experiment has two experimental variables, maize plant population and soil fertility.

The levels for maize plant population are 25,000/ha. (farmer level) and 35,000/ha. (improved level). Row width is maintained, but plant spacing within the row is increased by planting 2 seeds every 40 cm. instead of 1 seed every 30 cm.

The levels for fertilizer are 0 and 30-30-0 (150 Kg. of 20-20-0 per ha.), applied at the rate of 8 grams per seed position. The levels for

coffee husks are 0 and 4 lorry-loads (approximately 14 tons) per ha. spread on the field just before plowing.

If a significant yield response to coffee husks is observed, as expected, this experiment will be followed by a "levels" experiment to establish the optimal quantity to apply per hectare. In the levels experiment, we would be particularly interested in assessing the yield response to low levels of application, affordable to low income farmers. Furthermore, the experiment should be mounted on-station as well to monitor the long-term effects of husks.

Proposed Experiment for High Income Farmers

Same as above except with a third treatment: maize variety. Two maize varieties will be included, Local and H-511. Plant population is 30,000/ha. (farmer level) and 40,000/ha. (improved level).

6.3.2. Training Farmers on Conservation and Use of Livestock Manure

Most farmers graze their animals during the day, and keep them in an enclosed area at night. Manure piles up in the enclosed area, and after harvest, usually one time per year, the farmer spreads the manure over a portion of the farm. Several weeks later the farmer plows and the manure is turned under. Farmers need to be instructed that this manure should be heaped and covered with grass when fresh, to minimize the leaching of nitrates by rainfall.

6.3.3. Training Farmers on Correct Method of Fertilizer Application

Few farmers use fertilizer, and many apply it at rates that are so low that its effects are negligible. Moreover, some farmers stated that they did not know which fertilizer to apply nor now to apply it. These are clearly problems for the extension service to address. Farmers need to be instructed about kinds of fertilizer to use and how to apply them. If farmers can afford only small quantities of fertilizer, they should use it on small portions of their farm and not spread it over a large area. However, training farmers on the correct method of applying fertilizer will help a relatively small number of farmers only. Survey data indicated that lack of cash and low profitability are more important constraints than lack of knowledge in explaining non-adoption of fertilizer.

6.4. Ease the Draught-Power Bottleneck to Permit Earlier Planting

As soon as the rains begin, farmers rush to plow and plant their maize and beans. However, a large number of farmers in both groups plant their farms late. Late-planted fields give low yields and are prone to complete failures if the rains end early. A number of avenues may be pursued to ease the draught-power bottleneck.

6.4.1. Make Dry Planting More Attractive to Farmers

Although farmers like to plant early, most prefer not to plant before the rains begin, citing the risks of (1) seeds germinating and dying due to a false start of the rains (maize and beans), (2) ants consuming seed (maize and beans), (3) seeds not germinating due to warm soil conditions (beans), and (4) bean flowers being destroyed by rainfall because flowers form before heavy rains cease. Research must focus on minimizing these problems. Enhancing the attractiveness of dry planting would serve two purposes:

- Easing the draught-power bottleneck which occurs after the rains begin. Farmers would be able to plant their crops earlier, minimizing the risk of crop losses when the rain ends early.
- Increasing crop yields since dry planted crops yield higher than wet planted crops. This is so because of changes in soil temperature and nutrient availability which occur when the rains begin, as discussed in Chapter 5.

Several means are available to encourage dry planting and thus reduce the draught-power bottleneck which occurs as soon as the rain begins. We emphasize that it is not our objective to make dry planting risk-free; indeed, no time of planting is risk free. As draught power becomes more scarce and the moisture retaining capacity of soils decreases, dry planting will become even more popular. Our objective is to decrease the risks of dry planting for those farmers who already dry plant, and to make dry planting more attractive to those now planting wet. It is likely that even a modest reduction in the risk of dry planting would considerably help many farmers in Middle Kirinyaga. The following efforts would be useful in this respect: 1. Selecting Bean Cultivars More Suitable for Dry Planting

The required cultivars should be superior to present ones in their ability to withstand dry planting. Their development will be discussed in detail in Section 6.6 on bean varieties.

2. Seed Treatment Against Ant Damage

Effective and inexpensive means are available to treat maize and bean seed before planting. Aldrin 2.5 percent is available in the area, and the cost per treatment would only be about Shs. 6 per ha. However, Aldrin is a persistent and deadly pesticide and care must be taken in recommending its use to farmers. A safe alternative should be identified and extended to farmers.

3. Deep Planting of Maize

Increasing the depth of maize seed from 2.5 cm. at present to 5 cm. would appreciably minimize the risk caused by a false start of the rains. Farmers would have little problem digging deeper furrows; their plows can be easily adjusted. Since dry plowing is less difficult than wet plowing in Middle Kirinyaga, deep,dry planting would not increase the workload over shallow, wet planting.

Proposed Research/Extension Demonstration

The proposed demonstration would seek to extend both anticide and deeper maize planting to farmers. The site selected should already have an ant problem. Half of the plot is planted at 2.5 cm. deep and half at 5 cm. Half of each of these sections is then planted with anticide, the other without. The demonstration will show farmers the benefits of using anticide and planting maize deeply when dry planting. The

experiment would be more effective if a similarly treated bean variety for dry planting were available. However, even if it is not available, the proposed demonstration could effectively alter the balance of risks between dry and wet planting for some farmers, encouraging them to dry plant their maize.

6.4.2. Develop Infrequent-Tillage and No-Tillage Systems

Many low income farmers do not plow their fields because they lack cash or because they fear they will not be able to hire or borrow a plow in good time. Experimental work should focus on developing no-till and infrequent tillage systems which maintain or increase yields over farmers' present practices. Farmers who plant without plowing experience two principal problems--an increase in weeds and a decrease in moisture retention. Planting into crop residues left from the previous season may help solve both of these problems. Research efforts should build on the work done at Katumani Research Station, Machakos.

Proposed Experiment for Low Income Farmers

The site would be one which had been plowed the previous season. There are two experimental variables, method of land preparation/planting and quantity of maize stover left on the field.

The land preparation treatments are (1) plow preparation/planting and (2) no preparation/planting by <u>panga</u>. Treatments for maize stover are (1) no maize stover left on the field and (2) all of the maize stover left on the field. Moisture levels will be monitored by collecting soil samples. Weed counts will also be recorded. The experiment will continue for three years with the same treatments each season.

6.4.3. Encourage Farmers to Stagger Plow/Plant Their Fields

Farmers can hedge against the risks of dry planting by planting some of their fields dry and some after the rains begin. A few farmers are already staggering their planting. Farmers who stagger are also able to complete their weeding on a more timely basis, since weed growth begins later on the wet planted field.

6.4.4. Increase the Rate of Work and Efficiency of Ox-Plow Teams

Ox-plow teams currently plow at a relatively high rate of efficiency--one acre per five hours work per day for a team of four oxen managed by two persons. Farmers indicated that feed was not a particularly pressing problem limiting the rate of work. Upgrading the animals may present some advantages; one farmer we met plowed with two cross-bred oxen which he felt completed more work and ate less food than the four Zebu oxen he had used previously. Increasing the efficiency of equipment may also offer some scope; the moldboard plows used in the area are virtually the same as the ones used 25 years ago.

6.5. Improved Maize Varieties

Most farmers in both groups grow local maize for their main stock of maize and a bit of Katumani for early maize. Evidence from demonstrations and from some high income farmers indicates that hybrid maize outyields Local when accompanied by early planting, improved soil fertility, and increased plant population. Indeed, one-third of the high income farmers plant hybrids for their main stock of maize. On the other hand, farmers were nearly unanimous that Katumani gives a lower yield than Local, except in seasons in which the rain ends very early.

This finding contradicts those research and extension trials which show that Katumani yields more than Local regardless of the level of rainfall. It is likely that the difference in performance is due to a difference between management of the trials and farmer practice. Possible sources of variation include plant population, intercrops, planting method, and soil fertility. Nevertheless, Katumani plays an important role in the farming systems of both groups by providing farmers with early maize at a time when their own supplies are often exhausted.

It would not be economical to establish a breeding or even a selection program for only 7,000 farmers. However, we offer the following proposals for breeding and selection work since it is likely that information on variety use holds for farmers in other parts of Kenya as well.

6.5.1. Main Stock Maize Variety for Low Income Farmers

Neither hybrid nor Katumani are appropriate main stock varieties for low income farmers. Hybrid seed is too expensive for them to buy every year. Katumani is not liked primarily because it is low yielding. Moreover, although farmers recognize that Katumani is drought-avoiding, they do not attach much importance to this characteristic. Also,

farmers experience problems storing both varieties with or without using storage insecticide.

A medium-maturity composite with good husk cover and good storage characteristics that yields more than Local and Katumani under farmers' own growing conditions would be readily acceptable to farmers. Local maize has a maturity period of about 165 days in the long rains season. If the composite were slightly shorter, farmers could benefit from harvesting their maize earlier, for either food or for sale.

Proposed Variety Experiments for Low Income Farmers

1. Compare Katumani, Local and H-511 under different levels of soil fertility. The experiment would be carried out on farmers' fields using zero, medium, and high levels of N and P_2O_5 . The experiment will identify whether or not there is an interaction between soil fertility and maize variety.

2. Compare Katumani, Local, and H-511 on storage characteristics. Researchers have already established that weevil attacks in the field differ among varieties. However, it is not clear whether hardness of grain or husk coverage is responsible. A laboratory experiment to relate hardness of grain to weevil damage would be useful. Farmer opinion is that both husk cover and grain "taste" are important and that Local outperforms other varieties on both counts.

6.5.2. Varieties for Early Maize

One-half of the farmers in Middle Kirinyaga grow Katumani maize for early maize. Analysis based on the decision tree in Figure 5.1 showed that yield considerations are not very important in the decision

whether or not to grow Katumani for early maize. Farmers are more interested in securing some early maize, since they often do not have any maize during the month before harvesting Local and Hybrid. Nor do they have the money to purchase maize, which in any case is available only at high prices. It follows that an even shorter maturing variety than Katumani, say one which matures in 90-100 days, would also be popular among low income and perhaps even high income farmers. Of course, farmers would allocate only a very small portion of their farm to the production of such a variety. Nevertheless, it is likely that many farmers would place a high value on such a variety, since it would provide them with much-needed maize at a time when supplies are scarce. Dryland composite, a 100-day variety currently being tested by Katumani research station for areas with very short rainfall seasons, is a likely candidate.

Proposed Experiment: Farmer Evaluation of Dryland Composite

Establish small blocks on farmers' fields at two different populations--farmers' level and a higher level. Principal management practices will be recorded and farmers' evaluations obtained. If farmers do find the variety useful, it can be introduced on a wider basis.

6.6. Improved Bean Cultivars

Both groups of farmers have strong preferences for Canadian Wonder for reasons of yield, taste, and high sale price. Therefore, improvement should be based on Canadian Wonder whenever possible.

6.6.1. Selecting a Cultivar Which Can be Planted Dry

The required cultivars should be superior to present ones in their ability to withstand dry planting. More specifically, they should be better:

- Able to germinate after being exposed to a slight amount of moisture. This will minimize the effect of a false start of the rains.
- More drought resistant in early stages of growth, also to minimize the effect of a false start of the rains.
- 3. Able to germinate under warmer soil conditions, and
- Have later flower formation and/or greater resistant to flower destruction by heavy rains.

Achieving these objectives is extremely difficult; all one can probably expect is marginal improvement over the performance of existing varieties. Nevertheless, even some improvement would be useful for promoting dry planting.

Deep planting is an important possibility for minimizing the dangers of dry planting. Deeply planted beans would be less likely to be affected by a false start to the rains, and because of the lower soil temperature at greater depths, less likely to lose vigor. Unfortunately, there is relatively little latitude in changing the depth of a particular bean cultivar. The optimal depth of bean seeding varies with rainfall, seed size, and soil structure. Nevertheless, there appears to be some potential for identifying cultivars which can be planted deep. For example, a larger-seed variety may be planted deeper than a smaller-seed variety. There also appears to be some variation among cultivars in conditions required for germination and in drought resistance in early stages of growth. It is possible that this variation could be exploited in order to offer farmers varieties which are less susceptible to germination in case of a false start to the rains or which are drought resistant in their first few weeks of growth. Research on the germination process might focus on how seeds can be improved to absorb moisture less rapidly, or not to absorb soil moisture if it is less than a certain amount.

Finally, selecting varieties which form flowers at a later time than currently available varieties is the best measure for avoiding the impact of heavy rainfall. This would appear to be a more effective solution than selecting for strength of flower attachment to stem.

Proposed Experimentation

1. Bean Depth of Seed

This trial would be mounted on station under controlled conditions. Experimental variables are bean cultivars and depth of seed. Cultivars from the area and other promising ones could be tested under a simulated false start of rains. Germination results, drought tolerance over a two-week dry period following initial rainfall, and yield would be monitored.

2. Soil Temperature and Depth of Seed

Another experiment also carried out on station under controlled conditions could focus on the relationship between soil temperature and depth of seed, and how different varieties perform at various

temperatures. Germination would be monitored to indicate tolerance to high soil temperatures.

6.6.2. Selecting a Palatable Variety with High Returns to Seed Cost--Low Income Farmers

Most experimental work on beans focuses on increasing yield per unit land area. For some farmers, researchers have argued that returns to planting labor is a more important criteria (Gathee, 1980). It appears that for many farmers in Middle Kirinyaga, especially low income farmers, the most relevant criterion is returns to the cost of seed per unit of land area.

For example, the survey shows that Mexican 142 is generally considered to be an inferior variety--it has poor color, poor taste characteristics, a low price, and no yield advantage over most other Nevertheless, it is very popular, particularly among low varieties. income farmers, because it is the most inexpensive variety to plant. Farmers grow Mexican 142 and sell it after harvesting in order to buy beans which are more palatable. Many farmers have exhausted their bean supply by planting time and lack cash forpurchasing bean seed. Mexican 142 is attractive to these farmers because it has a high number of seeds per kilogram, and because its price is low. Moreover, since the plants throw out a relatively high number of pods per plant, it can be planted at a fairly low density. Table 6.2 shows that Mexican 142 has a price one-third less than Canadian Wonder, and a recommended seeding rate onehalf less. Planting a hectare of Mexican 142 costs one-third as much as planting a hectare of Canadian Wonder. Thus, even though Mexican 142 has several unfavorable characteristics, many farmers grow it simply

Table 6.2

Seed Cost per Hectare of Selected Bean Cultivars, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981

	Canadian Wonder or Mwezi-Moja	Rosecoco- oval	Mexican 142
1000 seed weight (grams)	500	350	250
Kg. seed required/ha.	75	50	37
Cost of seed/Kg.	5.5	5.2	3.7
Seed cost/ha. (Shs.)	412	260	137

Source: Adopted from Government of Kenya, 1979b. Data for Mexican 142 from own sample measurements. Seed costs from Kagio market, March 1981.

because they lack cash at planting time and it is by far the cheapest cultivar to plant.

A variety which could compete with Mexican 142 on maximizing returns per cost of seed per hectare should:

- 1. be small-seeded; have a large number of seeds per kilogram.
- 2. have growth vigor and be able to yield well when planted at a low density. It appears that there is considerable variation in this aspect among different bean varieties. However, care must be taken that the effect on intercropped maize not be adverse.
- 3. be palatable.
- yield favorably under the low-fertility conditions found on low-income farms.

6.7. Improved Storage Management for Maize

Malathion (2 percent) is the storage insecticide most frequently used in Middle Kirinyaga. However, some farmers have difficulty storing hybrids and Katumani with chemical insecticide from one season to the next. It appears likely that the method of storage is responsible. The principal causes are probably low application rates, late applications (applying only when problem is noticed), contamination from nontreated maize, and poor sanitation. If farmers can be shown how to apply insecticide correctly, more may adopt Katumani and hybrids. Thus, extension demonstrations of correct and incorrect storage management would be useful.

6.8. Sunflower Research

Our research gave less emphasis to crops other than maize or beans. However, one crop, sunflower, appears to offer substantial benefits to farmers.

Sunflower is currently grown by only a very few farmers in Middle Kirinyaga. However, it appears to be appropriate for a larger number of farmers in both income groups. It is especially attractive during the short rains, because it is less susceptible than maize to drought.

High income farmers can afford to implement the seed-fertilizerinsecticide package offered by the Wanguru Sunflower Research Station (WSRS). Sunflower has a high potential among this group because the area lacks a cash crop, and sunflower can yield well when the rain is poor.

However, as is true for maize and beans, it is likely that most farmers will ignore "high" levels of management, preferring to use their

.

money on off-farm investments or investing in higher return cash farm enterprises like dairy, vegetables and coffee. Further, the unreliability of the short rains is a disincentive towards investing much cash in sunflower during the short rains.

Sunflower is a promising cash crop for many low income farmers as well. The current research recommendations cost about 785 shillings per acre and offer the farmer a profit of about 575 Shillings (Wanguru Sunflower Research Station, 1981). However, these farmers simply cannot afford to spend money on farm inputs required for intensive sunflower production, even if the return appears high. Low-income farmers have less land and are closer to the margin of subsistence. Thus they will be more likely to intercrop their sunflower with maize and/or beans.

How can sunflower research help these farmers? Some interesting research questions are presented below:

- 1. Is it possible that the recommended varieties under high levels of management, Issanka and Hybrid 301, actually yield less than other varieties, when planted at low levels of management? That is, if selections were carried out at low levels of management, is it possible that one could find other varieties which outperform Issanka and the hybrids at these low management levels? WSRC hybrids have been found to outyield Issanka under high management levels. Would this also be true under low levels of management?
- If a farmer has only 100 shillings to spend on his sunflower crop, say for one acre, how should he spend it?

(Nitrogen or phosphate, basal dressing or top dressing, etc.? Or insecticide?)

- 3. Are there good responses to fertilizer when low rates are applied? Are these responses adequate to warrant adoption by farmers?
- 4. WSRC is currently carrying out maize/soybean/sunflower intercropping trials in recognition of the fact that most farmers prefer to intercrop. It would be useful to compare the treatments with the system the farmers most often use: 1 row of sunflower, -1-2 rows of maize, and beans broadcast throughout before plowing.

CHAPTER 7

EVALUATION OF METHODS

The principal technique used in this thesis is the CIMMYT diagnostic survey, which includes an exercise identifying recommendation domains (RD's), an informal survey, and a formal survey. During the informal survey, repertory grid (RG) and hierarchical decisiontree modeling (HDM) were used to develop a greater understanding of farmer decisions concerning selected leverage points--RG to identify important decision criteria and HDM to examine the decision process. The purpose of the formal survey was to verify the information developed in the informal survey, including data for the RG's and HDM's.

The purpose of this chapter is to address the issues outlined in Section 2.6 regarding the three techniques: the CIMMYT diagnostic survey, the RG and the HDM. In the first section, we evaluate the contributions of RG and HDM to the CIMMYT diagnostic survey for collecting and analyzing normative and prescriptive information about farmer decisions. In the second section, we examine the quality of information gathered at different stages of the diagnostic survey to evaluate (1) the effectiveness of the exercise to identify recommendation domains (RD's) and (2) the contribution of the formal survey towards understanding farming systems and planning an experimental program for farmers.

7.1. Evaluation of Repertory Grid and Hierarchical Decision Modeling

A conceptual model, such as RG and HDM can never be proven to be correct. However, a model can be evaluated subject to selected criteria. Johnson and Zerby (1973) identify four criteria for testing models and other concepts:

- <u>Coherence</u>. The concept must be logical and internally consistent.
- <u>Correspondence</u>. The concept must be externally consistent; the models must agree with experience and be applicable in a wide variety of circumstances.
- <u>Clarity</u>. The concept must be clear, precise, and unambiguous.
- 4. <u>Workable</u>. The concept must be useful for solving problems; whether practical or theoretical.

7.1.1. Repertory Grid

In this thesis, repertory grid has been used (1) to identify the criteria farmers use in deciding among selected technological alternatives, and (2) to assemble normative data on how farmers evaluate the alternatives using the most important criteria. This information is important to researchers so that they can be aware of (1) all the aspects which farmers consider important in evaluating varieties, and (2) how different varieties perform on each aspect.

In Chapter 5, RG served an important role in developing an understanding of farmers' preferences. For example, early in the informal survey, maize varieties were identified as a potentially important leverage point. We began to build our grids by identifying important criteria farmers use in selecting maize varieties. Informal interviews were mounted in which farmers responded to open questions on the advantages and disadvantages of alternative varieties. About ten farmers were interviewed; this sample served as a basis for designing the formal survey and building a repertory grid for farmers in Middle Kirinyaga. Table 5.3 detailed the criteria farmers consider important when selecting a maize variety, and the favorable and unfavorable aspects of each variety. The discussion of the grid in Section 5.1.1 focuses on how each variety performs on each criterion.

Of course, one may argue that the CIMMYT informal survey can be used to determine farmers' evaluations of alternative technologies. However, RG can contribute to the CIMMYT diagnostic survey by enabling the researchers to approach a particular issue, say advantages and disadvantages of alternative maize varieties, in a systematic manner. Certainly, there is a danger in using systematic methods in an informal survey; open-ended probing is the essence of an informal survey. If systematic methods are what is wanted, why not just use a questionnaire? However, RG can help minimize the problems involved in holding unstructured informal dialogues. For example, the particular questions the researcher asks and the way he asks them may be so different between farmers that variation in questioning methods becomes a more important determinant of responses than actual variation among farmers. Moreover, it is often difficult to distill the results of such a discussion without a framework for organizing the data in a meaningful way. RG provides the researcher with ways of (1) collecting information in an open, yet systematic manner, and (2) organizing and analyzing the data so as to

permit quantitative comparisons among alternatives and straightforward interpretation of results.

Furthermore, RG does not add significantly to the time spent in the informal survey. For example, if evaluating farmers' opinions of alternative varieties is important, researchers would be exploring this topic with or without RG. Thus, it is more accurate to view RG as a means of directing interviews and systematizing the results of an informal survey rather than as a supplement to the survey.

Two qualifications to the use of RG must be emphasized. First, the method must be used carefully; there is a very delicate line between systematizing an informal survey and destroying its essence by substituting structure for the informal, probing character of the informal survey. Second, the information which RG generates is of limited use in explaining the actual decisions farmers make, e.g., why farmers grow certain varieties. RG provides information about farmers' beliefs concerning normative and positive information. However, the model is not useful for explaining how farmers use this information to reach decisions.

For example, RG does not explain how the farmer resolves tradeoffs among criteria. In the RG on maize varieties, high yield and early maturity are important favorable characteristics of maize varieties. The grid shows that hybrid yields more than Katumani in seasons of sufficient rains, but Katumani matures earlier. Unfortunately, RG does not help us understand how the farmer resolves this tradeoff. Moreover, the decision may be even more complex, the farmer may be weighing the advantages and disadvantages of several different varieties across a number of criteria.

Furthermore, even if RG were able to offer insight into farmers' intentions, it would not help explain how intentions are translated into actions. For example, the decision tree on maize varieties demonstrated that a myriad of constraints and chance circumstances may interfere with a farmer's intentions to plant a particular variety.

In conclusion, RG provides much useful information on farmers' perceptions about alternative technologies and preferences among them. The model stands up well to the test of coherence and clarity; it is clear, logical, and internally consistent, as shown in Section 2.6. Furthermore, it can be used under a wide variety of circumstances and thus rates well on the criteria of correspondence; people are generally capable of rating alternatives across a range of criteria. However, RG performs less well on the test of workability. An understanding of the advantages and disadvantages of alternatives provides an important base for developing an understanding of farmer decisions. However, the technique does not provide prescriptive information explaining the tradeoffs farmers make among criteria or the intentions and actions of farmers.

7.1.2. Hierarchical Decision Modeling

In Chapter 5, HDM provided a basis for explaining farmer practices at two key leverage points: maize variety use and the method and timing of land preparation and planting. RG was useful for analyzing farmer opinions about normative and positive information bearing on their decisions. HDM is used to assemble this and further information in a systematic manner to show the logic behind farmers' decisions. Further, like RG, it also plays a role in guiding the interviews toward information required for explaining decisions and outcomes of decisions.

Each decision tree developed in the informal survey was based on interviews with approximately ten farmers. The questions used for developing HDM's in the informal survey were then incorporated into the formal survey. The decision trees were later revised based on formal survey responses. Thus, each tree in Chapter 5 summarizes the actual decisions made by each of 80-plus sample farmers. The trees themselves are rather complex and require careful study. Further, they form the basis for tables which highlight the principal results of the exercise. For example, Tables 5.10-5.13 summarize the principal results of the decision tree analysis on time and method of land preparation/planting.

Specifically, HDM assists the researchers to determine:

1. Which of the criteria identified in the informal survey are important in distinguishing users of a given technology from non-users. For example, the tree in Figure 5.3 shows that the important criteria for determining whether or not farmers grow Katumani for their main stock include ability to store, dog damage, appraisal of its yield with sufficient rainfall, and yield in low rainfall. Other criteria relevant to growing Katumani were mentioned by some farmers. However, with the help of the tree model, the researcher determined that these were not important because performance on these criteria were never important in determining whether or not a farmer grew Katumani. For example, including this criterion in the tree would have been superfluous because in no case was it an important enough problem to inhibit adoption.

2. The relative importance of different factors causing adoption or non-adoption. For example, the HDM on hybrid use shows that lack of

cash is the most important cause of non-adoption, followed by poor storage, low yield/no profit, and belief that second generation seed is the same as new seed. HDM is also useful for identifying the reasons for adoption. For example, the HDM identifies at least five reasons why farmers plant Katumani for their main stock of maize. Only half of those planting are doing so because they feel Katumani is the best variety for their main stock of maize. The other reasons include: (1) because preferred variety is not available, (2) because of delay in planting and fear that preferred variety will perform poorly, (3) because resources for planting the preferred variety are not available, and (4) because of desire to sell maize at harvest time.

The tradeoff between criteria in situations where a different 3. alternative is rated best on each of two or more important criteria. The HDM's presented in Chapter 5 include several cases where a tradeoff across criteria is important in farmers' decisions. For example, most farmers claim that Katumani is the highest yielding variety when rains are low but are discouraged by its yield performance when rainfall is sufficient. Most farmers assume sufficient rainfall and thus reject Katumani as a variety for their main stock of maize. Thus, yield in sufficient rain is a more important criterion than yield in low rainfall. In a further example concerning whether or not to plant Katumani for early maize, the poor yield performance in sufficient rainfall is less important than the attractiveness of having early maize. Thus most farmers plant Katumani for early maize, despite its low yield in sufficient rainfall.

4. The effect of removing particular constraints on adoption. For example, improving the storability of Katumani would not increase the

number of farmers growing Katumani for early maize. Even though many farmers are unable to store Katumani seed from harvest to planting season, they are able to obtain Katumani seed by purchasing it or obtaining it from neighbors.

5. The effect of resource constraints and chance circumstances on the ability of farmers to carry out their intentions. Farmers in the "forced action" learning state (See Section 2.3) are forced by outside circumstances to reach a decision. For example, in the time-of-planting HDM, many farmers lack oxen or cash for hiring oxen and are thus forced to plant late. Moreover, even farmers who have cash for hiring oxen may not be able to get them for plowing when they desire.

The above five points show how HDM assists the researcher in developing an understanding of farmers' decisions. Furthermore, HDM is also useful in identifying and checking important information bearing on decision processes. In developing a tree, the farmers' responses form a consistent picture of the decision outcome and its determinants. As shown in the discussion of Figure 2.2 in Section 2.7, internal consistency is an important requirement of the decision tree. When internal consistency breaks down, i.e., a contradiction arises, the researcher knows there is a misunderstanding of the decision process which should be remedied. For example, when asked why she did not grow Katumani, one farmer replied that the reason was that she lacked cash to purchase seed. However, further probing indicated that the farmer knew much about Katumani and that she thought it performed poorly on a number of characteristics, including yield and storage. It became clear that lack of cash was not the reason she did not grow the variety and she confirmed that "low yield" was the principal reason.

This situation is fairly simple and perhaps typical and one can argue that such problems can be solved with a few check questions without constructing a decision tree. Nevertheless, the reasons behind farmer decisions are often complex and in some cases a contradiction in the tree was what alerted the researcher that his information was incomplete, not his own intuition. As another example, a farmer interviewed in the formal survey grew Katumani for his main stock of maize, yet was unable to store it. All other farmers reaching the question "able to store Katumani with chemicals" on the decision tree and answering "no" had rejected Katumani. But here we had a farmer who grew Katumani yet was unable to store it. Two possible explanations were available. First, some information obtained from the farmer might not have been correct, e.g., perhaps he did not really grow Katumani. Second, the information obtained may have been correct but incomplete; that is, some added information existed which made not being able to store Katumani and still growing it part of an internally consistent explanation. In fact, we found that the farmer sold all of his Katumani at harvest time, which was the principal reason he liked growing it. We included him on the tree by adding a new node below the storage node for "grow to sell at harvest time".

In fact, HDM is important for assembling the body of information about a particular decision and directing questioning so as to explain farmer decisions. HDM is used to develop a set of relevant topics and information about a given decision. It is interesting to note that the initial response to the question, "what is the principal reason you do not plant more (any) of your fields to Katumani?", in our formal survey, was revised in approximately one-third of the questionnaires. The

principal reason for revision was that the answer was not consistent with other information which the tree process had guided us towards obtaining from the farmer; further probing resulted in a modification in the recorded response. "Running" a farmer through the decision tree following an interview, was a useful means for checking, (1) the internal consistency of our record of the farmer's perceptions, opinions, and actions; and (2) the ability of the tree to model farmers' decisions.

Limitations of HDM

There are several qualifications for using HDM's to examine farmer decisions.

First, farmer decisions can be understood only in the context of the overall farming system--his objectives, his resources and how he uses them, the constraints he faces, and the environment he lives in. Therefore, HDM's should only be used as a part of a more comprehensive farming systems approach such as the CIMMYT diagnostic survey.

Second, alternatives and decision criteria in HDM's must be discrete. For example, whereas HDM could be used to examine the decision whether or not to use fertilizer, it probably could not be used to model the decision on the quantity of fertilizer used, since quantity is a continuous variable. However, continuous variables can often be made discrete if in the farmer's view, there is a logical reason underlying the intervals. For example, time of planting is a continuous variable, but, in Middle Kirinyaga, it is logical to classify planting dates into three intervals: before the rains start, during the first ten days of rainfall, and after the first ten days of rainfall.

Third, where a wide array of choices is available and most farmers select several different alternatives, the usefulness of HDM is limited. For example, in Section 5.1.2, it was noted that Middle Kirinyaga farmers normally plant two to three bean cultivars from a selection of 13 possible cultivars and at least 5 are each planted by over 10 percent of the farmers. Here, the decision on which varieties to plant is too complex to model. However, the decision tree can be used to model the decision to plant any particular cultivar. In the case of bean cultivars, the repertory grid is particularly useful for identifying the favorable and unfavorable characteristics of a wide array of alternatives.

Fourth, HDM is most effective when the available alternatives are known to all or nearly all farmers interviewed. In the discussion of knowledge states in Section 2.3 we distinguished between two kinds of knowledge states: those where present knowledge is adequate for making a decision, and those where it is not. HDM's are most useful when most farmers have enough knowledge to make decisions. For example, most farmers in Middle Kirinyaga have experience planting their maize and beans at each of the three possible times: before the rains, during the first ten days of rainfall, and later. Moreover, farmers who have not planted at a particular time usually have strong opinions about planting at that time because they have learned about the results from friends and relatives who have tried planting at that time. Thus, it is likely that nearly all farmers in Hiddle Kirinyaga have enough knowledge about the three times of planting to make decisions about them. The same could probably not be said about fertilizer, an input which most farmers have never used. It would be extremely difficult to distinguish farmers in

risk and certainty knowledge states--farmers who have made a decision not to use fertilizer--from those in learning or inaction knowledge states--those who are not using it because they lack information about it. This problem may be avoided by dealing exclusively with decisions in which all alternatives are known to all farmers.

Fifth, in certain cases, people may be unable to explain why they do what they do. For example, an action may be taken without considering alternatives, as when a farmer plants in a certain manner because that is the way he was taught to plant. In these cases, no decision, per se, was made.

Two further issues are important in evaluating HDM: (1) its incorporation into the informal survey, and (2) its costs in terms of additional time required.

First, as we argued for RG, developing HDM's is consistent with the openness and informality of the informal survey. HDM can be incorporated into the informal survey to provide guidance on information to be collected and methodical analysis of this information without detracting from the character of the informal survey.

Second, it is necessary to assess the extra costs of HDM, particularly in terms of time. HDM should not involve significantly more interview time since it is primarily a technique for organizing the collection and analysis of information about issues which the informal survey is addressing in any case. On the other hand, the time spent organizing and analyzing the information and building the trees would likely be significant. For this study, it is difficult to assess how much time was required for this since tree-building was done periodically over an extended period of time. However, this author feels that the

extra time spent using the tree to help guide interviewing and to explain the rationale underlying farmers' decisions was worth his while.

As a conceptual model, HDM performs well on two criteria and has weaknesses on two further criteria. The model is quite coherent; as shown in Section 2.6, HDM is logical and grounded in a theory of human behavior. However, clarity is sometimes a problem; proponents of HDM insist on using farmers' own concepts and wording, which may be somewhat imprecise. On the other hand, this aspect contributes to HDM's workability; it is a powerful tool for explaining farmer decisions. HDM does not receive high marks on correspondence; there are many particular circumstances in which HDM is not applicable, as shown in this section.

In summary, RG and HDM appear to be useful supplements to the CIMMYT diagnostic survey. RG is important for understanding farmer evaluations of available alternative technologies. However, RG is of limited benefit if not supplemented by other tools for developing an understanding of farmer decisions and actions. HDM serves this function. HDM is useful in aiding the researcher to organize the information-collecting process about selected farmer decisions concerning leverage points and for developing an understanding of decision criteria and the logic underly-ing farmers' decisions. HOM has several important limitations; thus it can only be applied in particular situations.

7.1.3. Use of RG and HDM in the CIMMYT Diagnostic Survey

RG and HDM may be included in both the informal and formal survey of the CIMMYT diagnostic investigation. In the course of the informal survey, researchers may identify particular farmer decisions concerning leverage points which are not readily comprehensible using informal

techniques. Therefore, they may decide to build RG's and/or HDM's to improve their understanding. They begin by drawing up exploratory guidelines for examining a particular topic; some examples are shown in Appendix B, Section 3.¹ The guidelines are different from a questionnaire in that they are flexible; probing is essential. Following each interview, the data are assembled in grids and/or trees. The topic guidelines, the trees, and the grids are revised many times during the course of the survey. When the researcher feels he has developed a clear understanding of the decision, he directs his efforts to other areas.

For the formal survey, the researcher may want to transfer the guidelines into questionnaire form. Therefore, he will be able to build a grid or tree based on a representative sample of farmers.

7.2. <u>Quality of Information Gathered at Different</u> Stages of the Investigation

Two secondary objectives of this thesis concern evaluation of the quality of information collected at different stages of the diagnostic survey sequence, as discussed in Section 2.6.2. The first objective is to test the effectiveness of the exercise for identifying RD's. The second objective is to evaluate the quality of data obtained in the informal survey and thus appraise the utility of the formal survey. The results of these two assessments are discussed in the two sections which follow.

¹For example, guidelines relevant to building an RG for maize variety use are shown in Appendix B, Section 3.17. Guidelines relevant to building an HDM relevant for time and method of planting are shown in Appendix B. Section 3.2.
7.2.1. Effectiveness of the Exercise for Identifying Recommendation Domains

The evaluation of the RD identification exercise is divided into two parts. First, the quality of data obtained in the RD exercise will be evaluated by comparing data collected in the RD exercise with data collected in the formal survey. Next, the delineation of RD's, based on the RD identification exercise, will be compared with the groupings arrived at following the informal and formal survey.

The method used in this thesis for identifying RD's, described in Section 3.2, took about two weeks and is very similar to that used by Collinson (International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center, 1979). First, we examined secondary information about Middle Kirinyaga and interviewed several persons knowledgeable about agriculture in the area. We used information from these sources to develop hypotheses about RD's in the area and to develop a two-page questionnaire for agricultural extension agents. Twelve questionnaires were administered to extension agents and sub-chiefs¹ representing each sub-location in Middle Kirinyaga.

In order to evaluate the accuracy of the data from the RD exercise in Middle Kirinyaga, we compare the data with those from the formal survey. As shown in Section 3.4, the formal survey was based on sound sampling procedures, hence it is assumed to give accurate estimates of the parameters shown. Before comparing the data from the RD identification exercise with those from the formal survey, we list eight possible sources of error in the RD identification exercise. It is important to

¹A sub-chief administers a sub-location, the smallest jurisdictional area in Kenya. In Middle Kirinyaga, sub-locations are composed of 1,000 to 4,000 people. The sub-chief is usually a native of his sub-location.

examine these sources so as to understand why some estimates were incorrect and so as to attempt to avoid or correct for these biases in future exercises. Five of the sources stem from the respondents, i.e., extension agents and sub-chiefs, and three from the researchers.

A. Respondent-based sources of error.

1. Bias towards high income farmers.

Respondents tended to frame their answers about farmer circumstances with the high income, "progressive" farmers in mind. They tend to have more contact with such farmers (Leonard, 1977) and, further, when the researcher asked about an average or typical farmer, the respondent interpreted these as meaning "best" farmer. In order to counter these biases in the Middle Kirinyaga RD identification exercise, the respondent was repeatedly reminded of the difference between "progressive" and typical farmers.

2. Bias due to attempt to impress investigators.

It is natural for many extension agents to try to impress an outsider by telling him how many recommended innovations their farmers have adopted. Further, they may feel that the researcher is actually evaluating their work. It is difficult to differentiate this bias from the above one, but both lead to similar results--a bias towards high income, progressive farmers. To counter this bias, respondents were reminded that the researcher's goal was not to evaluate their work, but to understand farmer circumstances. Respondents were also reminded that low adoption rates may be caused by many factors other than poor extension. 3. Inaccurate information due to inability of respondent to deal with percentages.

Many respondents have only primary school education and some, particularly older ones, are not comfortable dealing with percentages. Some progress can be made by rephrasing questions in layman's terms, e.g., "if I were to select ten persons by chance at a village meeting where all heads of household are present, how many would have grade cattle?" Further, a continuum of all-most-half-some-few may be substituted for percentages. However, even these terms may confound the respondent.

4. Inaccurate information due to respondent's lack of knowledge.

Two types of responses may be included in this category. In some cases, respondents may fear telling the investigator that they do not know the answer to a question concerning farmers in their district because it makes them look like they do not know their job. Thus, they hazard a guess and give a false answer. In other cases, the respondent may think he knows the answer to a question but may be mistaken.

5. Bias because answer refers only to area which respondent knows best.

Some respondents may give an answer which applies to the area which the respondent knows best, usually the area around his home. In the RD identification exercise in Middle Kirinyaga, this bias was countered by first identifying on a map the respondent's area of work and various landmarks within it. These landmarks were referred to consistently to try to keep his focus on the whole area and not just the section he knew best.

- B. Researcher-based sources of error.
 - 1. Bias due to attempt to compensate for perceived respondent biases.

In some cases, the researcher feels he must discount or alter an extension agent's response because it is inconsistent with the responses of other respondents, other observers familiar with the area, or because it contradicts the researcher's own observation. However, these compensatory biases may be incorrect or may overcompensate for respondent bias.

2. Improper phrasing of question or inappropriate narrowing of possible responses.

This problem occurs for the same reason many researchers avoid primary data collection in the early stages of an investigation--researchers lack enough knowledge about the area to appropriately phrase questions and inadvertently guide answers away from realistic possibilities. For example, in this study, the researcher asked respondents to name the methods which farmers used to prepare their land, e.g., own oxen, hired oxen, tractor, etc., and estimate the percentage of farmers using each method. Unfortunately, the researcher never considered the possibility that some farmers may not prepare their land at all. It is not clear that extension agents were aware that some farmers practice no-till but the manner in which the question was phrased did not encourage them to offer this information.

3. Bias due to incorrect assessment of composition of a particular RD.

Most respondents were asked to give answers to two questionnaires-one for high income farmers, and one for low income farmers. At the time of questioning, the researcher believed that most high income farmers were in-migrants and thus orientated the questions around in-migrants. However, later it became clear that most high income farmers were natives of the area. In-migrants differ from high income natives in some important respects; thus responses concerning such characteristics were biased towards in-migrants.

Evaluation of Data Describing RD's

Table 7.1 presents the data obtained from four sources: (1) questionnaires in our RD identification exercise, (2) the report on identifying RD's, (3) the informal survey, and (4) the formal survey. Data in the RD report differ from data obtained from the RD identification questionnaires because adjustments were sometimes made to compensate for perceived respondent bias. Table 7.2 shows accuracy ratings of the data from the RD identification report and shows the sources and direction of bias in these data. Three levels of accuracy are defined: (1) high, (2) moderate, and (3) low levels, corresponding to the percentage difference between the estimate from the RD exercise and the mean sample statistic from the formal survey. Table 7.3 summarizes the overall accuracy of the RD identification exercise. Over 80 percent of the 25 estimates made for each income group were highly or moderately accurate and about 40 percent of the estimates were highly accurate. Low levels were obtained for only four to five (15-20 percent) of the estimates for each income group.

Surprisingly, the table shows that the breakdown by accuracy-level ratings were nearly identical for each income group. Extension workers tend to have more contacts with "progressive" and high income farmers; thus it had seemed reasonable to hypothesize that the accuracy ratings

a omparison of Estimates of Parameters at Different Stages of Investigation, Hiddle Kirinyaga, 1981	
-	

Table 7.1

.

		Low Inc	one farmers			High Inco	me Farmers	
	RD Questionnaire Results	RD Report ^b	Informal Survey Report	Formal Survey Report	RD Questionnaire Results	RD Report ^b	Informal Survey Report	Formal Survey Report
Land								
Farm Size (ha.)	3.0	Same	2.5	2.4	2.5	Same	3	З. В
Area Cultivated Long Rains (ha.)	2.5	Same	2.2	1 .1	1.5	Same	2	2.2
Aree Cultivated Short Rains (ha.)	2.3	Same	2.1	1.4	1.5	Same	Same	2.2
<u>Crops</u>								
Food Crops	Ma†ze-Beans	Same	Same	Same	Maize-Beans	Same	Same	Same
Cash Crops	1) Maize 2) Beans	Same	Same	1) Beans 2) Mạize	1) Maize 2) Beans	Same	Same	1) Reans 2) Huize
Percent of Farmers Growing Coffee	301	151	Same	258	501	401	405	51
Percent of Farmers Growing Sunflower	51	Same	× 51	0	55	Same	Same	. 6
Percent of Farmers Growing Cotton	< 51	Same	Same	45	51	Same	Same	~
Matze/Bean Husbandry								
Method of Land Preparation	Own ox 507; Hire Ox 507; Tractor < 51	Same	Hire Ox 501; Own Ox 301; Access to 0x 201; Tractor < 51	Access to 0x 331; 0am 0x 271; Hire 0x 271; No-Till 215	Hire Ox 80%; Own Ox 10% Rent Tractor 10%	Hire 0x 601; Own 0x 202; Rent Tractor 201	Own Ox 60°: Rent Ox 413	060 05 43 5 Hire 05 41 5 Acress to 07 135
Percent of Farmers Not Preparing Soil Before Planting	10	Same	201	212	:0	Same	Same	Salue
Percent of Area Planted After First Ten Days		•	601	361		,	50	20
⁸ "Same" means estimat	e is the same as in th	e previous stade						

the previous stage.

^bRD report results differ from RD questionnaire results because adjustment were sometimes made to compensate for perceived extension agent bias.

1

Source: Data from exercise Highlighty MO's. KD minut (Franzel, 1981), Informal Survey Report (Franzel and Highly, and Formal survey data.

.

G
in.
Cont
1
7.
Table

.

		Low Inco	me farmers			High Inc	come Farmers	
	RD Questionnaire Results	RD Report ^b	Informal Survey Report	Formal Survey Report	RD Questionnaire Results	RD Report ^b	Informal Survey Report	Formal Survey Report
Plant Spacing (Maize)			130 cm. x 45 cm.	110 cm. x 37			125 × 40	108 × 31
Plant Population (Maize)			14,300	24,900		•	17,000	29,700
Percent of Farmers Intercropping Maize/Beans	188	Same	Same	85%	201	Same	802	, Ub
Percent of Cultivated Area Under Maize	106	Same	Same	218	801	Same	Same	RÛ
Percent of Cultivated Area Under Beans	206	Same	Same	78%	801	Same	Same	71-
Long Rain Bean Varieties			Can. Wonder 80% Nwezi Moja 45% Rose. Oval 45% Mexican 142 36%	Can. Wonder 73% Mexican 142 31% Rose. Oval 31% Mwezi Moja 12%			Can. Wonder 80° Mwezi Moja 55° Rose. Oval 22° Mexican 142 22°	Can. Wonder 80 Pose. Uval 41 Mwezi Moja 26: Mexican 142 23:
Long Rain Haize Varieties	Hybrid 45% Local 45% Znd Gen Hyb. 19% Katumeni 1%	Local 55% 2nd Gen Hyb. 30% Hybrid 5% Katumani 10%	Local 80% Katumani 67% Hybrid 10% 2nd Gen. Hyb. 10%	Local 77% Katumani 69% 2nd Gen. Hyb. 21% Hybrid 8%	Hybrids 672 Katumani 331 2nd Gen. Hyb. 102	Same	Katumani 60° Hybrid 40° 2nd Gen, Hyb. 30° Local 30°	Local 59 Katumani 49 Hybrid 36 Znd Gen. Hyb. 28
Short Rains Maize Varieties	Katumani 44% Local 43% Hybrid 8% 2nd Gen. Hyb. 6%	Local 50% 2nd Gen. Nyb. 30% Katumani 30% Hybrid 5%	Local 67% Katumani 67% 2nd Gen. Hyb. 10% Hybrid 0%	Local 715 katumani 605 2nd Gen. Hyb. 295 Hybrid 65	Katumani 90% Hybrids 10%	Same	Katumani 70° Hybrid 30° 2nd Gen, Hyb. 30 Local 30°	Katumani 51° Local 51° 2nd Gen. Nyh. 38° Hybrid 26
Stalk Borer Treatment	ı	ı	o	Ø	ı	ı	20 X	- 12
Number of Needings	1	,	-	1-2	1	1	2	1-2
Percent of Farmers Using Fertilizer	< 5 < 5	Same	Same	21	102	201	10~	18-

.

Z
Ē,
- 21
Ē
3
÷
×.
÷.
4

ę

			ncome Farmers			HIGh Ir	ncome farmers	
	ND Questionnaire Results	No Porto	informal Servey Report	Formel Sarvey Report	RD Questionnaire Results	RD Report b	Informal Survey Report	formal Survey Report
Percent of Formers Boling Namure	101	ļ	ž	495	101	305	108	821
Percent of Farmers Using Storoge Insecticide on Naize			251	¥	,	,	X04	1/9
Average Maize Yield (Kg./Ne. in Good Sesson)	2.000	1,900	Ĩ	1,100	2.500	Ĭ	Same	1.200
Lives took								-
Percent of Farmers Mith Zebu Cattle	715	Ţ	205	568	80%	t	Same	169
Percent of Farmers With Exotic-breed Cattle	145	ž	Ĩ	z	151	Same	Same	562
Percent of Farmers With Cattle	X08	ĩ	ž	129	356	ž	Same	921
Income								
Percent Getting Income From Relatives	2	Ĭ	Ĩ	311			,	,
Percent Neving Regular Jobs (Salary/Business)	225	Ĩ	105	215	758	Ĭ	Same	169
Nost Difficult Nonths for Cash	•		Nurch-Nuy	March-May	•		January, March-May	January, Aprill-Nay
Cash Sources	1) Maize/Beans 2) Casual Labor 3) Rent Ox	Ĩ	1) Maize/Beans 2) Cesual Labor	Ĩ	1) Off-Farm 2) Milk 3) Maize/Beans	Ĩ	1) Off-Farm 2) Na1ze/Beans 3) Milk	Same
						and the second se		

•

.

Dued
in the
7.1
þle

		Low Incom	e famers			High Incom	e Farmers	
	ND Questionnaire Results	R0 Report b	Informal Survey Report	Formaî Survey Report	RD Questionnaire Results	RD Report ^b	Informal Survey Report	Formal Survey Report
Labor								
Busiest Months	March-Nay	ĩ	H,	April-Nay	March-May	Same	April-May	S, Anne
Activity at Busiest Time	Planting/Weeding	Ĭ	keed ing	Same	Planting/Meeding	Same	Needing	Same
Percent Using Mired Labor (Not Including for Plows)	۶۵	102	Ĩ	175	X06	Same	Same	1 4 E
Other								
Renating of Resource Constraints (Short Run)			1) Cash 2) Cash 3) Soll Flow 4) Labor 5) Land	Same			Soll fertility 2) Land 3) Cash 4) Ox-Plow 5) Labor	Soll Fertility 2) Ox-Flow 3) Cash 4 Land 5) Labor
Farmers Mino Nave Purchased Their Land	8	5	8			405	308	112
Percent Min Mave Run Out of Maize During Past Yeer		,	603	531			20%	641
Percent Who Nave Run Out of Beans Since 1901 Short Rains Marvest			509	558			201	551
Percent With Zinc Roofs	501	ļ	Ĩ	121	1001	ž	Same	1/6
Principal Distinguishing Factor Between RD's	Never Purchased Land	Full-Time Farming/ No Off-Farm Income	Low-Income	Low - Income	Purchased Land	Part-Jime Farming/ Off-Farm Income	High-Income	High-Income
Percent of Farmers in this RD	801		705	503	20%	Same	301	401

-

.

•

Them	
Comparing	, 1981
from RD-Identification Exercise by ('rom Formal Survey, Middle Kirinyaga,
Evaluation of Data	with Data f

Table 7.2

	Ŧ	igh Income Farmers			ow Income Farmers	
	Direction of Bias	Accuracy Rating ^d (l = high)	Source of Inaccuracy	Direction of Bias	Accuracy Rating ^a (l = high)	Source of Inaccuracy ^b
Land						
Farm Size	Under	2	Composition	Over	2	Progressive, Knowledge, Phrasing
Area Cultivated	Under	2	Composition	Over	~	Progressive, Knowledge, Phrasing
Percent Who have Purchased Land	Over	2	Composition		L	ı
Crops						
Principal Food Crops	ı	-	·	ı	ſ	ı
Percent of Farmers Intercropping	Under	£	Knowledge, Composition	ı	-	•
Primary Cash Crops	•	2	Know] edge	1	2	Knowledge
^a This table is derived from Table 7.1.	Accuracy means de	gree of correspond	ence with results	from formal survey.	Accuracy categor	ies are defined

as follows: l = high, 2 = moderate and 3 = low. Three different kinds of parameters were estimated:

RD estimate was within \pm 10% of sample statistic, 2 = within Percentages of the group with a particular characteristic: Here, 1 means + 20% and 3 means estimate was beyond this range. -

.

- Numerical parameters: 1 means RD estimate was within ± 20% of sample parameter, 2 within ± 40% and 3 outside this range. <u>ح</u>.
- <u>Non-numerical parameters</u>: 1 = estimate is the same as formal survey estimates, 2 = estimate overlaps with formal survey estimate, <u>3 = estimate is comple</u>tely different. ъ.

^DUnderlined sources originate with researcher, others with respondents who are extension agents and local sub-chiefs. The sources of inaccuracy are discussed in detail in the text. Progressive = bias towards "progressive" high income farmers Knowledge = lack of knowledge Phrasing = poor phrasing of question; e.g., phrasing so as to exclude some possible responses. <u>Composition</u> = mistaken about composition of RD <u>Composition</u> = compensating for perceived respondent bias.

Summary of Table 7.1. Source:

	H	gh Income Farmers			Low Income Farmer	Ş
	Direction of Bias	Accuracy Rating ^a (1 = high)	Source of Inaccuracy ^b	Direction of Bias	Accuracy Rating ^d (l = high)	Source of Inaccuracy ^b
Percent of Farmers Growing Coffee	Under.	2	Compensat	Under	2	Compensate
Percent of Farmers Growing Sunflower	ı	1	ı	ı	-	ı
Percent of Farmers Growing Cotton	ľ	-	ı	ı	L	ı
Percent of Area Under Maize	·	-	ı	I	-	
Percent of Area Under Beans Land Preparation	1	-		Over	~	Knowledge. Phrasing
Means of Preparing Land	Oxen owners. Under	2	Composition, Phrasing	Oxen Owners, Over	m	Knowledge, Progressive, <u>Phrasing</u>
Farmers not Preparing Land	ı	ſ	ı	Under	3	Phrasing. Knowledge
Maize/Bean Husbandry						
Long Rains Maize Varieties	Hybrid Over, Katumani, Local Under	en.	Knowledge, Composition	Hybrid OK Katumani, Local Under	2	Knowledge, Progressive
Short Rains Maize Varieties	Katumani Over, Local Under	2	Knowledge, Composition	Katumani, Local Under	2	Knowledge
Fertilizer Use	ŀ	-	I	ı	I	,
Manure Use	Under	3	Knowledge	Under	3	Knowledye
Maize Yields	Over	£	Progress i ve	Over	3	Progress i ve

Table 7.2--Continued

222

ł.

	Ŧ	igh Income Farmers			Low Income Farmer	S
	Direction of Bias	Accuracy Rating ^a (1 = high)	Source of Inaccuracy ^b	Direction of Bias	Accuracy Rating (1 = high)	Source of Inaccuracy ^b
Livestock						
Percent with Zebu Cattle	ı	2	ı	Over	2	Progressive
Percent with Exotic-breed Cattle	Over	2	Progressive	ı	-	ı
Income						
Percent Getting Income from Relatives	ı	_	·	ı	-	,
Percent Having Regular Jobs (Salary/Business)	ľ	_	·		-	·
Most Difficult Months for Cash	ı	ı	ı	ı	-	ł
Cash Sources	ı	-	I	ı	2	Knowledge, Progressive
Labor						
Busiest Months and Activities	ı	2	ı	ı	2	ŀ
Percent Using Hired Labor	Under	2	Knowledge, Composition	ı	-	ı
Percent of Farmers in RD	ı	2	Compensate	ı	2	Compensate

.

Table 7.2--Continued

Table 7.3

Accuracy of Estimates of Parameters in RD-Identification Exercise and Principal Sources of Inaccuracy, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981

	High Far	Income mers	Low Inc Farme	come rs
	Estimates Parameter	of Percent	Estimates of Parameters	Percent
<u>Accuracy Level^a</u>				
High	10	38	12	44
Medium	12	46	10	37
Low	4	15	5	19
Total	26	100	27	100
Sources of Inaccuracy ^b				
Respondent				
Progressive farmer bias	2	14	7	50
Lack of knowledge	5	36	10	71
Researcher				
Phrasing	1	7	5	36
Composition of RD's	8	57	0	0
Compensating for perceived respondent bias	2	14	2	14
Total	14	100 ^c	14	100 ^C

^aThis table is derived from Table 7.1. Accuracy means degree of correspondence with results from formal survey. Accuracy categories are defined as follows: 1 = high, 2 = moderate, and 3 = low. Three different kinds of parameters were estimated:

- 1. <u>Percentages of the group with a particular characteristic</u>: Here, 1 means RD estimate was within \pm 10% of sample statistic, 2 = within \pm 20% and 3 means estimate was beyond this range.
- 2. <u>Numerical parameters</u>: 1 means RD estimate was within \pm 20% of sample parameter, 2 within \pm 40% and 3 outside this range.
- 3. <u>Non-numerical parameters</u>: 1 = estimate is the same as formal survey estimates, 2 = estimate overlaps with formal survey estimate, 3 = estimate is completely different.

^bSources of inaccuracy are discussed in detail in the text. Respondent based sources originate with the respondents, who are extension agents and sub-chiefs. These sources or inaccuracy include:

- 1. Progressive farmer bias: biasing estimates towards progressive farmers.
- 2. Lack of knowledge: lacks knowledge about the information requested.

Researcher-based sources are caused by the researcher and include:

- 1. Phrasing: poor phrasing of questions, i.e., phrasing so as to exclude some possible responses.
- 2. Composition of RD's: mistaken about composition of RD's.
- 3. Compensation for perceived respondent bias.

^CSources do not sum to 100, since more than one type of bias may be encountered for a particular estimate.

in the RD identification exercise would be higher for high income farmers than for low income farmers. Indeed, extension agents, i.e., respondentbased sources, were responsible for twice as many errors concerning low income farmers as for high income farmers. This result is as expected; extension workers showed a greater lack of knowledge and more progressive farmer bias in responses concerning low income farmers than for high income farmers. However, researcher-based errors were more numerous for high income farmers than for low income farmers because of the researcher's incorrect assessment of the composition of the high income RD. Thus, whereas respondent-based biases were the principal factor lowering the quality of information about low income farmers, investigator-based biases lowered the quality of information about high income farmers. The result was similar levels of accuracy in information concerning both groups.

Two other, less important, investigator-based biases also distorted information about farmers. First, inappropriate phrasing and phrasing questions in a way to exclude certain appropriate responses were more of a problem in asking about low income farmers than in asking about high income farmers. This indicates, not surprisingly, that the researcher knew less about low income farmers' alternative means of carrying out an operation than those of high income farmers. Second, modifying estimates to compensate for perceived respondent bias sometimes decreased the accuracy of the estimate. Five estimates concerning high income farmers and seven concerning low income farmers were revised for such reasons. In six cases the modification improved the accuracy rating; in four cases the modification lowered the accuracy rating; and in two cases there was no change. Two examples typify the advantages and

disadvantages of this measure. First, extension agents reported that about half of the low income farmers purchased hybrid seed year in and year out. However, a seed retailer assured the researcher that low income farmers rarely, if ever, bought hybrid seed. In the RD report the estimate was lowered, and formal survey results confirmed that the modification was correct. A second example shows how one can easily make mistakes using the compensatory bias tool. Extension agents estimated that one-half of high income farmers and one-third of low income farmers grew coffee. These figures were revised downward, particularly for low income farmers, because of a perceived progressive-farmer bias on the part of the extension agents. In fact, the extension agents' estimates were quite accurate, as the formal survey confirmed.

A further issue concerns the reasons underlying respondent inaccuracies. In comparing extension agents' biases with formal survey results (Table 7.1), it is difficult to explain why extension agents were accurate on some variables but inaccurate on others. For example, estimates concerning crops, maize and bean husbandry, livestock, labor use, and income sources were generally fair to good. Poor estimates were made on manure use, maize varieties, methods of land preparation, maize yields, and percentage of high income farmers intercropping. Estimates on manure use were poor because of respondents' lack of knowledge; manure use is not part of the extension agents' recommendations to farmers and thus, they were unaware of farmers' manure practices. Progressive farmer bias and lack of knowledge were important sources of bias for the other four variables, and improper phrasing of questions by the investigator contributed to inaccuracy in two of the cases.

Accuracy of RD Identification

As discussed in Section 3.2, two sets of factors, across-area differences and within-area differences, were examined in the process of identifying RD's. Map 1 in Chapter 3 compares the across-area boundaries of RD's in Middle Kirinyaga based on the RD identification exercise with the final delineation based on the verification survey. There are no important modifications of the preliminary set of boundaries, except that a part of Rukanga Sub-location was excluded. There were some apparent differences between Rukanga and the rest of Middle Kirinyaga from the RD identification exercise but it was thought that these differences were incidental. However, when we visited Rukanga during the informal survey, it was apparent that rainfall was lower and farm size and livestock numbers were greater than in Middle Kirinyaga. Thus the area was excluded. As stated in Section 3.2, the boundaries of Middle Kirinyaga represent fairly distinct changes in eco-climatic and socio-economic environment. Thus, it is not surprising that the initial attempt to demarcate boundaries proved to be very accurate.

The attempt to identify within-area differences proved to be more complicated and somewhat less accurate. Preliminary contacts led to a focus on the differences between low income residents who had received land in the late 1950's under land adjudication, and high income inmigrants who purchased land from residents. In-migrants, it was thought, were high income, progressive farmers who generally had off-farm jobs and very different farming practices from resident, low income farmers. These "buyers" were thought to make up a majority of high income farmers. During the RD identification exercise, this finding was

refuted; it was found that most high income farmers were residents who had acquired land through adjudication as well. Thus, the report on identifying RD's in Middle Kirinyaga distinguished between two RD's: full-time farmers with limited capital resources, and part-time farmers with off-farm income. The principal feature distinguishing these two groups is the amount of cash they have available for investing in their farms.

Several refinements were added to this distinction following the informal survey. First, the correspondence between full-time farming and low-income was dropped, since some full-time farmers had lucrative operations such as dairy or tobacco and were thus high income farmers. Second, the correspondence between part-time farming and high income was omitted because many low income farmers were found to be farming only part-time; their off-farm activities were not lucrative enough to make them high income. However, the principal distinction made in the RD identification report, that of access to cash resources, was maintained throughout each ensuing stage of analysis.

In summary, the exercise identifying RD's was reasonably accurate in identifying and demarcating RD's and in providing preliminary information about the farmers in each group. This result is somewhat astonishing, since so little time and resources were allocated to this exercise. The primary source of inaccuracies concerning high income farmers were researcher-based biases, whereas respondent-based biases were the most significant source of inaccuracy concerning low income farmers.

By examining the sources of inaccuracy in the exercise, it is likely that the effects of these sources can be minimized in future

investigations identifying RD's. Three important lessons arise from our exercise.

First, interviewing local leaders, e.g., sub-chiefs, in addition to, or in place of, agricultural extension agents, may be useful in obtaining more valid information about low income farmers. In our exercise, respondent-based biases were generally caused by extension agents' lack of orientation towards low income farmers. In several cases, sub-chiefs were able to provide better information about their sub-location because (1) they are natives of the area and, (2) they have less of a stake in over-reporting the use of recommended inputs than do extension agents. However, sub-chiefs are generally less educated than extension agents. Thus, many had difficulties with such concepts as estimating the proportion of farmers having a particular characteristic.

Second, more effort should have been made to identify the possible reponses to questions in the questionnaire, particularly concerning low income farmers. Because of the biases towards progressive, high income farmers, there were more phrasing errors concerning low income farmers than high income farmers.

Finally, our exercise highlights the importance of correctly identifying RD's before administering questionnaires. In our case, a more thorough investigation of the composition of the high income RD should have been carried out before administering the questionnaires. If the researcher is uncertain about the make-up of an RD, the data collected may be of little use. In our case, more informal interviews with persons familiar with the area could have contributed to a more accurate assessment of the RD's in Middle Kirinyaga.

7.2.2. Evaluating the Utility of Carrying Out the Formal Survey

The purpose of this section is to compare the results of the informal survey with those of the formal survey so as to evaluate the utility of the formal survey. First, the biases involved in the informal survey are reviewed. Next, the effectiveness of the informal survey and utility of the formal survey are evaluated. Two criteria are used to make this assessment. First, data presented in the informal survey report are compared to data obtained in the formal survey. Second, we compare the proposed research program based on formal survey results with the program based only on informal survey for: (1) refining available information on farmers, and (2) for formulating a research program which is more relevant to the farmers concerned.

The objective of this section is not to provide a definitive solution to the issue of whether a formal survey is necessary. As Shaner, Philipp and Schmehl (1982) point out, the issue concerning which methods to use depends on the particular circumstances encountered. However, by examining the performance of different methods in different sets of circumstances, generalizations can be made about which methods to use in which circumstances. In this section, a judgement will be made on the utility of the formal survey in contributing to the diagnostic approach. Moreover, we will identify particular circumstances in the Middle Kirinyaga context which made it more or less desirable to carry out a formal survey.

As in the previous section, formal survey data set the standards by which the accuracy of other data, in this case informal survey data, are

evaluated. Before comparing these data, we detail the sources of inaccuracy in the informal survey. All sources presented are researcherbased. This is not to say, of course, that there are no farmer-based sources of inaccuracy in either the formal or informal surveys. Rather, we do not discuss farmer-based biases because it is likely that these biases do not vary between the informal and formal survey. Thus, they do not influence our comparison. The researcher-based sources of inaccuracy, listed below, differ somewhat from those identified in the exercise identifying RD's:

1. Little Emphasis in Data Collection.

The researchers' estimate of a parameter is incorrect simply because this parameter is given relatively little emphasis in the informal survey.

2. Progressive Farmer Bias.

Here, the researchers' estimate was biased towards the practice of progressive farmers. This may have occurred for several reasons: (a) because he was exposed more to progressive farmers in interviews, (b) because most of his non-farmer contacts--government officials, marketing agents, extension workers, etc.--are biased towards progressive farmers, or (c) because he has preconceptions that farmers in particular RD's--i.e., the high income RD--should behave as progressive farmers.

3. Compensating for Perceived Progressive Farmer Bias

In this case the researcher perceives a progressive farmer bias and seeks to compensate for the perceived bias. However, his estimate is actually less correct than the original estimate. For example, in the informal survey, we estimated, based on observation alone, that 60 percent of the farmers were low income and 40 percent were high income.

However, we assumed our estimate was slightly biased towards high income farmers because their farms were more prominent, and because we assumed that we did not get off the main roads and paths as much as we should have. Thus, we revised our breakdown of the two groups from 60/40 to 70/30. However, the original estimate turned out to be correct.

4. Lack of Knowledge

This category is a residual classification; it includes all incorrect estimates for which no particular bias or source of inaccuracy was noted.

Evaluation of Data from the Informal Survey

Table 7.1 shows the estimates of parameters made following the informal survey and those made following the formal survey. The results of the two surveys are compared in two further tables: (1) Table 7.4, which shows directions of bias, accuracy ratings for each variable and sources of inaccuracy in the informal survey, and (2) Table 7.5, which summarizes these results. The latter table shows that over half of the estimates in both income groups were highly accurate and that high or moderate ratings were obtained for over 88 percent of the estimates overall. As was true for the RD identification exercise, there was little difference in the breakdown of accuracy ratings by income groups. However, as in the RD exercise, there were important differences in the sources of inaccuracy bearing on the two RD's.

The most important bias affecting information on the high income group was the progressive farmer bias, which accounted for over half of the errors on estimates concerning high income farmers. It appears that

		High Income Farmers	2		Low Income Farmer	S
	Direction of Bias	Accuracy Rating ^d (1 = high)	Source of Inaccuracy ^b	Direction of Bias	Accuracy Rating (1 = high)	Source of Inaccuracy
put						
Farm Size	Under	2	Knowledge	ı	-	ı
Area Cultivated	ı	_		Over	£	Knowledge. Emphasis
Percent Who have Purchased Land	·	_	1	·	_	,
sdo						
Principal Food Crops	ı	ſ	ı	I	1	I
Percent of Farmers Intercropping	·	-	1	ŗ	_	ı

Evaluation of Data from Informal Survey Report by Comparing Them with Data from Formal Survey, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981

Table 7.4

within \pm 20%, and Percentages of the group with a particular characteristic: Here, I means RD estimate was within ± 10% of sample statistic, 2 = 3 means estimate was beyond this range

2. Numerical parameters: 1 means RD estimate was within ± 20% of sample parameter, 2 within ± 40% and 3 outside this range.

3. Non-numerical parameters: 1 = estimate is the same as formal survey estimates, 2 = estimate overlaps with formal survey estimate, 3 = estimate is completely different.

^bAll sources of inaccuracy are researcher-based.

1. Knowledge = lack of knowledge, no perceived bias

2. Emphasis = information category given little emphasis during informal survey

3. Progressive = progressive farmer bias

4. Compensate = compensating for perceived progressive farmer bias

These sources are discussed in detail in the text.

Source: From Tables 7.1-7.2.

		High Income Farmers			Low Income Farmer	
	Direction of Bias	Accuracy Rating (1 = high)	Source of Inaccuracy	Direction of Bias	Accur acy Rating (1 = high)	Source of Inaccuracy ^b
Primary Cash Crops	•	2	Knowledge		2	Knowledge
Percent of Farmers Growing Coffee	Under	2	Cor pens a te	Under	2	Compensate
Percent of Farmers Growing Sunflower	ŗ	-			-	ı
Percent of Farmers Growing Cotton	ı	-			_	
Percent of Area Under Maize	ı	-	,		-	
Percent of Area Under Beans	ı	-	ı	()ver	2	Know] edge
Land Preparation/Planting						
Means of Preparing Land	,	2	Frowledge		2	Knowledge. Progressive
Farmers not Preparing Land	•	_	•	1	_	•
Percent of Area Planted After first Ten Days	,	_		(ly er	£	Know ledije
<u>Maize/Bean Nusbandry</u>						
Lung kains Maize Varieties	ı	2	Progressive	ı	-	,
Short Rains Maize Varieties	,	2	Progressive. Erphanis		_	
Long Rains Bean Varieties	ı	2	ب من من استوريق	ı	2	Know] edue
Plant Population (Maize)	ther	~	for service. Compressate	l'nder	~	luphasir. Compensate

Tuble 7.4--Continued

		High Income Farmers			Low Income Farmers	S
	Direction • of Bias	Accuracy Rating (l = high)	Source of Inaccuracy	Direction of Bias	Accuracy Rating ⁶ (1 = high)	Source of Inaccuracy
Treating Against Stalk Borer	I	_		. 1	-	·
Number of Weedings	Over	2	Emphasis, Progressive	Under	2	Emphasis, Compensate
Percent Using Fertilizer	1	-	ı	ı	-	ı
Percent Using Manure	ı	L	r	Under	2	Emphasis, Compensate
Percent Using Maize Storage Insecticide	Over	2	Progressive	Over	2	Progressive
Average Maize Yield (Good Season)	Over	£	Progressive	Over	3	Progressive
vestock						
Percent with Zebu Cattle	Over	2	Progress i ve	I	l	ı
Percent with Exotic-breed Cattle	Over	2	Progressive	I	ſ	ı
come						
Percent Getting Income from Relatives	ı	ſ	ı	ı	L	I
Percent Having Regular Jobs (Salary/Business)	ı	-	,	Under	2	Compensate
Most Difficult Months for Cash	ı	l	ı	ı	-	
Principal Cash Sources	,	_	ı	1	ļ	,

•

Table 7.4--Continued

.

p.
n,
Ę
Cor
1
7.4
e
abl
<u> </u>

		High Income Farmers			Low Income Farmers	
	Direction of Bias	Accuracy Rating ^d (1 = high)	Source of Inaccuracy ^b	Direction of Bias	Accuracy Rating ^a (l = high)	Source of Inaccuracy ^b
Labor						
Busiest Months and Activities	ı	ſ	ı	ı	-	,
Percent Using Hired Labor	1	2	Progressive	ı	-	ı
Other						
Ranking of Resource Constraints	ı	2	Progressive	ı	L	ı
Percent who have Run out of Maize During Last Year	Under	m	Progressive, Emphasis	ı	-	ı
Percent who have Run out of Beans During Last Year	Under	m	Progressive, Emphasis	,	-	١
Percent of Farmers in RD	,	-	ı	·	-	,

•

Table 7.5

	High I Farm	ncome ers	Low In Farm	icome ners
	Estimates	Percent	Estimates	Percent
Accuracy a				
High	19	53	23	64
Moderate	13	36	9	25
Low	4	11	4	11
Total	36	100	36	100
Sources of Inaccuracyb				
Lack of knowledge	4	23	6	46
Information not emphasized	5	29	4	31
Progressive farmer bias	11	65	3	23
Countering perceived progressive farmer bias	2	12	5	38
Total	17	100 ^c	13	100 ^C

Accuracy of Estimates from Informal Survey, Compared to Formal Survey, and Principal Sources of Inaccuracy, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981

^aThis table is derived from Table 7.1. Accuracy means degree of correspondence with results from formal survey. Accuracy categories are defined as follows: 1 = high, 2 = moderate, and 3 = 1ow. Three different kinds of parameters were estimated:

- 1. <u>Percentages of the group with a particular characteristic</u>: Here, 1 means estimate was within \pm 10% of sample statistics, 2 = within \pm 20% and 3 means estimate was beyond this range.
- 2. <u>Numerical parameters</u>: 1 means estimate was within \pm 20% of sample parameter, 2 within \pm 40% and 3 outside this range.
- 3. <u>Non-numerical parameters</u>: 1 = estimate is the same as formal survey estimates, 2 = estimate overlaps with formal survey estimate, 3 = estimate is completely different.

^bSources of inaccuracy are discussed in detail in the text. All are researcher-based. They include:

- 1. Information not emphasized. Parameter given little emphasis in informal survey.
- 2. Progressive farmer bias: Researchers' estimate biased towards practices of progressive farmers.
- 3. Compensating for perceived progressive farmer bias.
- Lack of knowledge: residual classification. Includes all other incorrect estimates.

^CSources do not sum to 100, since more than one type of bias may be encountered for a particular estimate.

Source: From Table 7.4.

the major reason for this bias was the researcher's expectation that high income farmers should behave like progressive farmers: use purchased inputs, follow recommended practices, etc. Fortunately, the effect of this bias on overall accuracy was limited, affecting less than one-third of all estimates and in most cases, causing "moderate", not "low", ratings. Other causes of inaccuracy included lack of emphasis and lack of knowledge. Compensating for a perceived progressive farmer bias resulted in only two errors.

For low income farmers, lack of knowledge and compensating for a perceived progressive farmer bias were the most important causes of inaccuracy. Indeed, compensating for a perceived progressive farmer bias caused more inaccuracy than the progressive farmer bias itself. Thus, the researchers' own "corrected" impressions turned out to be less valid than the initial impressions in the first place.

Two major implications arise from this discussion. First, the data in this section show that in Middle Kirinyaga the formal survey contributed relatively little to the accuracy of estimates compared to estimates made during the informal survey. Second, the data show a tendency for the researcher, during the informal survey, to try to force high income farmers to be more progressive than they really were and low income farmers to be less "progressive". Indeed, compensating for perceived biases may be a more important source of inaccuracy than the perceived bias itself.

It is likely that the sources of inaccuracy identified in this exercise are common to most farm management investigations in developing countries. Therefore, some discussion of measures to minimize their effects is warranted.

A greater awareness of the progressive farmer bias and its roots, as discussed above, would have assisted this researcher in minimizing its effects. It is interesting to note that the bias had little effect on data concerning low income farmers because we were aware that researchers often mistake small farmers to be more progressive than they actually are. However, we were less aware that the progressive farmer bias was as potentially great for high income farmers as low income farmers; hence, our error in trying to force high income farmers to be more progressive than they really are.

Our efforts to compensate for perceived progressive farmer bias were subject to similar weaknesses. Among low income farmers, we made more mistakes compensating for the progressive farmer bias than were caused by the progressive farmer bias itself! Our overzealousness was due, perhaps, to an unsubstantiated fear that our efforts in the data collection exercise were not sufficient to do away with this bias. However, it appears that they were indeed sufficient; it only proved harmful to make adjustments in the data because of perceived biases. The data thus show that it may be better to accept one's own data rather than modifying it to account for perceived researcher-based biases.

Contribution of the Formal Survey to the Experimental Program

The experimental program formulated following the informal survey may be evaluated by comparing it to the program developed after the formal survey. The principal issue posed is whether the mounting of the formal survey made an important contribution to the development of an experimental program or whether the same research priorities and experiments were formulated following the informal survey. Four areas

of information are examined in comparing the two experimental programs. First, we examine the principal constraints and their ranking in importance in the two programs. Second, we compare the principal research areas identified in the two programs. Third, we examine the levels of non-experimental variables to see if they were fixed at the same levels in each program. Non-experimental variables form the context in which potential technological changes are tested, and modifying their levels can significantly affect the results of the experiments. Fourth, we compare the experimental variables to see if there were important changes made following the formal survey.

Principal Constraints

The principal resource and other constraints to farm development identified in the informal and formal surveys are shown in Table 7.6. For high income farmers, the two most important constraints identified in the informal survey are also the most important following the formal survey. These constraints are, (1) the low profitability of crop production relative to off-farm investments, and (2) poor soil fertility and structure. The only important change in constraints for high income farmers between the two surveys concerns access to oxen. Following the informal survey, access to oxen was not considered an important bottleneck for high income farmers since they either owned oxen or had cash available for hiring them. However, in the informal survey, we underestimated the number of high income farmers planting late, after the first ten days of rainfall, and also overestimated the number of high income farmers owning oxen. Thus, formal survey results showed that

	the Informal Survey and	from the Formal Survey,	Middle Kirinyaga, 1981	
	Constraints of High I	ncome Farmers	Constraints of Low	Income Farmers
	Informal Survey	Formal Survey	Informal Survey	Formal Survey
-	Low Profitability of Crops	Low Profitability of Crops	Cash	Cash
. 2	Soil Fertility/ Structure	Soil Fertility/ Structure	Access to Oxen	Access to Oxen
£	Cash	Access to Oxen	Soil Fertility/ Structure	Soil Fertility/ Structure
4	Land	Cash	Labor	Labor
5	Access to Oxen	Land	Land	Land
9	Labor	Labor		

Source: Franzel and Njeru, 1981; informal survey notes; this thesis.

Table 7.6

Researchers' Perceptions of the Most Important Constraints Facing Farmers, from

access to oxen was a more important problem for high income farmers than had previously been thought.

For low income farmers, the ranking of constraints from the two surveys were identical. Cash is the most important constraint, followed by access to oxen and soil fertility/structure. Labor and land were relatively less important.

Principal Research Priorities

The principal research priorities identified after the informal survey and then modified after the formal survey are shown in Table 7.7. As stated earlier, research priorities are established at leverage points where (1) there are important problems to farmers and (2) opportunities exist for solving these problems. For low income farmers, improving soil fertility usurped easing the draught power bottlenecks as the most important research priority following the formal survey. This did not occur because of any change in the data or in our understanding of the two problems. Rather, the priorities were modified because researchers made an almost incidental discovery of a potential solution to the soil fertility and structure problem while the formal survey was being mounted. Several months before the informal survey began, a coffee processing factory was opened in Middle Kirinyaga to process coffee from neighboring upland areas. During the formal survey, we discovered that the by-products, a mixture of coffee husks and pulp, were being dumped as waste at a nearby site. A farmer near this site was applying the husks to his maize and beans. We contacted the Coffee Research Station and were told that the husks were a proven, effective manure for coffee and that they were also likely to be effective as a

	8
for Farmers	Survey, 19
orities	e Formal
ch Pri	ter th
Resear	and Af
nportant	l Survey
Most I	Informa
f the	the
cions of	After
Percept	'inyaga:
searchers'	Middle Kir
Å	

Table 7.7

c

•

Ranking	Research Priorities	from Informal Survey	Research Priorities From Formal Survey:
	High Income Farmers	Low Income Farmers	Both Income Groups
-	Soil Fertility/Structure	Draught Power Bottleneck	Soil Fertility/Structure
2	Maize Varieties	Soil Fertility/Structure	Draught Power Bottleneck
с	Draught Power Bottleneck	Maize Varieties	Maize Variety
4	Bean Cultivars	Bean Cultivars	Bean Cultivars
5	Weeding Efficiency	Maize Storage	Maize Storage
9		Weeding Efficiency	

Source: Franzel and Njeru, 1981; Informal Survey notes; this thesis.

manure for maize and beans. Previously, our only solution to the soil problem was fertilizer, which was expensive and which in any case had been tried and rejected by many farmers. Identification of a new and potentially more effective solution to the soil problem elevated soil fertility and structure to the primary research priority for low income farmers in Middle Kirinyaga.

Easing the draught power bottleneck is the second most important area and improved maize varieties, bean cultivars, and maize storage retained their ranking as research priorities following the formal survey. There was only one further, fairly minor, change in research priorities for low income farmers. A proposal to increase weeding efficiency was dropped because the formal survey confirmed that weeding labor was not an important system bottleneck.

For high income farmers, soil fertility and structure was already the highest priority research area, even before coffee by-products were identified as a possible solution. This area took on an added importance following the formal survey because coffee by-products appeared to be a useful innovation for high income farmers as well. However, three changes were made in the ranking of research priorities for high income farmers. First, since the draught power bottleneck was found to be of greater importance for high income farmers than had been previously expected, this area was elevated to second in importance, passing maize variety improvement. Second, improving weeding efficiency was excluded from the list for the same reasons noted for low income farmers. Third, maize storage improvement was added to the list. Prior to the formal survey, this had been considered primarily a problem for low income farmers.

Non-Experimental Variables

Table 7.8 shows that relatively few changes were made in the levels of non-experimental variables between the two surveys. For high income farmers, eight variables remained the same, marginal changes were made for three variables, and important changes were made in two cases. Marginal changes were made in maize variety for main stock, maize variety for early maize and number of weedings. Important adjustments were made in maize and bean plant populations, which had been underestimated. The primary reasons for the underestimate of plant populations were, (1) the importance of these parameters was not given sufficient emphasis, and (2) a haphazard sampling and estimation procedure was used.

For low income farmers, the results obtained in the informal survey were also fairly accurate, compared to the formal survey. Nine variables were unchanged, one was changed marginally and three important changes were made due to the formal survey results. Important changes concerned maize population, bean population, and time of planting. A marginal change was made in the weeding regime. The causes of poor estimates of plant populations were the same for low income farmers as were noted for high income farmers. The cause of the poor estimate of times of planting is unclear, since much emphasis was given to this parameter during the survey. As stated earlier, it is likely that farmers' responses in the formal survey were biased towards planting early.

Experimental Program

Table 7.9 presents experimental programs developed following the informal and formal surveys. The two programs are quite similar but

Table	7.8

Levels of Non-Experimental Variables in Maize/Bean Experiments Based on Informal and Formal Surveys, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981

	High Income	e Farmers	Low Inco	me Farmers
Practice/Operation	Informal Survey	Formal Survey ^a	Informal Survey	Formal Survey ^a
Time of Planting	Five days after rains begin	Same	Two to three weeks after rain begins	Ten days after rain begins
Seed Treatment	None	None	None	None
Method of Land Preparation/Planting	Oxplow, maize in rows, beans broadcast before plowing	Same	Same	Same
Maize Plant Population	15,000	29,700	14,300	24,900
Row Width (cm.)	125	111	130	110
Between Plants (cm.)	40	30	45	40
Bean Plant Density	100,000	160,000	100,000	160,000
Maize Variety for Main Stock	H-511	Local/H-511	Local	Same
Maize Variety for Early Maize	Katumani	Katumani/None	Katumani	Same
Bean Cultivar	Canadian Wonder	Same	Canadian Wonder	Same
Weeding	Two Times; Effective	One to Two Times; Effective	One time; Effective	One to Two Times; Effective
Plant Protection	None	None	None	None
Fertilizer	None	None	None	None
Manure Application	None in Last Year	Same	None in Last Year	Same
Fallow or Rotation	None	None	None	None

^a"Same" means level is same as in informal survey.

Source: Franzel and Njeru, 1981; Informal Survey notes; Survey data.

Table 7.9

List of Proposed Experiments and Demonstrations Formulated After the Informal and Formal Surveys, Middle Kirinyaga, 1981^a

	Informal Survey Experimental Program	Formal Survey Experimental Program
1.	Soil Fertility a. Fertilizer b. Conservation/Use of Manure	<pre>l. Soil Fertility a. Coffee Husks/Fertilizer b. Same</pre>
2.	Ease Draught Power Bottleneck	 Same Ease Drought Power Bottleneck
	a. Dry Planting	a. Same
	 bean cultivar seed treatment deep planting maize 	2. same 3. same
	 b. No-Till L c. Stagger Land Preparation d. Improve Equipment 	b. Same c. Same d. Same
3.	Maize varieties	3. Maize Varieties
	a. Variety x Fertilizer x Plant Population	a. b. Medium-Maturity Composite L c. Dryland Composite L d. Variety x Storage Characteristics
4.	Bean Cultivars	4. Bean Cultivars
	a. Select for Dry Planting	a. Same
	 deep planting temperature tolerance germination drought resistance 	1. same 2. same 3. same 4. same 5. late flowering
		b. High Returns to Planting Cost
5.	Maize Storage Management	5. Maize Storage Management
	a. Storage Demonstration L	a. Same H, L
6.	Other	6. Other
	a. Small Livestock for Manure b. Dutch Hoe c. Maize Spacing on the Square	a. Sunflower Improvement

^a"H" or "L" indicates that an experiment is designed with high or low income farmers in mind. Where no H or L is shown, the experiment is designed for both income groups. However, the experiment is not necessarily the same for each group as non-experimental variables and levels of experimental variables are likely to be different for the two groups (see Chapter 6).

"Same" means experiment after formal survey is the same as that planned in the informal survey.

Source: Franzel and Njeru, 1981, and this thesis.
there are a few important differences. For research on soil fertility, the coffee husks experiment was included in the experimental program following the formal survey.

The program to ease the draught power bottleneck did not undergo any modification based on the formal survey. The maize variety program, on the other hand, underwent substantial modifications. One variety x fertilizer x population experiment planned for both income groups following the informal survey was omitted following the formal survey. Three research proposals were added, two involving a medium maturity composite and an early maturing composite for low income farmers, and a variety x storage aspects trial for all farmers. However, none of these proposals developed out of new information in the formal survey.

The research plans for bean cultivars underwent two important modifications. First, the problem of bean flowers being destroyed by heavy rains was found to be more severe than had been thought during the informal survey. Thus, late flowering became a desired characteristic in bean cultivars and particularly for dry planted ones. Second, high returns to planting costs was recognized as an important criterion for choice of bean variety following the formal survey. Thus, a priority for bean research is to select vigorous, palatable, small seeded varieties to replace Mexican 142. Both additions to the research agenda on beans came about because data collected in the formal survey modified the researchers' understanding of the farming system.

The remaining areas are of relatively low priority. Three research priorities changed significantly from one survey to the next. Two proposed weeding improvements, using a new hoe and spacing maize on the

square to improve oxen weeding, were excluded from the informal survey because low weeding efficiency was not found to be an important enough problem. Similarly, promotion of small livestock for manure and other purposes was also not found to be important.

Maize storage demonstrations were considered important for farmers experiencing problems storing maize in both programs. Some considerations concerning sunflower development are included in the program following the formal survey but do not reflect any new information gained in the formal survey.

In summary, it appears that the contributions of the formal survey to developing an understanding of the farming systems and an experimental program for Middle Kirinyaga were rather marginal, relative to its costs. The formal survey involved approximately four months of the researcher's time and substantial costs in transport, hiring and training of enumerators, computer and hand analysis, paper and photocopying. However, there were relatively few refinements made in the experimental program following the formal survey and, in fact, most of the changes were not due to information gained in the formal survey. Rather, they were due to:

- Incidental refinements and additions which researchers informally discovered, such as the potential of coffee husks. This lends support to conducting a more thorough informal survey, or carrying out more frequent informal surveys in the same area, rather than mounting a formal survey.
- 2. A deliberate acceptance of lower accuracy in some aspects of informal survey method and analysis, likely due to the

fact that the researchers knew that a formal survey would be carried out and thus more precise information would be obtained. The effort to measure plant population reflects this.

It is important to emphasize the danger in over-generalizing from our conclusion that a formal survey was not really worthwhile. Certainly, different methods are appropriate for different sets of circumstances. For example, Middle Kirinyaga has several features which make it relatively easy for researchers to develop an understanding of farming systems without a formal survey. First, the cropping system, composed almost exclusively of maize and beans, is less complex in many senses than cropping systems in other areas. Second, farmers and local officials were exceptionally cooperative. Third, farmers' fields are generally all located at their homestead, making farm visits easier. Fourth, transport and communication is relatively easy within the area.

On the other hand, one can also argue that Middle Kirinyaga has several features which make it more difficult than other areas to study. This lends support to the position that if a formal survey is not useful in Middle Kirinyaga, it will not be useful in most other areas. First, farmers have two cropping seasons per year. This, in effect, doubles the quantity of information needed about cropping practices. Second, two RD's co-exist in the area and it is often difficult to ascertain the relative numbers in each and the characteristics which distinguish them. Third, there appears to be much variation in how certain operations are performed, e.g., land preparation and planting. Furthermore, it should also be noted that the inclusion of the repertory grid and hierarchical decision tree methods in the informal survey made it more effective than it otherwise would have been.

Overall, the data in this section support the hypothesis that the informal survey is an effective and sufficient method for developing an understanding of farming systems and planning experimental programs for farmers. It also suggests that a formal survey may be replaced by (1) a slightly longer and more carefully managed informal survey than would otherwise be mounted, or (2) two or more informal surveys.

CHAPTER 8

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

8.1. Introduction

This study has two types of objectives: methodological and problem-solving. The methodological objectives concern the use of three techniques, the CIMMAYT diagnostic survey, repertory grid (RG) and hierarchical decision modeling (HDM), for analyzing a farming system. The problem-solving objective involves using farming systems research (FSR) methods to plan an adaptive production research program for farmers in Middle Kirinyaga, Kenya.

The methodological objectives are twofold. First, we evaluate the contributions of RG and HDM to the CIMMMYT Diagnostic Survey for collecting and analyzing normative and prescriptive information concerning farmer decisions. RG's have been used primarily by psychologists, and HDM's by anthropologists. Second, we evaluate the quality of information at different stages of the survey sequence in order to assess the utility of two exercises: identification of recommendation domains (RD's) and the formal survey.

The problem-solving objective involves describing farming systems in Middle Kirinyaga, identifying priority research areas, examining farmer decisions related to these areas, and planning a detailed program of experiments to develop improved technologies for farmers. An

agronomist collaborated with the author both in mounting the farmer survey and in planning the research program.

The farming systems perspective is the overall approach used in this thesis. FSR offers an alternative to a conventional yield-oriented perspective, common among physical and biological scientists. FSR researchers view the farm household and its activities as a system of interdependent components and focus on the interaction of these components in their physical, biological, and socioeconomic environment. An understanding of how this system functions serves as a basis for developing recommended improvements. FSR's other principal characteristics are that it (1) is multi-disciplinary, (2) focuses on solving the problems of particular groups of farmers, or RD's, and (3) involves carrying out on-farm experimentation.

The research reported in this thesis is less holistic and comprehensive than was desired due to two practical limitations. First, the size of the team was limited to two researchers due to scarce manpower and finances. Second, policy changes were not considered among the proposed recommendations because we had no formal links with policy researchers or policy-making bodies.

Three general approaches to modeling farmer management strategies are reviewed: (1) multivariate analysis, e.g., multiple regression, (2) behavioral, e.g., linear programming, and (3) cognitive-anthropological e.g., the CIMMYT diagnostic survey. The latter approach was selected for this study. The first two approaches are criticized in Section 2.5-2.6 for oversimplifying the actual decision criteria farmers use. In general, they do not examine the actual reasons for farmers' decisions and test instead whether the outcome of the decision is associated with

particular characteristics or is consistent with selected, behavioral choice criteria. On the other hand, the cognitive anthropological approach attempts to understand the logic underlying farmer decisions and strategies. Informal interviews are the principal method for developing an understanding of the farmers' perspective and reasoning.

The principal data collection method in this thesis is the CIMMYT diagnostic survey. The approach includes the following steps:

 Identification of RD's, based on a review of secondary data, a rapid survey of local agricultural extension agents in Middle Kirinyaga, and informal interviews with persons knowledgeable about the area.

2. An informal survey, in which a multi-disciplinary team of researchers use detailed but essentially unstructured guidelines to interview farmers.

3. A formal survey to verify the results of the informal survey. Hence, a questionnaire is administered to a random sample of farmers by trained enumerators.

4. Planning a set of experiments to develop technologies appropriate for farmers.

In addition, data collection for building RG's and HDM's to model selected farmer decisions was incorporated into the diagnostic survey. During the informal survey, data were collected for constructing preliminary RG's and HDM's, and during the formal survey data were collected to extend the use of models to farmers in the random sample.

The CIMMAYT approach has several important advantages. First, it is characterized by a sequential approach to data collection in which each stage is increasingly focused on more specific priority problems. Moreover, the approach is relatively inexpensive in terms of time and resources. The CIMMYT procedures are by no means a fixed recipe for carrying out FSR; rather they are flexible and evolving.

One important weakness of the procedures is that they provide little systematic direction on how to identify and evaluate normative information, farmers' values and beliefs, and prescriptive information, farmers' decisions. We address this problem by testing the incorporation of the RG and HDM techniques into the diagnostic survey for a more methodical analysis of farmers' values and decisions. RG is used (1) to elicit from farmers the criteria they use in evaluating alternative technologies, and (2) to obtain farmers' evaluations on the performance of each technology. HDM is used to depict the decision process farmers use when considering alternative actions, and to focus interviewing on those criteria and issues important for developing an understanding of selected farmers' decisions. In this thesis, these two techniques are used to develop the researcher's understanding of selected farmer decisions concerning "leverage points", areas of the system where there appear to be opportunities for system improvement and where further information about farmer practices is required.

The second methodological improvement addressed in this thesis concerns the quality of information gathered at different stages of the diagnostic survey sequence. First, we test the effectiveness of the RD-identification exercise in (1) delimiting RD's, and (2) providing preliminary information on farmers in the RD's. The RD-identification exercise involves using a short questionnaire to interview extension workers. These results are evaluated by comparison to the results of the formal survey, which is assumed to accurately represent farmer

circumstances and practices in Middle Kirinyaga. Second, we evaluate the utility of the formal survey by comparing the information and resulting experimental program to those derived from the informal survey results. If the formal survey does not make an important contribution to understanding farmer circumstances and formulating an appropriate experimental program, one can argue that it is superfluous.

8.2. Developing an Adaptive Production Research Program

This section summarizes the results of the farmer survey and outlines the production research program developed for Middle Kirinyaga farmers, satisfying the problem-solving objective of this thesis.

Middle Kirinyaga is characterized by small farms of two to six hectares, flat to mildly sloping terrain, and an adequate transportation network. Rainfall averages about 1,000 mm. per year and is distributed over two brief, somewhat unreliable, seasons.

There are two recommendation domains, or farmer target groups, in Middle Kirinyaga: high income farmers and low income farmers. The two groups of farmers are characterized by different farming systems and hence have somewhat different researchable problems and opportunities. Nearly all of the cultivated land of both groups is under intercropped maize and beans. Low income farmers earn most of their income from the farm, whereas high income farmers derive most of their earnings from off-farm sources. Most farmers use oxen for plowing and plant maize and beans at the same time plowing is done; maize is planted in rows and beans are broadcast. Few if any purchased inputs are used, with the exception of hybrid maize seed which is used by about one-third of the high income farmers. Yields of both maize and beans are extremely low.

Most farmers in both groups keep cattle, mostly Zebu cows, and about one-third of the high income farmers keep exotic-breed cows for a cash dairy enterprise. Farmers of both target groups frequently exhaust their supplies of maize and beans; hence, maintaining adequate food supplies for home consumption is an important problem for most farmers.

The most important constraints limiting farm productivity are lack of cash for purchasing inputs, lack of access to draught power when required, and poor soil fertility. The cash constraint is especially important for low income farmers who may not have cash for even the most basic inputs: purchasing seed and hiring ox-plows. High income farmers may have cash available for investment but they prefer to invest in off-farm enterprises. Access to draught power is also a particularly important constraint for low income farmers. They are often forced to plant late, because they do not own oxen or have the cash necessary for hiring them. Soil fertility and structure is becoming an increasingly important problem for both groups as fields are continuously cropped, twice per year, in maize and beans. Few farmers apply fertilizer or rotate their crops and manure applications are too small to have much effect.

Our proposals for priority research areas focus on the introduction of new technologies and modifications in the system. These must offer the potential to increase productivity and be both acceptable to farmers and feasible for them to adopt. Emphasis is placed on maize and beans, the area's two most important crops. Separate experiments are planned for each income group in instances where their problems differ or where solutions appropriate for one group are not appropriate for the other group.

The two most important research priorities are:

1. Improving soil fertility and structure. The principal activity in this area is an on-farm experimental program to test the effectiveness of readily available coffee husks as manure and to compare them with chemical fertilizer.

2. Reducing the draught power bottleneck. Several means are suggested for accomplishing this objective. First, dry planting must be made more attractive to farmers. A selection program is proposed to select bean cultivars with superior ability to withstand dry planting. Dry planting can also be encouraged by two further steps: treatment of maize and bean seed against ant damage, and deeper planting of maize seeds. Other means of reducing the draught power bottleneck include the development of infrequent and no-tillage systems, especially for low income farmers, and the improvement of oxen efficiency through improved plowing equipment.

Several research priorities of lesser importance also merit attention. Researchers can help low income farmers by selecting a palatable bean variety which gives a high return per cost of seeds per hectare to replace Mexican 142. Research work on maize storage, particularly the relationship between hardness of grain and resistance to weevils among available varieties, can assist breeders in the selection of varieties which store well. Low income farmers would benefit from a mediummaturing maize composite which stores well and out-yields Katumani and Local at relatively low input levels. A 100-day maize composite would be useful to farmers, particularly low income farmers, by providing a small quantity of much needed early maize. Finally, comments are

offered on sunflower production which offers potential for improving the welfare of both high and low income farmers in Middle Kirinyaga.

8.3. Selected Issues in the Evaluation of Methods

8.3.1. Repertory Grid and Hierarchical Decision-Tree Modeling

RG and HDM are both found to be important methods for developing an understanding of farmer decisions concerning practices at leverage points. They are particularly useful for guiding the information. gathering process, assembling data concerning farmer preferences and decisions in a systematic and meaningful fashion and for assisting the researcher in developing an understanding of farmers' reasoning in making their decisions.

RG is useful in identifying the criteria farmers consider in selecting alternative technologies and in obtaining farmers' evaluations of how each technology performs on each criterion. For example, in our informal survey we quickly understood that late planting of maize and beans was an important problem for farmers. As few farmers plant before the rains begin, we decided to use RG to examine the advantages and disadvantages associated with planting maize and beans at different times--before the rains begin, during the first ten days of rainfall and at later times. The resulting grid illustrated the principal hazards that farmers face from planting at each time and the relative importance of each hazard. One of the aims of our production research program, as stated above, was to develop methods of planting before the rains which reduce the risks identified in the RG exercise.

RG's provide an important base for developing an understanding of farmers' decisions. The technique may be used in a wide range of situations, whenever farmers face a choice among alternatives. RG's principal limitation is that, used alone, it is not a sufficient method for explaining either the intentions or actions of farmers.

HDM is useful for assembling a body of information from farmer interviews which provides a complete, internally consistent summary of the determinants of farmer decisions as well as a summary of how decisions are or are not translated into action. The information used in the HDM includes opinions about performance on a particular criterion, tradeoffs between criteria, constraints which farmers face, and chance circumstances they encounter which affect the outcome of their decisions. The decision tree summarizes case studies of each sample farmer in a single figure.

For example, HDM is used in Chapter 5 to examine farmers' decisions on which maize varieties to grow. In the informal survey, it was clear that recommended maize varieties were not widely grown in Middle Kirinyaga. We used the decision trees to help explain the criteria that farmers use to select a maize variety to plant, why the recommended varieties are not grown, and why the traditional variety still predominates. In Chapter 6, we use this information to make recommendations on maize variety research for farmers in Middle Kirinyaga.

HDM is a more powerful tool than RG for assisting the researcher in understanding farmer decisions. However, its use is limited in several important ways. First, alternatives and decision criteria must be discrete. Second, the number of alternatives must be limited and farmers should be knowledgeable about all possible choices. Third, in

some cases, HDN1 is not suitable because farmers may be unable to explain their own reasoning.

RG and HDM are found to be suitable for inclusion in the CIMMYT diagnostic survey in the following manner. In the informal survey, a few farmer decisions concerning leverage points were selected for further examination. Preliminary grids and/or decision trees based on a sample of about ten farmers were then constructed to help develop an understanding of these decisions. Next, the key questions required for building a tree or grid were incorporated into the formal survey. Therefore, grids and HDM's were constructed for a representative sample of farmers.

An important issue concerns whether or not RG and HDM would greatly extend the time required to mount the CIIMIYT diagnostic survey. It must be noted that RG and HDM are primarily techniques for organizing the collection and analysis of information about issues which the informal survey is addressing in any case. Our informal survey involved eight researcher-weeks and we completed three HDM's and four RG's during that period. RG was not found to add significantly to the time spent in the diagnostic survey. HDM does require additional interviewing and analysis time but we feel that the benefits associated with its use outweigh the extra costs.

8.3.2. Quality of Data at Different Stages of the Investigation

The second methodological objective addressed in this thesis was to evaluate the quality of data in both the RD-identification exercise and the informal survey by comparing them with data from the formal survey.

During the initial stages of an investigation, most researchers use secondary data and informal interviews with farmers and others to develop a preliminary understanding of farmers' circumstances, to stratify the sample, and to identify appropriate data collection methods. However, in the research reported in this thesis, the exercise identifying RD's involves administering a brief questionnaire to extension agents and/or local leaders as well as the more conventional methods. The exercise is found to be reasonably effective for the following:

 Tentatively classifying farmers into RD's. Few revisions were made in the RD boundaries following the informal and formal surveys.

2. Developing some preliminary information about farmers in the RD's. We estimated 25 parameters for each income group in the RD identification exercise and later measured these parameters in the formal survey. We then established a system of rating the accuracy of the estimates. Over 30 percent of the estimates in the RD identification exercise were moderately or highly accurate.

The primary sources of inaccuracy concerning low income farmers in the exercise were respondent-based; extension agents and local leaders tended to bias their responses towards "progressive" farmers. In other cases, they simply did not know the answers to certain questions about farmers in their area. In contrast, the sources of inaccuracy concerning high income farmers tended to be researcher-based. For example, on a number of occasions, the researcher made mistakes because he had improperly assessed the characteristics of the high income RD.

Next, the utility of the formal survey was evaluated by comparing its results with those of the informal survey. Many survey approaches place emphasis on formal surveys for providing information; others rely on informal surveys. In our research, the formal survey contributed relatively little to our understanding of farmer practices and constraints developed in the informal survey.

For example, over half of the 36 parameters estimated for each income group in the informal survey were highly accurate; about 90 percent were moderately or highly accurate. Here, the principal source of inaccuracy concerning high income farmers was a bias towards progressive farmers on the part of the researcher. Concerning low income farmers, the greatest source of inaccuracy was overcompensating for a perceived progressive-farmer bias. A careful review of the biases and sources of inaccuracy in the different stages of the survey is likely to contribute to greater accuracy in future exercises.

Furthermore, there were relatively few refinements made in our research priorities and experimental program as a result of new information from the formal survey. Therefore, our findings support the hypothesis that the informal survey is an effective and sufficient method for planning experimental programs for farmers. They also suggest that a formal survey may be replaced by either (1) a slightly longer and more carefully managed informal survey than would otherwise be mounted or (2) additional informal surveys.

8.4. Suggestions for Further Research

There is no single, uniform FSR approach; many different approaches and techniques in data collection and problem definition are currently

being used in FSR programs. This author believes that FSR in general, and the CIMMYT diagnostic survey in particular, provides great potential for focusing the efforts of agricultural researchers towards solving farmers' problems in an efficient manner. Research is needed to measure the effectiveness of this approach and to improve its performance.

8.4.1. Research on Measuring Effectiveness

Although enthusiasm is currently at a high level, FSR's contributions are quite uncertain. FSR must be evaluated by the ultimate contribution of technologies developed in the exercise to improving the welfare of farmers and society as a whole. In this thesis, we discuss FSR's contribution to developing an understanding of farming systems and planning experiments appropriate for farmers in Hiddle Kirinyaga. However, ultimately, FSR evaluations must cover the entire research-extension continuum from describing farmer circumstances through planning experimentation to an evaluation of the adoption of new technologies. Of course, at this early stage in FSR's development there are relatively few examples of technologies being disseminated among farmers which were developed in FSR exercises. As these technologies are developed, research is needed to examine their utility and to review the contribution made by the FSR process. Contributions can best be measured using a "with-without" comparison: comparing the costs and returns of an FSR exercise with the costs and returns to research without an FSR component.

For example, in Middle Kirinyaga five to ten years hence, it may be possible to compare the costs and benefits of our FSR program with those of the conventional research effort. For example, the costs and benefits associated with developing coffee husks for improving soils may

be compared to those of the program to encourage fertilizer use in the absence of the coffee husks programs. In both cases, research and extension costs would be compared with the net benefits associated with the improved technology.

8.4.2. Research on Improving Performance

Several channels are available for improving the performance of FSR and in particular, the CIMMYT diagnostic exercise. First, research on the cost-effectiveness of alternative methods should be pursued. Specifically, researchers should evaluate the quality of information at each stage of their survey, the factors affecting the quality, and the contributions of each stage to developing the experimental program. In particular, research should focus on (1) measuring the effectiveness of the exercise to identify RD's, (2) comparing the results of informal surveys and formal surveys for the same groups of farmers, and (3) assessing the incremental costs and returns associated with frequent-visit, "costroute" surveys. A comparison of different researchers' experiences under different circumstances in using these tools can contribute to evaluating their utility and improving those methods which are found to be most useful.

Second, researchers need to identify and analyze the effectiveness of new techniques in strengthening the CINMYT diagnostic survey, and other similar FSR approaches. Specifically, researchers should evaluate new techniques, such as RG and HDM, for collecting and analyzing information on farmer values and decisions. Research should focus on (1) the versatility of these tools for examining different kinds of decisions and values, (2) the incremental costs and returns of including these

tools, and (3) comparison of their role in informal and formal surveys. By testing these techniques in different sets of circumstances, we can better evaluate the contributions which they may make to FSR.

Third, researchers should broaden the focus of FSR beyond production research. Currently FSR teams generally explore possibilities for developing improved technologies while holding other variables fixed, e.g., price policy, infrastructure, and marketing. At least initially, however, all factors bearing on rural development should be subject to analysis and possible change in an ideal farming systems exercise. Of course, broadening the focus of FSR implies broadening the makeup of the team--for example, policy analysts and rural planners could be included on FSR teams along with production specialists and social scientists.

Furthermore, researchers should give greater emphasis in FSR to those activities not normally associated with production but which do in fact have important bearing on the production process. Some of these activities include the production of household goods and services (e.g., food preparation, gathering water and firewood, etc.) and the demand for and consumption of health, education and other services which compete with agricultural production for household resources. FSR cannot really claim to be comprehensive until it addresses all important issues affecting the production process, not just those concerning production methods.

APPENDICES

.

.

•

APPENDIX A

•

QUESTIONNAIRE FOR IDENTIFYING RECOMMENDATION DOMAINS IN MIDDLE KIRINYAGA

.

APPENDIX A

QUESTIONNAIRE FOR IDENTIFYING RECOMMENDATION DOMAINS IN MIDDLE KIRINYAGA

AREA/RD.	RESPONDENT	AND POST.
PHYSICAL.		
TOPOGRAPHY.		
SOILS.		
RAINFALL.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
SETTLEMENT AND FARM SIZE.		
<u>% NEW SETTLERS AND WHERE.</u>		
	····	
SETTLEMENT PATTERNS.		
TANH JIZL.		
AREA CULTIVATED LONG RAINS.		
AREA CULTIVATED SHORT RAINS	5.	
LAND AVAILABLE FOR RENT OR	PURCHASE.	

CROPS.

<u>F(</u>	DOD CROPS (1, 2, 3).
CA	ASH CROPS (1, 2, 3) AND % GROWING.
 FF	FRTILIZER OR MANURE USE (% AND CROPS).
 ME	THAD OF LAND DEEDADATIAN AND % FACH
<u></u>	
BL	JSIEST MUNIHS.
<u>H1</u>	IRED LABOR (OPERATION/CROP).
<u>CC</u>	DTTON POTENTIAL.
<u>D1</u>	IFFICULTIES.
MAIZE.	
VA	ARIETIES USED (%) IN LONG RAINS.
VA	ARIETIES USED (%) IN SHORT RAINS.
Δ.	/FRAGE MAIZE YIELD, GOOD YEAR (L.R. S.R.)
<u>////</u>	

PURE OR INTERCROPPED.

CATTLE.

% WITH GRADE (NO.).

% WITH ZEBU (NO.).

INCOME.

% WITH MABATI ROOFS.

% GETTING INCOME FROM OUTSIDE.

% HAVING REGULAR JOBS.

% MAN AND WIFE ON FARM.

3 MAJOR CASH SOURCES.

ACCESS OTHER.

APPENDIX B

.

INFORMAL SURVEY GUIDELINES

.

APPENDIX B

INFORMAL SURVEY GUIDELINES

Informal survey guidelines are divided into three parts:

- 1. Initial screening questions for identifying the recommendation domain which the farmer belongs to.
- 2. Guidelines for developing an understanding of the farming system.
- 3. Supplementary sets of questions developed during the informal survey for explaining selected topics concerning leverage points, in greater depth.
- 1. Initial Screening Questions
 - 1.1 Establish area of farm, which people belong to it and whether the titled farm has been subdivided among family members. If the farm has been subdivided, establish whether this is more in name or is actual fact:
 - a) who is responsible for plowing
 - b) who is responsible for weeding
 - c) who controls the output
 - d) does the subdividee and his dependents live/eat with the owner and his dependents?
 - 1.2 Screening questions to ascertain farmers' income group:
 - 1. House type (observe)
 - 2. Did he obtain land through demarcation or did he purchase it?
 - 3. Own cattle? How many? How many grade cattle?
 - 4. Any family members have off-farm employment? Where? What type?
- 2. Guidelines for Developing a Understanding of the Farming System

The guidelines used in this section were adopted from Collinson, (1980, 1982) with some minor modifications. The guidelines were divided into six sections:

- a) Enterprise pattern, output use and system trends.
- b) Enterprise calendar, food preferences and food calendar.
- c) Causes of output variation and main production methods.
- d) Land, labor and cash availability.
- e) Maize and bean husbandry.
- f) Livestock husbandry.

3. Supplementary Guidelines for Exploring Selected Topics

Five sets of supplementary guidelines were developed during the course of the informal survey to explore the following topics:

- a) Maize variety use in the long rains season.
- b) Timing and method of land preparation/planting for maize and beans.
- c) Use of oxen for plowing.
- d) Sunflower husbandry.
- e) Bean cultivar use in the long rains season.

Guidelines for the first two topics are shown below:

- 3.1 Maize variety use in long rains
 - 1. End uses of maize: sales, consumption, feed.
 - 2. Varieties using this season.
 - 3. Source of seed.
 - 4. Year started using each variety.
 - 5. Varieties tried and stopped using in past years
 - 6. Reasons for stopping.
 - 7. Open question pros and cons of each variety they are familiar with (let farmer develop this section when he has finished, go over the points he has omitted, asking if they are important criteria and how the varieties rate on them).
 - a) Yield in a year of sufficient rainfall.
 - b) Yield in a year of low rainfall.
 - c) Which is better to plant, a variety which yields well in a year of sufficient rainfall or one which yields better in a year of low rainfall?
 - d) Profitability. Is return worth extra cost of hybrid seed.
 - e) Pests in field, especially weevils.
 - f) Dogs, rodents, birds eating corn off stalks.
 - g) Storeability without insecticide, with insecticide.
 - h) Storage methods, from harvest to consumption or sale.
 - 8. Do you change the variety you are planting when you see the rains are late? When you realize that you must plant late?
 - 9. Does the fertility of your soil affect your decision on which varieties to plant.
 - 10. Is F₂ of H511 the same as Katumani?
 - 11. Is hybrid seed from the field the same as hybrid seed from the packet?
 - 12. Is there a market for green maize? Have you ever sold green maize? Which variety? Why that one?
 - Several topics were deleted because it quickly became apparent that either (1) they were not important or (2) that there was no significant variation among the alternatives concerning these topics. The topics included:

- 1. Taste in various dishes
- 2. Size of cob
- 3. Seed availability
- 3.2 Timing and method of land preparation/planting for maize and beans (ask questions for planting together or by crop).
 - 1. His time of planting this season.
 - Best time to plant (i.e., if you have your own plow). Ask for maize and for beans. If responses are different, ask when best time is if you are planting them at the same time.
 - 3. Different times of planting you have tried.
 - 4. Open question comparing advantages and disadvantages of alternative planting times (let farmer discuss, afterwords go over points he has not mentioned, ask, if they are important criteria. Rate different times according to each.
 - a. risk of losing seeds to insects
 - b. risk of losing crop if rains start and then stop
 - c. heavy rain, waterlogging
 - d. risk of rains finishing early
 - e. risk of losing bean flowers to heavy rainfall
 - f. risk of not getting plow
 - g. pest problems
 - h. yield, if nothing bad happens
 - At which planting time is the farmer taking the biggest risk, which is the least risky time? Which is safer, dry planting or wet planting? (Safety = least risk of losing a large quantity of your harvest.)
 - 5. Weed problem timing? Quantity?
 - 6. Staggering done? If so, why?
 - 7. Is there a problem of seeds being planted too deeply when dry planted?
 - 8. Problem of seeds being covered by clods of soil when dry planted.
 - 9. Do you own oxen? If no, do you have access to oxen?
 - 10. If you plant late is there a chance of the rain falling before you have completed harvesting?

BIBLIOGRAPHY

.

.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abelson, R.P., 1976. "Script Processing in Attitude Formation and Decision Making" in <u>Cognition and Social Behavior</u>, J.S. Carroll and J.W. Payne, eds. (Hillside, N.J.: Erlbaum).
- Allan, A.Y., 1980. "Early Planting of Maize--Essential For High Yields," Kenya Farmer, Nairobi.
- Baldwin, B., 1977. "An Appraisal of Repertory Grid Methodology in Agricultural Development," (Unpublished Paper) Wye College, London.
- Bannister, D. and J. Mair, 1968. <u>The Evaluation of Personal Constructs</u>, (New York: Academic Press).
- Bartlett, C.D.S. and B.N. Umearokwu, undated. "Manual For Identifying Innovations For Small Farmers." International Institute of Tropical Agriculture, Ibadan, Nigeria.
- Bernsten, R., 1979. "Design and Management of Survey Research: A Guide For Agricultural Researchers," <u>Occasional Paper on</u> <u>Methodologies and Procedures</u> No. 8, (Nairobi, CIMMYT Eastern African Economics Program).
- Brown, L. and J. Cocheme, 1969. "A Study of the Climatology of the Highlands of East Africa." FAO/UNESCO/WMO Project on Agroclimatology.
- Byerlee, D., M. Collinson, et al., 1980. "Planning Technologies Appropriate to Farmers: Concepts and Procedures." International Maize and Wheat Improvement Centre (CIMMYT), Mexico City, Mexico.
- Byerlee, D., L. Harrington and D. Winkelmann, 1982. "Farming Systems Research: Issues in Research Strategy and Technology Design." Paper presented at Annual Meeting of the American Agricultural Economics Association, Logan, Utah.
- Collinson, M., 1980. "The Use of Farming Systems Research for Understanding Small Farmers and Improving Relevancy in Adaptive Experimentation." Paper presented at Second Symposium on Intercropping for Semi-Arid Areas, University of Dar es Salaam, Morogoro, Tanzania.
- Collinson, M., 1981a. "A Low-Cost Approach to Understanding Small Farmers." <u>Agricultural Administration</u>, 8(1981): 433-450.
- Collinson, M., 1981b. "The Exploratory Survey: Content, Methods, and Detailed Guidelines for Discussions With Farmers," <u>Farming</u> Systems Newsletter, No. 5, Nairobi, Kenya.

- Collinson, M., 1982. "Farming Systems Research in Eastern Africa: The Experience of CIMMYT and Some National Agricultural Research Services, 1976-81." <u>Michigan State University International</u> <u>Development Paper</u> No. 3, (East Lansing, Michigan: Department of Agricultural Economics, Michigan State University).
- Crawford, E.W., 1982. "A Simulation Study of the Growth of Small Farms in Northern Nigeria." <u>Michigan State University</u> <u>International Development Paper</u> No. 2, (East Lansing, Michigan: Department of Agricultural Economics, Michigan State University).
- de Janvry, A., 1972. "Optimal Levels of Fertilizer Under Risk: The Potential For Corn and Wheat Fertilizer Under Alternative Price Policies in Argentina," <u>American Journal of Agricultural</u> Economics 54(1): pp. 1-10.
- Eicher, C. and D. Baker, 1982. "Research on Agricultural Development in Sub-Saharan Africa," <u>Michigan State University International</u> <u>Development Paper</u> No. 1, (East Lansing, Michigan: Department of Agricultural Economics, Michigan State University).
- Floyd, B.N., 1977. "Small Scale Agriculture in Trinidad," <u>Occasional</u> <u>Publications</u> No. 10 (Durham: Department of Geography, University of Durham).
- Franzel, S., 1981. "Farmer Target Groups in Middle Kirinyaga." CIMMYT Eastern Africa Economics Program, Nairobi, Kenya.
- Franzel, S. and N. Njeru, 1981. "Informal Survey Report on Two Farmer Recommendation Domains in Middle Kirinyaga," CIMMYT Eastern Economics Program, Nairobi, Kenya.
- Franzel, S. and N. Njeru, 1982. "Planning an Adaptive Production Research Program For Small Farmers: A Case Study of Diagnostic Survey in Middle Kirinyaga, Kenya," CIMMYT Eastern Africa Economics Program, Nairobi, Kenya.
- Gathee, J.W., 1980. "Fitting Research to Farmers' Conditions." Paper Presented to Second Symposium on Intercropping in Semi-Arid Areas, Morogoro, Tanzania.
- Gerhart, J. 1975. "The Diffusion of Hybrid Maize in Western Kenya," (Ph.D. Dissertation, Princeton University).
- Gilbert, E.H., D. Norman, F. Winch, 1980. "Farming Systems Research: A Critical Appraisal," <u>MSU Rural Development Paper</u> No. 6, (East Lansing, Michigan: Department of Agricultural Economics, Michigan State University).
- Gladwin, C.H., 1976. "A View of the Plan Puebla: An Application of Hierarchical Decision Models," <u>American Journal of Agricultural</u> Economics, 58(5): 881-87.

- Gladwin, C.H., 1979. "Cognitive Strategies and Adoption Decisions: A Case Study of Nonadoption of an Agronomic Recommendation," Economic Development and Cultural Change, 28(1): 155-173.
- Gladwin, C.H., 1980. "A Theory of Real Life Choice: Applications to Agricultural Decisions" in <u>Agricultural Decision Making:</u> <u>Anthropological Contributions to Rural Development</u>, P.F. Barlett ed. New York: Academic Press
- Gladwin, H., 1979. "A General Model of Fertility" in "A Natural Decision-Process Model of Fertility." C.H. and H. Gladwin, eds. Project Proposal.
- Gostyla, L. and W.F. Whyte, 1980. "ICTA in Guatamala: The Evolution of a New Model for Agricultural Research and Development." <u>Agricultural Research and Extension Paper</u> No. 3 (Ithaca, N.Y.: Rural Development Committee, Cornell University).
- Government of Kenya, 1970. <u>Atlas of Kenya</u>, (Nairobi: Survey of Kenya).
- Government of Kenya, 1979a. <u>Five-Year Development Plan, 1979-83</u>, Government Printer, Nairobi, Kenya.
- Government of Kenya, 1979b. "Growing Food Beans in Kenya." Grain Legume Program, National Horticultural Research Station, Thika.
- Government of Kenya, 1980. "Report of the Ad Hoc Committee on Maize and Pasture Research" Ministry of Agriculture, Nairobi, Kenya
- Government of Kenya, 1981. Preliminary results of 1979 census, (mimeo).
- Government of Kenya, 1982. "Sessional Paper No. 4 on National Food Policy," Government printer, Nairobi, Kenya.
- Harrington, L., 1980. "Farmer Assessment of Maize Recommendations in Northern Veracruz State, Mexico," (Ph.D. dissertation, Michigan State University).
- Harrison, J.A. and P. Sarre, 1975. "Personal Construct Theory in the Measurement of Environmental Images: Applications," <u>Environment</u> and Behavior 7:3-58.

•

- Haugurud, A., 1979. "Methodological Issues in A Study of Resource Allocation Decisions Among Embu Farmers," <u>Working Paper</u> No. 357 (Nairobi, Kenya: Institute for Development Studies, University of Nairobi).
- Heyer, J., 1972. "An Analysis of Peasant Farm Production Under Conditions of Uncertainty." Journal of Agricultural Economics, 23:135-146.

- Heyer, J. and J.K. Waweru, 1976. "The Development of the Small Farm Areas" in <u>Agricultural Development in Kenya</u>, J. Heyer, J.K. Maitha, and W.M. Senga (eds.), Nairobi, Kenya: Oxford University Press.
- Hildebrand, P., 1981. "Combining Disciplines in Rapid Appraisal: The Sondeo Approach," <u>Agricultural Administration</u> 8(1981): 423-432.
- Hill, P., 1972. <u>Rural Hausa: A Village and Setting</u>, (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press).
- Hudson, R., 1974. "Images of the Retailing Environment: An Example of the Repertory Grid Methodology," <u>Environment and Behavior</u> 6:470-494.
- International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center, 1979. "Demonstrations of an Interdisciplinary Approach to Planning Adaptive Agricultural Research Programs: Report No. 3, Serenje District, Zambia." Eastern Africa Economics Program, Nairobi.
- International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center, Economics Staff, 1981. "Assessing Farmers' Needs in Designing Agricultural Technology." <u>International Agricultural Development Service</u> <u>Occasional Paper</u>, New York.
- Jamieson, B., 1979. "Resource Allocation to Agricultural Research in Kenya from 1963 to 1978," <u>Working Paper</u> No. 345 (Nairobi, Kenya: Institute for Development Studies, University of Nairobi).
- Johnson, G.L., 1961. "Some Reflections on the Nature of Managerial Problems," in <u>Managerial Processes of Midwestern Farmers</u>, Johnson, G.L.; A.N. Halter; H.R. Jensen; and D.W. Thomas; eds. (Ames, Iowa: Iowa State University Press).
- Johnson, G.L., 1981. "Small Farms in a Changing World." Paper presented at Farming Systems Research Symposium, Kansas State University, Manhattan, Kansas.
- Johnson, G.L. and L.K. Zerby, 1973. <u>What Economists Do About Values</u>, Department of Agricultural Economics, Center For Manpower Affairs, East Lansing, Michigan.
- Johnson, G.L., A.N. Halter, H.R. Jensen, and D.W. Thomas, eds., 1961. <u>Managerial Processes of Midwestern Farmers</u>. (Ames, Iowa: The Iowa State University Press).
- Kariungi, F.T., 1977. "Maize Yields in Kenya, 1976." Maize and Produce Board, Nairobi, Kenya.
- Kenya Seed Company, 1979. "Maize Handbook." Kitale, Kenya.

- Kirkby, R.A., 1981. "The Study of Agronomic Practices and Maize Varieties Appropriate to the Circumstances of Small Farmers in Highland Ecuador," (Ph.D. Dissertation, Cornell University).
- Kotler, P., 1980. <u>Marketing Management: Analysis, Planning, and</u> Control (Englewood, New Jersey: Prentice Hall Inc.).
- Lele, Uma, 1975. <u>The Design of Rural Development: Lessons From</u> Africa (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins Press).
- Leonard, D.K., 1977. <u>Reaching the Peasant Farmer: Organization Theory</u> and Practice in Kenya (Chicago: University of Chicago Press).
- Lihanda, F., 1978. "Adaptive Research Planning: A Case Study, Vihiga Division, Kenya." CIMMYT Eastern Africa Economics Program, Nairobi, Kenya.
- Lynch, F., 1976. "Field Data Collection in Developing Countries: Experiences in Asia," <u>Agricultural Development Council Seminar</u> Report No. 10 (New York: Agricultural Development Council).
- Maher, Brendan, 1969. <u>The Selected Papers of George Kelly</u>, Brendan Maher, ed. (New York: Wiley).
- Mann, C., 1977. "Factors Affecting Farmers' Adoption of New Production Technology: Clusters of Practices," paper presented at Fourth Regional Winter Cereals Workshop-Barley, Amman, Jordan.
- Moscardi, E., et al., 1982. "The Establishment of a National On-Farm Research Entity in Ecuador," <u>Economics Working Paper</u> 82/4, (El Batan, Mexico: CIMMYT).
- Norman, D. 1976. "Farming Systems Research in the Context of Mali," Paper on the Workshop on Farming Systems Research in Mali, Institut Economie Rurale and the Food Foundation, Bamako, Mali.
- Norman, D., 1980. "The Farming Systems Approach: Relevancy for the Small Farmer," <u>Michigan State University Rural Development</u> <u>Paper</u> No. 5, (East Lansing, Michigan: Department of Agricultural Economics, Michigan State University).
- O'Mara, G., 1971. "The Microeconomics of Technique Adoption by Smallholder Farmers," unpublished mimeo.
- Petit, M. and E. Dijon, 1980. "Dealing With Risk: A Critical Look at Modelling Approaches," unpublished mimeo.
- "Poor Planning Cited" <u>Daily Nation</u> (Nairobi, Kenya) 13 March, 1982, page 1.
- Qureshi, J.N., 1977. "Current Practices of Organic Recycling by Farmers in Kenya." Paper presented at FAO Workshop on Organic Recycling, Buea, Kenya.
- Ramaratnam, S.S., 1981. "An Overview of the Holistic Farm Management Research and Extension Programs with Emphasis on Past U.S. Farm and Home Programs and Current Farming Systems Research in the Developing Countries." (M.Sc. Thesis, Michigan State University).
- Rogers, et al., 1970. "Diffusion of Innovations in Brazil, Nigeria, and India." <u>Diffusion of Innovations Research Report No. 18</u>, (East Lansing, Michigan, Department of Communication, Michigan State University).
- Roumasset, J., 1974. "Estimating the Risk of Alternative Techniques: Nitrogenous Fertilization of Rice in the Philippines," <u>Review</u> of Marketing and Agricultural Economics, 42(4): 257-294.
- Rukendema, M.; J. Mavua; and P. Audi, 1981. "Farming Systems Report for Lowland Areas of Machakas District," National Drylands Research Station, Katumani, Kenya.
- Schonherr, S. and Mbugua, E.S., 1976. "Bean Production in Kenya's Central and Eastern Provinces," <u>Occasional Paper</u> No. 23 (Nairobi: Institute for Development Studies, University of Nairobi).
- Shaner, W.W.; P.F. Philipp and W.R. Schmehl, 1982. <u>Farming Systems</u> <u>Research and Development: Guidelines for Developing Countries</u> (Boulder, Colorado: Westview Press).
- Shumba, E.M., 1981. "Farming Systems Research at Work in Zimbabwe: Using Diagnostic Survey Results to Plan an Experimental Program," Farming Systems Newsletter, No. 7, Nairobi, Kenya.
- Simon, H., 1969. "A Behavioral Model of Rational Choice," <u>Quarterly</u> Journal of Economics, 69:99-118.
- Slovic, P., B. Fischoff, and S. Lichtenstein, 1977. "Behavioral Decision Theory," <u>Annual Review of Psychology</u>, 28:1-39.
- Technical Advisory Committee, 1978. <u>Farming Systems Research at the</u> <u>International Agricultural Research Centers</u>. Washington: Technical Advisory Committee, Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research.
- Townsend, J.G., 1975. "Perceived Worlds of the Colonists of Tropical Rain Forests, Columbia, (unpublished paper), University of Durham.
- Tversky, A., 1972. "Elimination of Aspects: A Theory of Choice," <u>Psychological Review</u>, 79:281-299.

Upton, M., 1972. <u>Farm Management in Africa</u> (Oxford: Oxford University Press).

- Van Eijnatten, C., 1975. "Report on a Literature Review and Field Study of Agriculture in Kirinyaga District," Technical Communication No. 13 (Nairobi: Department of Crop Science, University of Nairobi).
- Walker, T.S., 1980. "Decision Making By Farmers and By the National Agricultural Research Program on the Adoption and Development of Maize Varieties in El Salvador," (Ph.D. Thesis, Stanford University).
- Wanguru Sunflower Research Station, 1981. "Discussion Paper on Costs and Profits," field day hand-out.
- Whyte, W.F., 1981. "Participatory Approaches to Agricultural Research and Development: A State of the Arts Paper," <u>Agricultural</u> <u>Research and Extension Paper</u> No. 1 (Ithaca, New York: Rural Development Committee, Cornell University).
- Winkelmann, D., 1977. "Promoting the Adoption of New Plant Technology," Technology and Change, 5, 1977.
- Wolgin, J., 1975. "Resource Allocation and Risk: A Case Study of Smallholder Agriculture in Kenya," <u>American Journal of Agricultural</u> <u>Economics</u>, 57:622-630.
- Young, D., et al., 1979. "Risk Preferences of Agricultural Procedures: Their Measurement and Use," in <u>Risk Management in Agriculture:</u> <u>Behavioral, Managerial, and Policy Issues</u>, (Urbana, Illinois: Department of Agricultural Economics, University of Illinois).